

NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF PUBLIC UTILITIES

120 Torbay Road, P.O. Box 21040, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada, A1A 5B2

Hearing Transcript

**Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro
2017 General Rate Application**

July 16, 2018

The Board:

Darlene Whalen, Chair and CEO
Dwanda Newman, Vice-Chair
James Oxford, Commissioner

Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro:

Geoffrey Young, Counsel
Alex Templeton, Counsel

Newfoundland Power Inc.:

Gerard Hayes, Counsel
Liam O'Brien, Counsel

Consumer Advocate:

Dennis Browne, Q.C.
Stephen Fitzgerald, Counsel

Island Industrial Customers

Paul Coxworthy, Counsel
Dean Porter, Counsel

Labrador Interconnected Group*

Senwung Luk, Counsel

Iron Ore Company of Canada*

Benoit Pepin, Counsel

Board Counsel/Staff:

Jacqueline Glynn, Board Counsel
Maureen Greene, Q.C., Hearing Counsel
Sara Kean, Assistant Board Secretary

Witness/Witnesses

Ms. Jennifer Williams, Vice-President of
Production, Hydro

Mr. Ron LeBlanc, Vice-President of
Transmission, Distribution & the NLSO,
Hydro

Mr. Terry Gardiner, Vice-President of
Engineering Services, Hydro

*Note – These two parties will not be in attendance every day

<p style="text-align: right;">Page 1</p> <p>1 (9:15 a.m.) 2 CHAIR: 3 Q. Good morning, everybody. Welcome back. I 4 don't have any opening remarks or anything 5 to make at this stage, but I'll go to Ms. 6 Glynn, I guess, to see if there's anything 7 we need to get on the record. 8 MS. GLYNN: 9 Q. Absolutely. I'm very pleased to say that we 10 have reached a supplemental settlement 11 agreement, which Ms. Greene, as Board 12 Hearing Counsel, is going to speak to. 13 GREENE, Q.C.: 14 Q. Good morning, Chair, Commissioners and 15 parties. As Ms. Glynn just mentioned, 16 recently the parties have reached a second 17 supplemental agreement for the Island 18 Interconnected issues. Labrador issues are 19 not covered by this particular agreement. 20 So we're very happy to report we have 21 reached an agreement, so all the parties are 22 happy, particularly Hydro, and particularly 23 the panel won't have to be cross-examined on 24 some of the issues, but Ms. Glynn asked me 25 just give a very high overview of the</p>	<p style="text-align: right;">Page 3</p> <p>1 wholesale rate has been agreed to, which is 2 in Section 9 of the agreement, as has the 3 continuation of a generation credit and a 4 curtailable credit for Newfoundland Power, 5 and what the amount of the generation credit 6 will be. 7 The next item settled was with respect 8 to the deferred supply costs, and there has 9 been agreement reached with respect to the 10 credit for Newfoundland Power with the 11 balance in the isolated system deferral 12 account, and for the other account, the 13 energy supply cost variance and the Holyrood 14 conversion rate deferral account, it has 15 been agreed how the balance, when it is 16 approved by the Board, will be allocated, so 17 the amount of the balance is still an issue 18 to be determined by the Board for both of 19 those accounts, but the method of how that 20 balance will be allocated is agreed to. 21 With respect to the basis of Hydro's 22 Application, Sections 14 to 19 set out the 23 agreement with respect to the expected 24 supply scenario. Hydro has agreed that the 25 expected supply scenario, which was the</p>
<p style="text-align: right;">Page 2</p> <p>1 issues. 2 Copies of the agreement have now been 3 signed by all of the parties, and the 4 Commissioners and the parties have been 5 provided with a copy of the signed 6 agreement. 7 So first with respect to what has been 8 agreed, as I already mentioned, this 9 agreement covers the Island Interconnected 10 System only, and there are some issues with 11 respect to rural rates which would apply for 12 Labrador as well. 13 The first area where agreement was 14 reached was with respect to the cost of 15 service methodology. All cost of service 16 methodology issues have now been agreed to 17 by the parties, and that's set out in 18 Section 7 of the settlement agreement. As 19 well, the pilot agreement with Corner Brook 20 Pulp and Paper Limited has agreed to be 21 extended, and, of course, like all the cost 22 of service issues, this will be reviewed 23 again in the cost of service methodology 24 review hearing when that is held in 2019. 25 The design of the Newfoundland Power</p>	<p style="text-align: right;">Page 4</p> <p>1 subject of additional information and cost 2 of service information filed March 22nd, 3 2018, will be the basis for their 4 application and not the deferral account 5 scenario, which had been their original 6 proposal. So the cost of service 7 methodology with respect to the expected 8 supply scenario has also been agreed to, and 9 that particular agreement is listed out in 10 Sections 14 to 19. 11 The next section of the agreement deals 12 with the 2018 revenue deficiency or excess, 13 and it has been agreed that whatever the 14 Board agrees and sets as the final 2018 15 revenue requirement, how the deficiency or 16 any excess would be allocated and dealt 17 with. 18 Section 22 deals with capacity 19 assistance agreements and this reflects the 20 fact that since the original filing by 21 Hydro, Hydro has not renewed three of these 22 capacity assistance agreements, which will 23 result in a reduction of \$600,000.00 24 approximately in the revenue requirement 25 based on what they have filed.</p>

Page 5

1 The last general section provides that
 2 because all of the cost of service issues
 3 have been settled, it will not be necessary
 4 for the parties to call their individual
 5 expert with respect to those issues, and, of
 6 course, the settlement agreement only covers
 7 the issues that are specifically addressed
 8 in the agreement, it does not affect the
 9 rights of the parties with respect to those
 10 issues in any future proceeding, nor does it
 11 affect any other matters having been
 12 settled.

13 So that's a very high level summary of
 14 the agreement, and I understand that Mr.
 15 Young from Hydro wishes to also speak very
 16 briefly to the implications of the
 17 settlement agreement.

18 MR. YOUNG:
 19 Q. Thank you, Ms. Greene. Madam Chair, Hydro
 20 is very pleased and is very grateful for the
 21 parties and their cooperation in reaching
 22 the second settlement agreement. Settlement
 23 agreements and GRAs are always a good thing
 24 for regulatory efficiency. They're
 25 particularly sweet in the summertime, may

Page 6

1 shorten the hearing.
 2 There is, obviously, more information
 3 to come in order for this to be properly
 4 addressed to the Board. So Hydro is
 5 proposing and intends to file, hopefully by
 6 the end of this week, some additional
 7 evidence indicating the rate impacts flowing
 8 out of this and the changed cost of service
 9 issues from it and the expected supply
 10 scenario methodology that's going to be used
 11 for that. The intent is to follow-up by the
 12 end of this week for sure because I think
 13 it's important that that information is
 14 available to the parties and the Board
 15 before Mr. Fagan takes the stand to explain
 16 any questions or answers to any questions
 17 that may arise from it.

18 CHAIR:
 19 Q. Thank you. Does anyone else have any
 20 comments they wish to make?
 21 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 22 Q. Yes. Just for the record, we're all aware
 23 of the issues pertaining to the Board's
 24 jurisdiction in reference to much of what's
 25 transpiring here because under Section 4.1

Page 7

1 of the Public Utilities Act, there's a
 2 mechanism whereby the Public Utilities
 3 Board's jurisdiction can be restricted by
 4 orders of the Lieutenant Governor in
 5 Council. There are orders in existence here
 6 pertaining to a lot of these matters. We've
 7 raised this issue initially by way of a
 8 preliminary motion and the Board has
 9 deferred a ruling on that until such time as
 10 additional evidence is called. So within
 11 that context, we've signed the settlement
 12 agreement. Thank you.

13 CHAIR:
 14 Q. Thank you, Mr. Browne. Certainly on behalf
 15 of the Board and the panel, we extend our
 16 appreciation to the parties, their counsel,
 17 and experts as well, in arriving at the
 18 supplemental settlement agreements. It's,
 19 as Mr. Young alluded to, in the interest of
 20 regulatory efficiency and the pending month
 21 of August replaced. Thank you. Hydro, are
 22 you ready to present your witness – witness
 23 panel, I should say.

24 MR. TEMPLETON:
 25 Q. Thank you, Madam Chair. This morning Hydro

Page 8

1 is prepared to proceed with its next series
 2 of witnesses, the technical panel. So just
 3 by way of direct, I'd just ask each of the
 4 panel members to state their full name for
 5 the record and their positions with Hydro,
 6 perhaps starting, Ms. Williams, with you.

7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. Sure. Jennifer Williams, and my role is VP
 9 Production.

10 MR. LEBLANC:
 11 A. Ron LeBlanc, Vice President, Transmission
 12 Distribution and the NLSO.

13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. Terry Gardiner. I'm the VP for Engineering
 15 Services for Hydro.

16 CHAIR:
 17 Q. Okay. I guess, we'll swear the witnesses
 18 first, and then I'll turn it back to you.

19 MR. TEMPLETON:
 20 Q. Yes, that's fine, and my understanding,
 21 Madam Chair, is that Ms. Williams and Mr.
 22 Gardiner would prefer to swear oaths, and
 23 Mr. LeBlanc an affirmation.

24 CHAIR:
 25 Q. Okay, we'll start with you, Mr. Gardiner.

Page 9

1 Put the Bible in your right hand, please.
 2 Mr. Gardiner, do you swear that the evidence
 3 to be given by you shall be the truth, the
 4 whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so
 5 help you God?
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. I do.
 8 CHAIR:
 9 Q. Mr. LeBlanc, do you affirm that the evidence
 10 to be given by you shall be the truth, the
 11 whole truth, and nothing but the truth?
 12 MR. LEBLANC:
 13 A. I do.
 14 CHAIR:
 15 Q. And Ms. Williams, do you swear that the
 16 evidence to be given by you shall be the
 17 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
 18 truth so help you God?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. I do.
 21 CHAIR:
 22 Q. Thank you very much, panel. Back to you,
 23 Mr. Templeton.
 24 MR. TERRY GARDINER (SWORN)
 25 MR. RON LEBLANC (AFFIRMED)

Page 10

1 MS. JENNIFER WILLIAMS (SWORN)
 2 EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. TEMPLETON:
 3 Q. Ms. Williams, perhaps we can start with you.
 4 Can you just briefly profile for us your
 5 credentials and your work history leading to
 6 your current position with Hydro?
 7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. Sure. I graduated with a Degree in Civil
 9 Engineering from MUN in 1998. I commenced
 10 work with Newfoundland Power just right out
 11 of school, starting with Rose Blanche small
 12 hydro plant on the south west coast of
 13 Newfoundland construction.
 14 After that was completed, I had some
 15 other civil engineering type work there, dam
 16 safety, other projects, and then moved into
 17 the distribution side of the company, the
 18 poles and the wires. For example, I was
 19 involved in various insulator projects,
 20 Water Street underground projects. So I was
 21 working out of the regional office.
 22 Then I moved into the superintendent of
 23 that role, and, I guess, the people that
 24 were looking after those facilities. That
 25 included responsibility for the St. John's

Page 11

1 area, as well as out as far as Clarenville
 2 for a period of time.
 3 I was then moved laterally to the
 4 position of Superintendent Generation, and
 5 that looked after the various hydro plants
 6 that Newfoundland Power has, as well as
 7 their diesel and gas turbines that they
 8 have.
 9 In 2011, I took a position with the St.
 10 John's International Airport Authority.
 11 They were, as everyone probably saw in the
 12 media recently, undertaking and have now
 13 taken the first phase of major construction.
 14 So for a civil engineer, that was very
 15 interesting, so I went over there for a few
 16 years and supervised technical and trade
 17 staff, and in the management of the
 18 facilities that they have.
 19 After a few years there, I took a
 20 position at Hydro as the Manager of
 21 Regulatory Engineering, and the role there
 22 was to be really a technical liaison between
 23 the Board and with Hydro, so would look
 24 after the capital budget submittal and
 25 creation. I did have a fair bit of

Page 12

1 involvement in the Prudence Review that
 2 commenced after the outages of 2013 and
 3 2014, and certainly the outage in 2015.
 4 In 2016, I was promoted into the role
 5 of General Manager for Hydraulic Plants,
 6 and, obviously, that includes Baie d'Espoir,
 7 Cat Arm, Hynes Lake, all those type
 8 facilities.
 9 Then shortly after that, moved into the
 10 role of VP Production. So in addition to
 11 the hydraulic plants, then had to take on
 12 the responsibility as well of the thermal
 13 facilities, so Holyrood, the gas turbines,
 14 also responsible for resource and production
 15 planning, which is adequacy of supply on the
 16 island and economic purchases that we're
 17 currently undertaking, those sorts of
 18 aspects. So that brings you up to date.
 19 MR. TEMPLETON:
 20 Q. Thank you very much. Mr. LeBlanc, can you
 21 similarly profile your work experience and
 22 your credentials for the record?
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. Okay. I received by Bachelor of Electrical
 25 Engineering, 1987, from Technical University

Page 13

1 of Nova Scotia, now Dalhousie. It doesn't
 2 exist any more. After graduation, I started
 3 with Nova Scotia Power and it initially
 4 started there – they have an EIT Program,
 5 you spend your first two years just working
 6 a couple of months in every department, and
 7 then my first position after that was a
 8 distribution development engineer, so for
 9 distribution planning, load flows,
 10 distribution studies.
 11 Then in 1990, I moved to PEI and
 12 obtained a position with Maritime Electric as a
 13 staff engineer in the engineering department.
 14 Over the next ten years up to 2000, I worked in
 15 various roles within the engineering department,
 16 becoming Supervisor of Distribution Engineering,
 17 and Supervisor of Transmission and Distribution,
 18 and also in that time frame, I did - as Maritime
 19 Electric is owned by Fortis, we had obtained some
 20 hydro electric plants in upstate New York, and I
 21 was tasked with managing them while working at
 22 Maritime Electric. So I sort of had 50 percent
 23 in each role.
 24 Then in 2000, with the open access in
 25 getting into the new world of things and

Page 14

1 deregulation, I was moved into the energy control
 2 centre at Maritime Electric to prepare Maritime
 3 Electric for open access. So in that position,
 4 it was getting our energy control centre ready
 5 for interactions, tagging, and scheduling energy
 6 across the interface with New Brunswick.
 7 Then after several years, that was expanded
 8 to include the production facilities, so their
 9 thermal and diesel generation.
 10 Then there was the development of our open
 11 access transmission tariff, so I was instrumental
 12 in that. Then my final project before leaving
 13 was to expand our interconnection with New
 14 Brunswick Power with the addition of two
 15 additional submarine cables joining the two
 16 systems.
 17 Then in April of last year, I moved to
 18 Newfoundland and took on the role that I'm
 19 currently in, Vice President of T & D, and NLSO
 20 or the Newfoundland and Labrador System Operator.
 21 In that, I'm responsible for the NLSO, which
 22 includes the energy control centre, transmission
 23 tariff, integrating with the North American grid,
 24 and on the T & D side, it's the wires aspect of
 25 the business, including terminal stations. This

Page 15

1 brings me up to date.
 2 MR. TEMPLETON:
 3 Q. Thank you very much, Mr. LeBlanc. Mr.
 4 Gardiner, if you could similarly –
 5 MR. LEBLANC:
 6 A. Yes, Mr. Templeton, thank you very much. I
 7 graduated MUN Engineering in 1987 with a
 8 Civil Engineering Degree, and at that time
 9 in June, I joined as a transmission design
 10 engineer in the transmission group with
 11 Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro. I was
 12 trained as a transmission engineer. We were
 13 responsible for building transmission lines
 14 and providing engineering support around
 15 transmission and distribution to Hydro.
 16 In 2009, I was fortunate enough, I was
 17 appointed Manager of the group in T & D.
 18 Similar responsibilities, but a broader
 19 scope in terms of we looked at not only
 20 distribution and the standards that we had
 21 to do.
 22 In 2013, we formed - the engineering
 23 services group and became project execution
 24 and technical services, and I took on a
 25 broader role, an expanded role, as I became

Page 16

1 Manager of Engineering and Project Services
 2 during that time. So I was responsible for
 3 the technical engineering that was being
 4 provided to Hydro, and all the project
 5 services, such as drafting surveys, lands,
 6 at that time.
 7 In March of 2016, I was fortunate
 8 enough to be appointed Vice President of
 9 Transmission. As part of Hydro's new
 10 mandate, there was a President that was
 11 appointed in 2015 in November, and as part
 12 of that executive team in March of 2016, I
 13 was appointed Vice President of
 14 Transmission.
 15 In April of that same year, there was a
 16 new CEO that came, and there was a mandate
 17 at that time to separate the regulated
 18 versus the non-regulated assets of Hydro,
 19 and there was a new President in June
 20 appointed. That was Mr. Haynes, which I
 21 believe has already testified here today,
 22 and as part of that executive team that Mr.
 23 Haynes put together, I accepted the position
 24 of Engineering Vice President, which is the
 25 role that I hold today in Hydro, and the

Page 17

1 executive team did a search and was
 2 fortunate enough to have Mr. LeBlanc come on
 3 board as T & D NLSO Vice President. So that
 4 brings me up to date as to my role today as
 5 Vice President of Engineering Services
 6 within Hydro. Thank you.
 7 (9:30 a.m.)
 8 MR. TEMPLETON:
 9 Q. Thank you very much. Panelists and Madam
 10 Chair, that concludes our introduction of
 11 these witnesses by way of direct-
 12 examination, and we relinquish to our
 13 learned friends.
 14 CHAIR:
 15 Q. Thank you. Mr. Browne.
 16 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY BROWNE, Q.C.:
 17 Q. Thank you, Madam Chair. Good morning, folks.
 18 I just want to follow up just a little bit
 19 in terms of Mr. Templeton’s introduction on
 20 some of your roles, that sort of thing, to
 21 get some background. I wonder if we could
 22 bring up Exhibit 2, Volume 2, of the
 23 evidence. That’s the organizational
 24 responsibility chart. If we could go to
 25 Schedule 1, Page 1, of that, I think. We

Page 18

1 see all of your positions on this larger
 2 page here. Ms. Williams, you’re VP of
 3 Production and you’ve been in that position
 4 since 2016?
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. Correct, fall of 2016.
 7 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 8 Q. Fall of 2016, okay, and you report directly
 9 to the President of Hydro?
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Yes.
 12 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 13 Q. I wonder, and I understand there may have
 14 been some organizational changes within
 15 Hydro since we were here last in April. Are
 16 you aware of anything like that? Have there
 17 been any organizational changes within your
 18 department?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. Not within my group.
 21 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 22 Q. Okay. Any changes in terms of instructions
 23 or measures put in place for cost savings,
 24 that kind of thing, since April that you
 25 know of?

Page 19

1 MS. WILLIAMS:
 2 A. Nothing that we wouldn’t have already been
 3 proceeding with.
 4 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 5 Q. All right. So right now your duties and
 6 functional areas haven’t changed since
 7 April?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. No.
 10 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 11 Q. Okay. So you have three direct reports. I
 12 wonder if we could – so they’re thermal GM,
 13 hydraulic GM. That’s the next page, I
 14 believe. Is that right?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. Correct.
 17 MR. O’BRIEN:
 18 Q. Okay. And each one of those have a number
 19 of direct reports and there’s been no
 20 changes along that lines in your
 21 organization since April?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. I mean, we have positions filled at various
 24 levels, but no, no material change, no.
 25 MR. O’BRIEN:

Page 20

1 Q. Okay. I understand that you are able to
 2 speak to generation and production costs
 3 today?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. Correct.
 6 MR. O’BRIEN:
 7 Q. Okay. And are you ultimately responsible
 8 for managing those types of costs in the
 9 organization?
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Correct.
 12 MR. O’BRIEN:
 13 Q. Okay. And does that include operating and
 14 capital costs?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. We would certainly have accountability for
 17 operating and with regards to capital, the
 18 group, the people within my teams would
 19 identify the capital and work with Mr.
 20 Gardiner’s team to include it in the capital
 21 budget and most of the time, Mr. Gardiner’s
 22 group would execute the capital, but it
 23 would certainly have significant involvement
 24 from people in the production group.
 25 MR. O’BRIEN:

Page 21

1 Q. So, for the operating costs, say for the
 2 test years, 2018-2019 test years, would you
 3 have been involved in preparing those costs?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. Correct, yes.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. And if we go back to page one again there,
 8 just want to – with respect to Mr. LeBlanc,
 9 so you're their VP Transmission,
 10 Distribution and NLSO?
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. That's correct.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. And if we go to page nine of this document,
 15 we'll see your area. Yeah, okay. So,
 16 you've got four direct reports? Is that
 17 right?
 18 MR. LEBLANC:
 19 A. That's correct.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Okay. Has there been any change in terms of
 22 – since April, in terms of your departments,
 23 any major changes that happened since April?
 24 MR. LEBLANC:
 25 A. No, there haven't.

Page 22

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Okay. And you report directly to the
 3 president of Hydro as well?
 4 MR. LEBLANC:
 5 A. That's correct.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. And I wonder if you could give us an
 8 overview of your duties and your role, just
 9 briefly?
 10 MR. LEBLANC:
 11 A. The areas under me are T&D, which is the
 12 wires portion division of the business which
 13 also includes the terminal stations. So,
 14 again, we look after the O&M of the
 15 transmission, distribution system, as well
 16 as the terminal station, so the maintenance,
 17 the repair, the inspections, just make sure
 18 it is fully functional. Then with the NLSO,
 19 which is similar to what the Energy Control
 20 Centre was, but we've expanded the role to
 21 become the system operator for all of the
 22 province. As well as we are now responsible
 23 to look after the interconnections with our
 24 neighbouring provinces, Nova Scotia and
 25 Hydro Quebec that will come, and any

Page 23

1 transactions that happen between those two
 2 juris – those jurisdictions.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. And in terms of your involvement personally,
 5 do you focus more on one – on transmission
 6 and distribution or more on the NLSO?
 7 MR. LEBLANC:
 8 A. Probably the last year – I've only been here
 9 a year, so it's been my main focus was more
 10 on the NLSO with the coming of the Maritime
 11 Link and the Labrador Island Link.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Okay. And so, in terms of transmission and
 14 distribution, you would rely more – or you
 15 have relied heavily on your general
 16 managers, I take it?
 17 MR. LEBLANC:
 18 A. That's correct.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Okay. And are you able to speak to costs in
 21 each of those divisions for transmission,
 22 distribution and NLSO?
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. Yes.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 24

1 Q. And would you have sponsored those costs for
 2 the 2018 and 2019 test year or been involved
 3 in preparing them, I should ask?
 4 MR. LEBLANC:
 5 A. No. Those costs were prepared before I
 6 joined Hydro.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Can you tell me who prepared those?
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. No, I can't.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Can you give me an undertaking to look into
 13 that?
 14 MR. LEBLANC:
 15 A. I'm assuming – yes.
 16 (9:37 a.m.)
 17 MS. GLYNN:
 18 Q. We'll note that on the record. Thank you.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And if we could go back to page one of this
 21 document? Okay. Mr. Gardiner, you're here
 22 Vice President of Engineering Services and
 23 you're there in that position since when?
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Since August of '16.

Page 25	Page 27
<p>1 MR. O'BRIEN: 2 Q. Since August, was it? Okay. 3 MR. GARDINER: 4 A. Yeah, that's when I was appointed vice 5 president of engineering services. 6 MR. O'BRIEN: 7 Q. And between August of 2016 and when Mr. 8 LeBlanc came, which was in 2017, is that 9 right, Mr. LeBlanc? 10 MR. LEBLANC: 11 A. Yes. 12 MR. GARDINER: 13 A. Yes, that's right. 14 MR. O'BRIEN: 15 Q. So, between that period, who was responsible 16 for transition – sorry, transmission and - 17 MR. GARDINER: 18 A. I was. Mr. Haynes asked me to fill both 19 roles. 20 MR. O'BRIEN: 21 Q. Okay. 22 MR. GARDINER: 23 A. And between myself and Mr. Haynes, we did 24 that, yes. 25 MR. O'BRIEN:</p>	<p>1 you tell me, since April, has there been any 2 major changes in your – in Engineering 3 Services that we should know about? 4 MR. GARDINER: 5 A. When you say April, do you mean since the 6 last rate hearing? Is that what you mean? 7 MR. O'BRIEN: 8 Q. Yeah, since we were here in April. I'm 9 wondering if there's been any changes. 10 MR. GARDINER: 11 A. No, there has not been. 12 MR. O'BRIEN: 13 Q. Do you know of any changes, major changes 14 since the rate case was filed in Engineering 15 Services? 16 MR. GARDINER: 17 A. No, there has not been. That sheet is 18 accurate as it was filed in the evidence. 19 MR. O'BRIEN: 20 Q. Okay. I want to just ask each of you sort 21 of some comments about the budgeting process 22 and your involvement with that. Ms. Dalley 23 talked about some guidelines and we have 24 some budget guidelines that are on the 25 record. Are you each involved in setting</p>
<p>Page 26</p> <p>1 Q. Maybe you can answer the undertaking. Would 2 you have been – would you have prepared the 3 2018 and 2019 test year costs for that 4 department? 5 MR. GARDINER: 6 A. It would have been – the test year costs 7 would have followed the budget instructions, 8 through the normal process, and I would have 9 seen them, but we'll get an undertaking to 10 tell you exactly how they were prepared, 11 absolutely. 12 MR. O'BRIEN: 13 Q. And are you able to speak to the costs in 14 your department? 15 MR. GARDINER: 16 A. I am. Yes, I am, absolutely. 17 MR. O'BRIEN: 18 Q. And so, I wonder if we could go to page 19 19 here? Okay. So, that's an overview of 20 Engineering Services. 21 MR. GARDINER: 22 A. That's correct. 23 MR. O'BRIEN: 24 Q. Or part of it anyway, I guess, because we've 25 got some more on the bottom there. But can</p>	<p>Page 28</p> <p>1 the annual budgets for your departments? 2 MS. WILLIAMS: 3 A. Yes. 4 MR. GARDINER: 5 A. Yes. 6 MR. O'BRIEN: 7 Q. And Mr. LeBlanc, yes? 8 MR. LEBLANC: 9 A. Yes. 10 MR. O'BRIEN: 11 Q. Okay. And so there's – we've seen on the 12 record there's budget guidelines, written 13 budget guidelines. Are those what you 14 follow when you prepare your budgets? 15 MS. WILLIAMS: 16 A. Yes. 17 MR. LEBLANC: 18 A. Yes. 19 MR. GARDINER: 20 A. Yes. 21 MR. O'BRIEN: 22 Q. Okay. And are you given any different 23 instructions or verbal instructions when 24 preparing budgets? How does that process 25 go? Do you – is it just you're given the</p>

Page 29

1 written instructions or do you have meetings
 2 to prepare with verbal instructions as to
 3 how to prepare your budgets?
 4 MR. GARDINER:
 5 A. Yes, we do, we follow the budget guidelines.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Yeah.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. And you know, we continue to look at our
 10 structure, that it's right, and then I know
 11 from – during the budgeting process, we
 12 would get together as an executive team and
 13 review the budgets to ensure that they were
 14 the right budgets.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. And for say 2016, were any of you involved
 17 in preparing budgets for your present
 18 positions, I guess, for the 2016 budget?
 19 None of you were in your roles -
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. No.
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. No.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. No.

Page 30

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. - in 2016, so I presume nobody was involved
 3 in preparing those budgets.
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. Not for the 2016 budget.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. Not the 2016.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Okay. So, when you came into your role, Ms.
 10 Williams, the 2016 budget had already been
 11 prepared?
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Correct.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. And same for you, Mr. Gardiner?
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. Yeah, and overall.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. And in fact, when you came into your role,
 20 Mr. LeBlanc, the 2017 budget would have been
 21 prepared already?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. That's correct.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Okay. And say for the 2016 budget, when you

Page 31

1 came into your roles in 2016, would you have
 2 been responsible for managing that budget
 3 that was already in place?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. Correct.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. Yes, that's correct.
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. Not applicable.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And not you, Mr. LeBlanc?
 12 MR. LEBLANC:
 13 A. No.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. So, in 2016, we've heard some evidence and
 16 there's been evidence filed about some
 17 targeted reductions and some focus on some
 18 targeted reductions in 2016. When you came
 19 into your role, Ms. Williams, did you
 20 receive any instruction as to what sorts of
 21 reductions you were to focus on when
 22 managing?
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. So, I was in the role later in 2016, but
 25 certainly was aware in the company what was

Page 32

1 trying to be accomplished with regards to
 2 the cost control and I believe PUB-NLH-54
 3 describes, you know, what was – why we
 4 underwent the cost challenge of 2016 and why
 5 we felt it couldn't be sustained and if you
 6 – so, when I came in in say the fall, it was
 7 well underway, you know, what was being
 8 achieved and we were heavy into the
 9 maintenance season where a lot of the
 10 decision making would have been already
 11 completed on what was going to be done
 12 before the end of the year. So, it was
 13 really about that time, getting – completing
 14 it, certainly in the generation, the
 15 production, sorry, the hydraulic group. So,
 16 I think the direction at that time that I
 17 would have received was, you know, kind of
 18 keep going with the work that had been done.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And who would have given you that direction?
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. Well, we would be attending monthly meetings
 23 to, you know, review the costs and you would
 24 be hearing that same message in our monthly
 25 meetings.

Page 33

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Okay. And you mentioned PUB-54. I wonder
 3 if we could bring that up, Attachment 1. We
 4 mentioned there's a number of reductions
 5 that were talked about in PUB-54. Now,
 6 there's a document here that's been filed
 7 that shows some variance between targeted
 8 reductions and actual reductions. Is that a
 9 document you saw back in 2016 or 2017? Have
 10 you seen this document before?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. I would have seen, you know, variations of
 13 it because obviously this was prepared in
 14 this exact format for this process, but you
 15 know, variations of it would have been
 16 presented throughout the year.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. So, when you came into your position say,
 19 would you have seen a document that showed
 20 you what the targeted reduction was in each
 21 of the operating cost areas?
 22 (9:45 a.m.)
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. I think we would have had some sense of what
 25 the targeted reductions were and – but the

Page 34

1 targeted reductions intended sometimes
 2 materialize and sometimes we find the
 3 savings elsewhere as you go through the
 4 year.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. And we do see that there's a variance
 7 between target and actual. So, I'm
 8 wondering was it a – did you see something
 9 like this on a monthly basis?
 10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. We did.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Going forward to see where you are -
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. We did.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. - in line with – you did?
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. We did.
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. Yeah.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Okay. Just to see where you were in line
 24 with what's targeted versus what's actually
 25 being reduced?

Page 35

1 MS. WILLIAMS:
 2 A. Yeah.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. I think that each month we would get
 5 together and we would talk about the cost
 6 challenge, as we called it, and we would
 7 review each of the groups and those meetings
 8 continue today. And if you go back – I say
 9 up, but down, just scroll to the answer.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Scroll up to 54.
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. Yeah, thank you. I think that it's
 14 important that some of the things that we
 15 did do and you know, you'll see – we'll talk
 16 about it later is -- if we could go up to
 17 the verbiage please, Caryn?
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Sure, yeah.
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. We talked about mandatory training only. We
 22 talked about conferences and related work.
 23 Non-critical work was put on hold. We
 24 talked about reducing travel to a very
 25 minimum. We talked about, you know,

Page 36

1 reducing costs in all possible areas. We
 2 had aggressive management of all hiring to
 3 the point that we probably didn't hire in
 4 '16 some of the positions that we should
 5 have. I think that it's important that – I
 6 was here in '15 as a manager and into '16 as
 7 a manager – that we filed our budget in '15
 8 and I believe in '15, subject to check, I
 9 believe we had 154 million dollars and I
 10 think that it became very obvious that we
 11 needed to step back and aggressively manage
 12 the budget and the response to that in '16
 13 is that we did these things. We probably
 14 went a bit too far. As Ms. Dalley said in
 15 her testimony, the pendulum probably swung
 16 too far and we believe that going forward in
 17 '18 and '19 that we do have the costs that
 18 we should have to run the business. So, it
 19 was a result of, you know, focus. Regular
 20 meetings were held at the senior levels with
 21 all parties involved to ensure, you know,
 22 that we met this 2016 cost reduction target.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. So, in those 2016 meetings, were you told
 25 that these cost reductions that were

Page 37

1 targeted were meant to be short-term
 2 reductions?
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. I would think, yes. They wanted to see –
 5 yes, we wanted to stand down on travel, for
 6 example, conferences. I mean, I know
 7 particularly with engineering, I mean,
 8 without having, you know, the proper
 9 training for our people and people
 10 development, I mean, you know, for one year,
 11 it's probably sustainable, but to continue
 12 that is not something that would benefit the
 13 utility going forward, in my opinion.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. So, what instructions, if any, were you
 16 given around that time in terms of looking
 17 for long term efficiency measures or cost
 18 reduction measures?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. Each of the cost reductions, they were done
 21 with that in mind, to see what could be
 22 sustainable as we go forward into '17, '18
 23 and '19, you know, what – you know, one of
 24 the things that came out in '16 was the
 25 gating process. We talked about it earlier.

Page 38

1 Where each job or FTE – that's a HR term,
 2 sorry, but -
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Yeah, no, I understand.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. - was looked at, whether it was a retirement
 7 or resignation. Each FTE was looked at at
 8 the gating session to see how we could
 9 either, you know, combine it, eliminate it,
 10 if it had to be filled or not, and the
 11 executive would sit each month to look at
 12 those positions. So, every position that
 13 became vacant was looked at and scrutinized
 14 to make sure that it was required in order
 15 to deliver the service that we are mandated
 16 to do.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. So, if I'm hearing you, the intention was to
 19 look for long-term reductions. The question
 20 is whether or not ultimately they became
 21 sustainable? Is that fair?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. Correct.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Correct, yeah. I think that's a fair

Page 39

1 statement.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. So, at that time, there were no instructions
 4 from – to you folks to just look for short-
 5 term measures right now. It was to see what
 6 we can do to bring costs down on a long
 7 term?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. I think, as Mr. Gardiner mentioned, it was –
 10 2015 was not sustainable, and so then we
 11 said – because it was way too far the other
 12 way. It was much – the expenditure was way
 13 too high. So, we said, okay, this – we've
 14 got to do something different. And so, you
 15 know, really put the squeeze on and then
 16 said, you know, then you work towards what
 17 can be achieved and then realized some of
 18 the decisions that we're making are likely
 19 not to be appropriate decisions when you
 20 step back and look at it. So, this is not
 21 the appropriate way for us to manage go
 22 forward and then 2017 was very much a year
 23 of really have to get the absolute right
 24 balance between investment and reliability
 25 and it was in 2017, I think, that we are

Page 40

1 finding the right balance between '17, '18
 2 and '19 of what's required from an
 3 investment perspective. We are finding that
 4 balance now.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Okay. If we could scroll back down to
 7 Attachment 1 here. So, for 2016, we see
 8 that the actual outcome for 2016, after
 9 those cost reduction measures that were
 10 taken throughout the year – we scroll down
 11 just a little bit further – you managed to
 12 reduce from budget down to 123 million. Is
 13 that right, 124 million? Is that fair?
 14 MS. WILLIAMS:
 15 A. Um-hm.
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. Yes.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay. So, you did a fairly good job in
 20 terms of reduction in comparison to your
 21 2016 budget anyway?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. Correct.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. And a fairly good job in comparison to the

Page 41

1 2015, which was 153, in that range, that
 2 budget.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. It was also an abnormal year. As parties
 5 are aware that, you know, we did a lot of
 6 catch-up in that year, so there was an
 7 abnormality to that as well.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Yeah. I meant to ask you about that. So, I
 10 mean, really that 153 is kind of an anomaly.
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. Um-hm.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. It wouldn't have been that high but for some
 15 catch-up of maintenance, that sort of thing?
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. Yeah.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay. But even if we took the 2016, you
 20 didn't anticipate that extra maintenance
 21 cost in 2016 when you did your 2016 budget I
 22 wouldn't think?
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Correct.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 42

1 Q. Okay. So, that 2017 budget, you mentioned,
 2 Ms. Williams, about the 2017 budget getting
 3 more in line with sort of where you want
 4 things to go into 2018 and 2019. Let's talk
 5 about how the 2017 budget was put together.
 6 You were involved in putting that together,
 7 were you not?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Yes.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And Mr. Gardiner, would you have been
 12 involved in putting together 2017 budget?
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. I would be, yes.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Okay. And so, things like labour costs, we
 17 talked about gating process and that sort of
 18 thing. When you do your labour – did your
 19 labour cost for 2017, how would that process
 20 have evolved? Would you have started with
 21 what FTEs were in your departments at the
 22 time and worked from there? How does that
 23 process evolve?
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. That is essentially how it works, but then

Page 43

1 you go back to your individual departments.
 2 I mean, we don't wait for, you know, to be
 3 at the rolled up highest level, this is the
 4 Hydro budget. We would work within our
 5 individual departments.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Right.
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. To ask, okay, "what is this you're looking
 10 at? Is there a year over year?" you know,
 11 at every line item and you say "what is
 12 required?" and again, considering the
 13 context of where we had come from now, '13,
 14 '14, '15, then you have the year we spent
 15 too much money and you have the year we'd
 16 spent, you know, way – really low. So,
 17 okay, what is the right balance here? And
 18 to contemplate, you know, significantly
 19 stripping out labour costs when you were
 20 still seeking that balance, you know,
 21 starting with what we currently have and
 22 then questioning is that the appropriate
 23 level of human resourcing; that would have
 24 been how that would have worked on each
 25 departmental level.

Page 44

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. And so when you say starting with what you
 3 have, would you have looked at ways to trim
 4 FTEs at that stage or would you have just
 5 started with what you have and see whether
 6 or not in the gating process do we start
 7 adding in FTEs or did you do both?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Well, we always know that we had the vacancy
 10 allowance. You always know you're trimming
 11 FTEs anyway, and we would have been
 12 absolutely carrying on with the gating
 13 process, right? The hiring process. We all
 14 knew that we were going to be continuing
 15 with that because that was successful in
 16 managing some of those costs and some of
 17 those labour costs. So, that would have—you
 18 know, you might have started with a set of
 19 FTEs knowing you were not going to fill all
 20 of those, every single time. So, you always
 21 were going to be squeezing your departmental
 22 groups to take those FTEs out through the
 23 course of the time and you—everyone was
 24 allocated a certain portion of the vacancy
 25 as well within their budget through the

Page 45

1 year. So, this is your amount of FTEs you
 2 get, but you know you're already being
 3 requested and asked to remove FTEs through
 4 your actual operation.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. And how does that work? Like is that a—is
 7 that done on a monthly basis as you go
 8 forward and try to manage the budget or is
 9 it done when you start the budget, when you
 10 start preparing the budget?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. We were given the vacancy allowance at the
 13 beginning and then you execute like January
 14 1st, your very first meeting, you immediately
 15 are looking for ways to not fill those –
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Okay. So, that's the management process of
 18 the budget?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. Yeah.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. But in the preparation of the budget itself,
 23 if you go to prepare your labour forecast
 24 let's say for your department –
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 46

1 A. Yeah.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. - and you've got your FTEs for last—from
 4 last year, do you just stick with those FTEs
 5 and then decide we need to add to them or do
 6 you actually look to reduce those FTEs?
 7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. You look to reduce them again.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay.
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. I think I mentioned when you go back to each
 13 of the departments, you challenge every line
 14 item.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Yes, okay.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. You say, "Is this what you need?"
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. In that –
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. You need a baseline.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Yes, okay.
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 47

1 A. You can't just add, you know, every single
 2 person right at the beginning. You need a
 3 baseline, and you go back, and you challenge
 4 every department on what they require.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. And is that based on a work plan? How does
 7 that work?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. It is.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Yes.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. It's based on work planned.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Yes.
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. So, the amount of work that we would have in
 18 the course of a year, whether it's operating
 19 work, or in some instances, some of our
 20 employees are involved in the capital work
 21 as well. So, you do—you have a book and
 22 say, "Okay, what is it that we actually need
 23 to execute?"
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Let me ask you just in terms of embedded

Page 48

1 contractors, is that something you look at
 2 when preparing a labour forecast or is that
 3 professional services type of question?
 4 MR. GARDINER:
 5 A. Embedded contractors. I think if you look
 6 at the PUB-136, if we could bring that up?
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Sure, yes.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. There's sort of an explanation there as how
 11 we engage embedded contractors.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Well, part of that is that I'm just
 14 wondering when you're preparing a labour
 15 forecast, the cost of an embedded
 16 contractor, that's built into a labour
 17 forecast, is it?
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. It is not, no.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. No, okay. So, that—is that built in under a
 22 different heading, professional services, or
 23 does that fall in the budget?
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Normally, what we've seen, and it explains

Page 49

1 it there in NL-H or PUB-NLH-136 is that what
 2 we do is we do a work plan, an integrated
 3 annual work plan each year.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Yes.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. So, we have our employees that are on our
 8 bench.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Yes.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. And then, we look at the capital program
 13 that we have coming before us that—at that
 14 time we would have filed it with the Board.
 15 And we look our resource requirements. So,
 16 once we fully load all of our employees –
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Right.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. - that are on our bench and we look at it,
 21 and embedded contractors are more to control
 22 the ebbs and flows of the work that we have.
 23 Then, we resource—we identify the gap, and
 24 instead of, in a lot of cases, going out and
 25 hiring people with FTEs, we would engage

Page 50

1 embedded contractors, contractors to do that
 2 work. And those are obtained through the
 3 supply chain process through the Public
 4 Tendering Act.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Okay, and do they tend to be more costly
 7 than employees or does it depend?
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. They tend to—we've done some work around
 10 that.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Yes.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. And they tend to be normally 10 to 15
 15 percent probably more expensive.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Higher. And where do you account for them
 18 in your budget?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 Q. In the capital –
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. In the capital budget.
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. In the capital program.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 51

1 Q. Okay.
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. Yeah, normally that's where most or all of
 4 the embedded contractors will be brought in.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Okay, yes.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. And they would be brought in and they work
 9 with our team, and they'd—you know, when the
 10 work was done, that they would be released.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Okay.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. And that's sort of cycling.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. And is there any move within Hydro now to
 17 try to reduce that reliance on embedded
 18 contracting?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. Absolutely.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Yes.
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. Absolutely, 100 percent. In—we're always
 25 looking for that.

Page 52

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Okay.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. We want to strike the balance between having
 5 the right number of people on our bench and
 6 then bringing in outside resources to help
 7 us to get through the high times. In '17 we
 8 did look at, and we're always looking at
 9 that time, and challenging the costs through
 10 the contracts. We did a cost benefit where
 11 we looked at our capital program and what
 12 work was coming ahead of us.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Right.
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. And where we were to, and some of the work
 17 that the embedded contractors were on our
 18 bench doing, and we did a study, and we
 19 looked at what would be the most cost
 20 effective. And it was done in the sense
 21 that we want to be able to hire the
 22 employees that were going to be sustained.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Yes.
 25 MR. GARDINER:

Page 53

1 A. That we didn't want to bring a person in,
 2 train them, to make sure--and of course one
 3 of the criticisms about bringing in an
 4 embedded contractor is that you train the
 5 person and then the knowledge out the door.
 6 We certainly were aware of that. You know,
 7 with capital programs in the range of 200,
 8 300 million dollars, I mean we can't staff
 9 up with permanent employees to do that.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Yes.
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. So, we did do an analysis, and one of the—
 14 what we found was that there was room in our
 15 plan going forward in our work plan, that
 16 there would be 11 FTEs that we would convert
 17 to say 11 embedded contractors. And I don't
 18 mean take those contractors themselves and
 19 change them into employees, but 11 positions
 20 would be created to do that work within
 21 Hydro.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Okay.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. And those positions would be advertised and

Page 54

1 filled through the normal HR process. And
 2 in some cases, some of the embedded
 3 contractors would take positions and some
 4 wouldn't.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Right.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. But it would be a fair competition open to
 9 do that. So, the one thing that it's
 10 important to note is that as an executive
 11 team, we review that.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Yes.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. And we looked at it and we said that, you
 16 know, that is the right thing to do, to have
 17 those people on our bench as long-term
 18 employees.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Yes.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. So, that they can get the experience, they
 23 can do the work for us, and we did that. We
 24 added those additional FTEs to my team, in
 25 Engineering Services, and we kept the FTE

Page 55

1 for Hydro the same. We found those
 2 positions in other areas throughout the
 3 business, some were in Engineering and some
 4 were in Operations and T&D and Generation
 5 and throughout the business. So, our FTEs
 6 complement stayed the same. So, we –
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. And so, you would see a reduction in some
 9 capital costs as a result of that?
 10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. We would, yes. And I mean, that was done—we
 12 did the study in 2017.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay.
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. And we started the hiring and the process in
 17 2018, this year. And most of those
 18 positions now have been filled.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. How many of the 11 would you say?
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. I'd say all of them.
 23 (10:00 a.m.)
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Oh, okay.

Page 56

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. And of course, just in the matter of
 3 business, some of the positions would be,
 4 you know, the natural movement back and
 5 forth.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Yes.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. You know, we did hire the 11. I believe
 10 those position IDs are filled.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Yes.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. And, but then of course, people leave and so
 15 the –
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. When you say movement, is that like back and
 18 forth within other affiliates of Nalcor or
 19 is that –
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. It could be.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Yes, okay.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Some people move. Some people move to other

Page 57

1 utilities in the province as well and—or
 2 they leave.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Yes.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. You know, they resign and move out of
 7 province or whatever. It's just normal
 8 progression, right? So, what –
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Is there a net effect on FTEs as a result
 11 of, you know, some movement or –
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. In terms of net, and you'll have to excuse
 14 my knowledge of home base versus net.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Yes.
 17 MR. GARDINER:
 18 A. But yes, there would be gap when the person
 19 leaves.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes, yes.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. And it takes time to get these people. I
 24 mean, the recruitment for, you know, our
 25 engineering staff is one that we take very

Page 58

1 seriously. It's quite onerous actually. I
 2 mean, getting the right person to come in
 3 and work with your team with the right
 4 skillset is—proves to be a challenge
 5 sometimes.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Yes, okay. All right, I might ask you a few
 8 questions about that a little later on.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Absolutely.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. But I don't want to get too far away from
 13 the –
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. No, but certainly I'd welcome –
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. I'm sort of focusing on budgeting and I'm –
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. I'd welcome that.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. I'd certainly welcome that discussion, Mr.
 24 O'Brien.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 59

1 A. Yes, okay. When you're budgeting for, say
 2 like non-labour costs, like things like I
 3 guess fuel and power purchases and that kind
 4 of thing, how do you build those budgets?
 5 Like say for 2017, how would you build a
 6 budget for non-labour costs?
 7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. Okay. So, I mean, fuel obviously is a very
 9 large one.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Right.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. And that would be very much be driven off
 14 the load forecast.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Sure.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. And you know, fairly mechanical.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Yes.
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. The one then that is a bit more, I'll call
 23 it judgment related, the non-labour –
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Right, yes.

Page 60

1 MS. WILLIAMS:
 2 A. - that would be based on, say the timing of
 3 overhauls, the timing of various inspections
 4 that are –
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Yes, so, maintenance costs, that kind of
 7 thing?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Yeah, maintenance costs.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Yes.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Operating.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Yes.
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. In nature, they're often time based. And
 18 so, in those ones that are time based, you
 19 know, okay, this is what the cost is of that
 20 time base inspection; this is what the--the
 21 labour rate is associated with that; if we
 22 have to bring in a specialized contractor.
 23 So, those are—that's how they would be done
 24 generally. You know again, time based, you
 25 know, very much. When they're going to

Page 61

1 occur over the next, you know, couple of
 2 test-year period. That's how they would
 3 work the non-labour side.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay. How about like production costs? How
 6 would you build that?
 7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. Production costs? I'm sorry, what do you
 9 mean?
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. I suppose in terms of not just fuel, but
 12 say, let's say stand-by generation
 13 production costs, that kind of thing. How
 14 would you build those?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. Again, so the stand-by generation costs
 17 would be also forecasted on the basis of
 18 what you expect a system to operate like.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Yes.
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. So, for example, you would want to consider
 23 what do you expect your availability of your
 24 various aspects to be? What do you expect
 25 your customer demands to be? You know, you

Page 62

1 plan for--your operating load forecast I
 2 believe is based on a P50.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Yes.
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. So, you're not on an energy basis. You're
 7 not planning for a P19, but you are planning
 8 for a P50 on an energy basis. So, you know,
 9 all those factors would go into account when
 10 you're doing up your production costs,
 11 meaning to say things related to fuel.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. And those production costs, are they
 14 accounted for then as capital or operating?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. They're operating.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Operating, okay. And when you did –
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. With the fuel—sorry, the fuel costs
 21 obviously aren't really necessarily –
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. No.
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. Yes, okay.

Page 63

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. That would be different. Yes.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Yeah.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. So, in 2017, would you have done sort of a
 7 general executive review when you're
 8 preparing that 2017 budget with meetings
 9 with the executive to review sort of where
 10 things stand before you finalize it?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. Yes.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. And were each of you involved in that, apart
 15 from Mr. LeBlanc?
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. Yeah.
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. Yes.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes, okay.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. I would think.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. So, when preparing the 2017 operating

Page 64

1 budget, just coming out of the 2016 year, or
 2 you were in the middle of the 2016 year I
 3 guess when you started preparing the 2017
 4 budget, were you given any instructions in
 5 terms of how to build that 2017 budget? Was
 6 it meant to be built as a flat budget based
 7 on 2016's budget? What was the thought
 8 process behind that?
 9 MS. WILLIAMS:
 10 A. I don't know if you want to speak or—I mean,
 11 I know for my group, so when that budget
 12 would have been created for, say, '17, when
 13 we were partly in '16 at the time, I had
 14 accountability say for hydraulic, but I
 15 definitely would have had—I remember
 16 reviewing say some of the thermal aspect.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Yes.
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. But you know, the intention was again to
 21 say, "where are we? What is the required
 22 budget for '17 and the future years
 23 considering where we've come from?" So, I
 24 don't know that it was specifically, you
 25 know, take five percent off, take ten

<p style="text-align: right;">Page 65</p> <p>1 percent off.</p> <p>2 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>3 Q. Okay.</p> <p>4 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>5 A. It was do up the appropriate budget for the</p> <p>6 management of the--reliable management of</p> <p>7 the assets.</p> <p>8 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>9 Q. And the reason I kind of ask it is, is that</p> <p>10 Ms. Dalley sort of testified that there was,</p> <p>11 I guess, a focus on trying to hold budgets</p> <p>12 flat, I guess within inflation. Were you</p> <p>13 given any instructions in 2017 in that</p> <p>14 regard?</p> <p>15 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>16 A. In 2017 for the '18 - '19 budgets? Sorry?</p> <p>17 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>18 Q. No, sorry, 2016 for the 2017 budget.</p> <p>19 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>20 A. Yeah, I'm trying to recall exactly. I mean,</p> <p>21 yeah, going back a few years.</p> <p>22 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>23 Q. Yes, I know it's a while ago, but -</p> <p>24 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>25 A. It was to hold the numbers.</p>	<p style="text-align: right;">Page 67</p> <p>1 actuals are around 124?</p> <p>2 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>3 A. Yeah.</p> <p>4 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>5 Q. But the budget was about 139?</p> <p>6 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>7 A. Correct.</p> <p>8 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>9 Q. So, you would have been—would you have been</p> <p>10 focused on trying to hold to the 139 or</p> <p>11 somewhere in between where you would have</p> <p>12 been looking at an inflationary increase</p> <p>13 from 139?</p> <p>14 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>15 A. I don't recall specifically -</p> <p>16 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>17 A. No, I do not.</p> <p>18 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>19 Q. Okay.</p> <p>20 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>21 A. - if it was one or the other. Again, I</p> <p>22 think I'd go back to an increase would not</p> <p>23 have been tolerable.</p> <p>24 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>25 A. Yeah.</p>
<p style="text-align: right;">Page 66</p> <p>1 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>2 A. Yeah, yeah, exactly.</p> <p>3 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>4 Q. Yes.</p> <p>5 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>6 A. Pretty much to hold, yeah, to hold the</p> <p>7 numbers in terms of -</p> <p>8 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>9 A. Yeah.</p> <p>10 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>11 A. Not necessarily to the '16 actuals.</p> <p>12 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>13 Q. No, and that's what I'm sort of wondering.</p> <p>14 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>15 A. But to the '16 budget, yeah.</p> <p>16 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>17 Q. Is it to the '16 budget?</p> <p>18 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>19 A. The budget.</p> <p>20 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>21 Q. Yes.</p> <p>22 MR. GARDINER:</p> <p>23 A. That's correct, not the actuals.</p> <p>24 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>25 Q. So, we saw in the last document before, 2016</p>	<p style="text-align: right;">Page 68</p> <p>1 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>2 A. A significant increase would not have been</p> <p>3 appropriate.</p> <p>4 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>5 Q. Yes.</p> <p>6 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>7 A. Anywhere near say, where we had just come</p> <p>8 from, say 2015 to—2016 also would not have</p> <p>9 been expected to be tolerable.</p> <p>10 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>11 Q. Okay.</p> <p>12 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>13 A. Because we were saying the sustained cuts</p> <p>14 that we sort—the cuts that we've made are</p> <p>15 not sustainable. You cannot continue to not</p> <p>16 train your people. You cannot continue to</p> <p>17 make site visits.</p> <p>18 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>19 Q. Yes.</p> <p>20 MS. WILLIAMS:</p> <p>21 A. So, we knew we had to come to a more</p> <p>22 reasonable level.</p> <p>23 MR. O'BRIEN:</p> <p>24 Q. Okay. And the reason I ask, and I might</p> <p>25 have the wrong figure here, but I wonder if</p>

Page 69

1 we could bring up Undertaking 2, JH 2 I
 2 think it is? We had asked for an
 3 undertaking to produce the 2017 budget. And
 4 this was what was produced, and these are—it
 5 looks like regulated Hydro highlights. And
 6 operating costs there, if you go across
 7 here, there's a budget for 2017 of 153. Is
 8 that a figure you're familiar with?
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Wait now.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Anyone?
 13 MS. WILLIAMS:
 14 A. I don't recall. I know –
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. I don't recall that, no.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. No.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. Where is that number on the page? Show me?
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Yes, so if you just look down, "Budget 2017"
 23 –
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Oh, okay.

Page 70

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Right? You get down to operating costs we
 3 see the budget for 2016 at 139, and then, we
 4 see the budget at 2017 at 153, and there's a
 5 13-million-dollar variance.
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. Is there something further down the page?
 8 I'm looking for the date of this document.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Yeah, sure. Yes.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. When this budget was created.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Yes.
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. Yeah, I want to see the date of the
 17 document.
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. I don't really see it.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. No, there's not. And I mean, that could
 22 have been –
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Because it looks like it was created early
 25 in '16 at some point.

Page 71

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. It could have been.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Because like one says a budget and the
 5 forecast of '16. It's definitely –
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. I think -
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. I wonder if you could give me—if you don't
 10 have a recollection of that figure, then I
 11 won't ask you about that.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Yes.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. Yeah, I don't. And I think that was—that
 16 budget '17 was done in '16 like or early '16
 17 I believe.
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. Yeah, I'd like to see the date of the
 20 document.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. Yeah.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. So, okay.
 25 MR. GARDINER:

Page 72

1 A. That surprises me.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. I will ask you for an undertaking just to
 4 provide the final 2017 budget. Is that
 5 possible? Because that doesn't look like
 6 it's the final.
 7 (10:09 a.m.)
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. No.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And it's only one page, a highlight one.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Yeah.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. And can I get an undertaking to produce the
 16 final 2017 budget?
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. Well, that would be in Information 1
 19 probably, I expect.
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. Yeah.
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. Is it? Or is it just the actuals in
 24 Information 1?
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 73

1 Q. Yes, it's just the actuals, I think. I
 2 don't think it –
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Yeah.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Because the actuals came out in the 134
 7 range I think?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Correct, yeah.
 10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. Yeah, it did.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Yes.
 14 MS. WILLIAMS:
 15 A. I believe the budget was 138 or 139 in 2017.
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. Yes, something. We held the budget I
 18 believe in '16.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Yes.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. I understood we held the budget in '17.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Yeah.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 74

1 Q. Okay. So, can we get that document for the
 2 record then?
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. Yeah.
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. Yeah.
 7 MR. YOUNG:
 8 Q. So, just to be clear.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Yes.
 11 MR. YOUNG:
 12 Q. So, the undertaking –
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. I want to see the budget for—even if it
 15 comes up like the attachment we saw earlier
 16 in PUB-O54 that shows what the budget for
 17 2017 was, versus just the actual dollar
 18 figure. I'd like to see the breakdown.
 19 MR. YOUNG:
 20 Q. I think we can do that.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Okay.
 23 MR. YOUNG:
 24 Q. Yes, sure.
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 75

1 A. Yeah.
 2 MR. YOUNG:
 3 Q. We'll undertake for that.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay.
 6 MS. GLYNN:
 7 Q. Yes, we'll note the undertaking on the
 8 record.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And if we can leave this up just for a
 11 second, and I'm wondering, even if this
 12 budget was prepared earlier on in 2016, do
 13 you recall any discussions during—with the
 14 executive I guess while preparing the 2017
 15 budget or can you comment on how you—this
 16 would have been prepared at 153 at a time
 17 when Hydro was focused on reducing costs in
 18 2016?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. I can't comment on the file.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. I can't comment.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Because we don't know the creation of—the
 25 date.

Page 76

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. Yeah.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Yeah.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. And we'd have to get the timelines, Mr.
 7 O'Brien.
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Yeah.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Yes, because there seems to be a disconnect
 12 from the idea of reducing costs in 2016 -
 13 MS. WILLIAMS:
 14 A. Yes, yes.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. - and then having a budget which turned out
 17 to be up to the actuals of 2015. Is that
 18 fair?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. Yes. Yeah, that's doesn't –
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. Yeah, yeah, that doesn't –
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Okay.
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 77

1 A. I mean, I think us being surprised to say
 2 that that—that is not a number that we ever
 3 would have been working toward.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay, all right.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. We've never worked towards that number, no.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Okay. And you're not familiar with any sort
 10 of anomalies expected in 2017 that didn't
 11 ultimately materialize throughout 2016?
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. I can't comment on why that's 153.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. No, okay.
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. No.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. So, once you've set your 2017 budget and--
 20 you're each responsible, I guess, for
 21 managing that budget in 2017, is that fair?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. Correct.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Yeah.

Page 78

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. And your recollections are it's in—it was in
 3 the 138-139 range? Is that –
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. 139.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. That's correct.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Is that right? Okay. So, if I can—we can
 10 bring up Information 1, page 39 of 118.
 11 Okay, maybe we can make that just—so, this
 12 is the one we talked about earlier, 2017
 13 actuals. So, 2017 forecast there of 134,
 14 was that the budget?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. I think that was the forecast after a period
 17 of time.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Yes.
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. And Ms. Hutchens, I think would probably be
 22 best to speak to the change.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Okay, all right. So, that would—would you
 25 presume that was produced just for the

Page 79

1 purposes of putting together the rate case
 2 at around that time because the rate case
 3 was filed in July?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. I believe that is correct.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Yes, okay. But I'll ask Ms. Hutchens about
 8 that.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Yes, please.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. So, the actuals turned out to be 130. So,
 13 you were—if you were at a budget of 138 or
 14 139, you came in under that budget, down to
 15 130. And your 2018 test year is 142. Is
 16 that something that you still think is
 17 necessary in terms of going forward?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. I can speak to production if that's good.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes.
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. If I think about 2017, the 2017 production
 24 component was, I think about 41½ million.
 25 And we actually came in at about 43½

Page 80

1 million, and that was—the variance there was
 2 frequently due to overtime and I'll just
 3 talk about that in a second as well.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay.
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. But then, also there's some minor FTE
 8 movements within the company. So, with
 9 regards to how mine contributes to the '18
 10 budget which is also now in my group, 43
 11 million compares to my '17 actuals of 43
 12 million, you know, I feel like it's the
 13 appropriate investment for production. And
 14 with respect to overtime, we're making some
 15 strides in that area as well to make sure
 16 that that gets under control, but you know,
 17 certainly the 2017 actuals and where I'm,
 18 say, trending in the budget, is for--for
 19 2018 it feels like the right number, if
 20 we're trending on that, is the number that I
 21 need.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Are either of you able to comment about what
 24 measures the management or the executive
 25 have put in place in 2017 in order to

Page 81

1 maintain a 130 operating cost versus the
 2 budget, in particular in that year that was
 3 added or –
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. I think the gating session was certainly a
 6 pretty significant one and I believe Ms.
 7 Dalley would have testified earlier to the
 8 amount of vacancy that was achieved through
 9 that management, through that gating
 10 session, and so that then obviously hits our
 11 benefits on the salary line, on the labour
 12 aspect, so that was, you know, continued
 13 through '17 and it continues into 2018, so
 14 that was a very material thing that would
 15 have occurred in '17 to get us down, and
 16 again, I think Ms. Hutchens would have some
 17 discussions on some items, I don't want to
 18 go there because I'm sure I won't say it
 19 correctly, but I remember all the
 20 accounting, EFP things I think that had a
 21 fairly significant impact on last year as
 22 well, that is really not, words of Ms.
 23 Hutchens' mouth, that wasn't in Hydro's
 24 control, but there's some things there she'd
 25 be better to speak to.

Page 82

1 (10:15 a.m.)
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Would the Board's order from the last GRA
 4 which came out in December of 2016, would
 5 that have had an impact on Hydro going
 6 forward, one of the things the Board had
 7 indicated was that, had given a disallowance
 8 of salaries of 4 million dollars, were you
 9 aware of that?
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Yes.
 12 MR. LEBLANC:
 13 A. Yes.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Had you all reviewed the Board order at some
 16 point?
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. Yes.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And would that have impacted the gating
 21 process and how you'd move forward in 2017?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. I would say that certainly there were some
 24 messages that were very clearly received,
 25 you know, with regards to the Board saying

Page 83

1 they really need to see better cost control
 2 by the management team, and so we heard that
 3 and we respect and we receive it, so that's
 4 where we're really working towards trying to
 5 achieve and so I think you'll see some of
 6 those, you know, effected in the results
 7 here and the same thing with regards to the
 8 gating session, you know, that we are
 9 cognizant of that impression and we are
 10 working hard to change it.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Has that gating session been helpful for
 13 each of you in your departments, especially
 14 in 2017?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. Uh-hm.
 17 MR. LEBLANC:
 18 A. Yes.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. And into 2018 as well.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. And into 2018 as well?
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. That's right. I mean, one of the measures
 25 that we do have is a vacancy allowance, a

Page 84

1 vacancy allowance and we're always very
 2 keenly aware of that to actually meet or
 3 beat that in a lot of cases, so that was
 4 something that's, you know, forefront of
 5 every time we'd get together and we'd talk
 6 about a gating session in terms of FTE
 7 allocations, so –
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Okay, well talk me through that, the vacancy
 10 allowance, you have a target in each one of
 11 your departments for that or is that an
 12 overall target.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. It's an overall allocation for the overall
 15 target and then we tried, we look at it and
 16 we do have, it is allocated to each line of—
 17 each division and we, at the gating session,
 18 we talk about that to make sure that we're
 19 hiring the right people in the right roles
 20 and that they're justified.
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. I guess, Terry, as Mr. Gardiner mentioned,
 23 he probably did not have a vacancy of 11
 24 FTEs in his group when we converted the –
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 85

1 Q. Right.

2 MS. WILLIAMS:

3 A. So the rest of the group had to basically

4 consciously say, okay, we're going to not

5 fill other positions and we're going to feel

6 the pain elsewhere in the organization

7 because we all felt that that was the right

8 thing to do, is to make room elsewhere in

9 the company and that has occurred, you know,

10 on numerous occasions that, you know, we

11 have set, so everyone has an allowance, but

12 that's just a budgeting thing. When it

13 comes to the actual filling of positions, it

14 really is what is the most important

15 position to fill at that point in time.

16 MR. O'BRIEN:

17 Q. And what's the overall allowance, say, in

18 2017, was there like a figure that was your

19 overall target?

20 MS. WILLIAMS:

21 A. I believe it was 61 was the achievement.

22 MR. LEBLANC:

23 A. I think the target, you know, subject to

24 check and obviously Ms. Dalley could have

25 spoken to that, that the vacancy allowance

Page 86

1 was, I believe, 40, set by the Board and,

2 you know, we did achieve much better than

3 that.

4 MR. O'BRIEN:

5 Q. You achieved 60, I think was the overall

6 figure.

7 MR. LEBLANC:

8 A. 60, I believe.

9 MS. WILLIAMS:

10 A. And we've negotiated in the first settlement

11 agreement 55.

12 MR. LEBLANC:

13 A. 50, 55 for '18.

14 MR. O'BRIEN:

15 Q. So was there a plan then going forward to

16 focus on keeping that –

17 MS. WILLIAMS:

18 A. We're not letting that go.

19 MR. GARDINER:

20 A. That's it, we're done.

21 MR. O'BRIEN:

22 Q. And does that tell you that you got too many

23 people, too many positions or?

24 MR. GARDINER:

25 A. No.

Page 87

1 MR. O'BRIEN:

2 Q. That you've overstated it?

3 MR. LEBLANC:

4 A. It's a form of cost control.

5 MR. GARDINER:

6 A. It's a form of cost control, we look at it,

7 we're going to make sure that we do, you

8 know, we have the positions and that we fill

9 the ones that we absolutely need and, of

10 course, part of the vacancy is when somebody

11 leaves and you have time to fill or

12 whatever, certainly not to the extent of 55,

13 Mr. O'Brien, but you know, it's a cost

14 control and we want to make sure that those

15 positions are put in the right places in the

16 corporation.

17 MS. WILLIAMS:

18 A. And any business, I think, evolves over time

19 and so what it allows us to do is to say,

20 okay, just because this person left doesn't

21 mean you automatically get that person back,

22 and there's an example that has helped, in

23 Holyrood we would have had a vacancy of a

24 technical type person. We valued

25 replacement of that person versus the

Page 88

1 placement of a human resource professional

2 in Holyrood which really helped us make some

3 gains on some other areas that we really

4 needed to focus on out there, for example,

5 overtime, attendance, management, so you

6 know, it's a form of cost control, but it

7 also helps us focus what is the right

8 positions required for the business as it

9 evolves.

10 MR. O'BRIEN:

11 Q. And if you've set a target of 40 and you get

12 to 60, is 60 closer to what you'd normally

13 have over the last few years? Is it normal

14 that you'd be in the 40 range?

15 MS. WILLIAMS:

16 A. I think we had—I'd have to go back, I think

17 that's on the record as well with the number

18 of FTEs there.

19 MR. LEBLANC:

20 A. We'd have to go back and check.

21 MR. O'BRIEN:

22 Q. It is on the record, I think.

23 MS. WILLIAMS:

24 A. I think there was a year we hit 70 a few

25 years ago.

Page 89

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. There was, yeah.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. But that was, I think, prior to the outages
 5 and I don't think we want to, you know,
 6 contemplate—we don't want to be held to a
 7 number that is just that FTE number, we need
 8 the ability to decide what, the folks that
 9 we need to hire at any point in time to have
 10 that ability to put the right people in
 11 place.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. I just don't recall seeing too many years
 14 with 40 in them.
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. That could be, again we negotiated 55, so
 17 you know, we're moving forward to 55.
 18 MR. LEBLANC:
 19 A. I did not either. And of course now there's
 20 settlements as 55, so and you know, from the
 21 sessions that we've been to, we believe that
 22 55 is achievable and we're working very hard
 23 to do that.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. And when you're going forward in 2017, Ms.

Page 90

1 Dalley talked about some O&M reports that
 2 you would get on a monthly basis, do each of
 3 you get those?
 4 MR. LEBLANC:
 5 A. Yes.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. Yes.
 8 MS. WILLIAMAS:
 9 A. Yes.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Okay, and how helpful have they been in—what
 12 kind of assistance have they given you in
 13 maintaining your budget, managing your
 14 budget to what you have set?
 15 MR. LEBLANC:
 16 A. Again, it's like any tool, it tells you
 17 where you are if you're on track, if you're
 18 behind or if you're spending too vigorously
 19 and if you're, say you have a training
 20 allowance and it's all gone by, or 80
 21 percent gone by the end of March, okay,
 22 you're going to have to put the brakes on
 23 and say, okay, what are we doing here? So
 24 it lets you know how you're doing year to
 25 date and how you have to manage the rest of

Page 91

1 the year to meet your budgets.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. And did you have those reports in 2016 as
 4 well?
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. Yes, I think we had, yes.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. All right, and I understand it's something
 9 that Mr. MacIsaac brought in when he was
 10 president, is that correct, back in 2015?
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. I would say that, yes.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. And so after you got these O&M reports,
 15 these monthly O&M reports, you've managed to
 16 maintain or keep your costs below what the
 17 test year costs were in 2016, 2017, is that
 18 fair?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. Because the 2016 test year costs would have
 21 been the previous year which is a bit
 22 cloudy.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Yes, the 2015 test year costs were 132,
 25 right, so you've had, in 2016 you had those

Page 92

1 O&M reports and were of assistance and in
 2 2016 you got your costs down to 123 along
 3 with other cost reduction focusses; in 2017
 4 you got them down to 130, and was this
 5 partially because you got this regular O&M
 6 report to have a look at and maintain or is
 7 it—
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. It could be, but again I know for me, I can
 10 only speak to production because you're
 11 talking about the roll up, right, so I think
 12 you'd have to speak with every group
 13 individually to understand exactly the
 14 driving for achieving that.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. But has it been helpful for you guys?
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. It is a help, absolutely, every organization
 19 would have, you know, a monthly review or
 20 bi-weekly, every two months to review and
 21 see where we are and make adjustments.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. And you tend to keep those reports?
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. Absolutely.

Page 93

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. Absolutely.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. I'm going to ask each of you this question
 5 and the answer might be different and I
 6 imagine it will be. Mr. Gardiner, what's
 7 the biggest challenge for you in your
 8 department when it comes to cost control?
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Salaries and benefits.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Salaries, yes.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. Salaries is the, you know, in an engineering
 15 department, I mean your most important
 16 resource is your people, as it is in Hydro,
 17 but it's maintaining our FTEs and our people
 18 on our bench to do the work that we need to
 19 do, both for capital and operating.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Same thing for you, Mr. LeBlanc?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. Staffing levels are difficult, there is also
 24 in my area is storms, and storm response,
 25 you can't predict how many storms you are

Page 94

1 going to have, how many outages you're going
 2 to have and lots of times the storms don't
 3 follow Monday to Friday, 8 to 4. They are
 4 very inconvenient, they hit in evenings and
 5 weekends and those costs aren't
 6 controllable, you have to dispatch, you have
 7 to get the power back on, so that's a tough
 8 thing to manage.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And how about you, Ms. Williams?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. I think when we think about where the
 13 organization is and we're still getting
 14 information on the expectations and if you
 15 think about the messages we have been
 16 sending our employees over the last few
 17 years, you know, we had the outages and then
 18 we said, okay, let's go gangbusters in '15
 19 and let's, you know, fix everything that
 20 exists on the system. And then it was like,
 21 we've got to do some serious cost control
 22 because we went too far that year and now we
 23 are again receiving, you know, messages that
 24 we are taking seriously, that we really got
 25 to get your costs under control. So one of

Page 95

1 the challenges that I see is that we're
 2 talking to our employees, we're trying to
 3 bring everybody on board with a cost
 4 control, how do you do things better
 5 concept, all coupled with we still have to
 6 keep the lights on, so it's helping
 7 employees not make decisions that compromise
 8 reliability, but also still make decisions
 9 that are conscious of cost control, so it's
 10 finding, it's helping—the challenge for all
 11 of us is helping the employees strike a
 12 balance in their decision making every day.
 13 That's, I think, probably the biggest
 14 challenge in front of us in addition to also
 15 things that get thrown your way from a
 16 reliability perspective, but really helping
 17 that cost control message get out there, not
 18 at the sacrifice of reliability.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And we talked about the O&M reports, I
 21 understand you have regular cost control
 22 meetings, is that fair and is that when you
 23 discuss O&M reports or is that a different
 24 kind of a –
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 96

1 A. That's when the senior leadership discusses
 2 it, but those meetings occur within our
 3 departments as well.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Oh, do they?
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. They obviously are checking costs themselves
 8 and then they are the ones that report up to
 9 us, they're accountable to us and then we
 10 discuss any issues at our monthly meetings.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And are they focussed directly on cost
 13 control or is it just within –
 14 MS. WILLIAMS:
 15 A. No, it's cost control.
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 Q. It's cost control.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. They do generally, okay, and the executive
 20 meetings, do you have executive meetings
 21 that focus specifically on cost control?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. All the executive attend those meetings.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Oh, okay, all right, and how often do they

Page 97

1 have them?

2 MS. WILLIAMS:

3 A. Once a month.

4 MR. O'BRIEN:

5 Q. And we've seen some indication and a number

6 of individuals have testified about an

7 aggressive approach to cost control into the

8 future, is that something different than

9 what you've had before?

10 MR. GARDINER:

11 A. I think that that is the intent of the cost

12 control meetings.

13 MR. O'BRIEN:

14 Q. And I guess part of that Mr. Haynes and Ms.

15 Dalley talked about a productivity team

16 being put in place, are any of you on that

17 team?

18 MR. LEBLANC:

19 A. Not specifically on the team, but we have

20 input into it.

21 MS. WILLIAMS:

22 A. And they report to us as well their success.

23 MR. O'BRIEN:

24 Q. All right, let me ask you about that sort

25 of, that team itself, I understood from

Page 98

1 earlier testimony that there isn't a written

2 mandate for that team, has there been

3 something put together since April that you

4 know of?

5 MS. WILLIAMS:

6 A. There actually is a written mandate, the

7 terms of reference for that team.

8 MR. O'BRIEN:

9 Q. Terms of reference, okay.

10 MR. GARDINER:

11 A. The executive that is the sponsor for the

12 teams is vice-president of Finance, Ms.

13 Hutchens, and she's probably the better one

14 to speak to that.

15 MR. O'BRIEN:

16 Q. And have you seen the terms of reference?

17 MS. WILLIAMS:

18 A. We all signed off on it.

19 MR. O'BRIEN:

20 Q. You all have copies of it.

21 MR. GARDINER:

22 A. Yes.

23 MR. O'BRIEN:

24 Q. I wonder if we can get an undertaking to

25 provide a copy of that for the record.

Page 99

1 (10:26 a.m.)

2 MS. GLYNN:

3 Q. Noted on the record.

4 MR. O'BRIEN:

5 Q. So what input do you have or contact do you

6 have with that productivity team, each of

7 you can provide me with what you—Mr.

8 Gardiner, what –

9 MR. GARDINER:

10 A. Yes, absolutely. I know one of the things

11 that the productivity team did is that they

12 set up meetings with all of our staff, our

13 different staffs. I know in engineering

14 each of my employees were attending a

15 productivity team meeting where they talked

16 about the intent of what we were looking

17 for. They gathered up ideas from my staff

18 as to what we should be doing and what we

19 can do in terms of productivity and

20 innovation and that's, they were feeding

21 that into the team. I know that that was

22 done. I had a person in my group that

23 coordinated all of those meetings and the

24 team came down and met with all my team

25 members, everyone attended those sessions.

Page 100

1 I made sure that they did. They had input

2 and the input was given back to the team for

3 analysis and to look at what we could be

4 doing, and it wasn't just necessarily around

5 engineering as well, it was around, you

6 know, some of these people had been in Hydro

7 for 30, 35 years; some had been one or two

8 years, so new ideas and various things. So

9 that was one of the things that we did do in

10 engineering was to make sure that each one

11 of our employees had the opportunity to meet

12 with the team in small groups, to have a

13 discussion to look at how we do our business

14 and anything that we could see as an

15 improvement.

16 MR. O'BRIEN:

17 Q. And did you get any recommendations yet from

18 that team as to what you can –

19 MR. GARDINER:

20 A. Not right now. I know that our input was

21 gathered, I'm not sure what stage it is

22 right now, but is in the process of being

23 given to that team.

24 MR. O'BRIEN:

25 Q. And do you have any idea, any timeline when

Page 101

1 you expect to receive input?
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. From the productivity team?
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. From the productivity team, for your
 6 department specifically?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. No, I haven't been given a firm timeline,
 9 but I would suspect that the report that we
 10 would get it at the executive meeting once
 11 we get through this panel hearing we'll be
 12 meeting and, you know, we'll be given an
 13 executive review and we'll look at, I would
 14 imagine, and what they've done in the past
 15 is report as a group, both in all of our
 16 areas to see, because some of the things
 17 that I may be doing may affect, you know,
 18 generation and transmission, or vice versa,
 19 maybe there's something different that we
 20 could be doing, right.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. So that all has to dovetail, I guess, with
 23 what everyone else is doing.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Absolutely, yeah, you want to make sure

Page 102

1 that, and what the mandate that, you know, I
 2 believe that we're looking for is
 3 sustainable. I know we are going to use
 4 that word quite a bit, sustainable change,
 5 you know, changing our process, looking at
 6 it, how we can do things differently, how we
 7 can do them better. I think Mr. Haynes
 8 says, you know, "quicker, faster, better".
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And Mr. LeBlanc, have your team met with the
 11 productivity team?
 12 MR. LEBLANC:
 13 A. Yes, they went through the company and met
 14 with the different people and again
 15 explained the program, what they are doing,
 16 and also to solicit ideas and the ideas
 17 didn't also, didn't have to be solicited at
 18 the meetings, they did set up an email for
 19 that, so when anyone gets any ideas, they
 20 can email them to the innovation and
 21 productivity team. They have set up a
 22 template for suggestions and ideas, and that
 23 way they all get logged, they won't get lost
 24 and they're not written on scraps of paper,
 25 but they are catalogued, and they will be

Page 103

1 looked at, and they will be evaluated and
 2 they will be prioritized because you may get
 3 an influx and I'm not sure how many there
 4 have been, so I'm just making this up, they
 5 may have gotten 500. You can't do all 500
 6 at once, so they're looked at, they're
 7 evaluated, they're prioritized. So all of
 8 my staff or the people underneath me have
 9 had that opportunity to submit and people
 10 are still submitting today. Like, there's
 11 no cut off, whenever you have an idea,
 12 submit it in.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Ms. Williams, same for you? Has your team
 15 met –
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. Yeah, same thing, they've done sort of the
 18 road show across the province and met with
 19 everybody and when you talk to the folks
 20 that are on the team, this group of four,
 21 you know, I think they have sort of reported
 22 that when they go in the room, there are
 23 some people that are like, what's this
 24 about? They're not really sure, but at the
 25 end of it they do, the employees out in the

Page 104

1 field on the frontlines really do have
 2 really great ideas and exactly, there is
 3 this roll up of information that's going in,
 4 but I am privy to a couple that are sort of
 5 coming across and we're talking of tens of
 6 thousands in various ones, but you add up
 7 tens of thousands across a whole bunch of
 8 initiatives, it does add up. And in
 9 addition to the productivity team, the
 10 benefit of the productivity team and this
 11 road show across the island and trying to
 12 get everybody involved is trying to let
 13 everybody know we're looking for the cost
 14 change and that cost challenge. We also
 15 have, you know, some very significant things
 16 that are going on that control dollars on a
 17 very large scale, and I think about, you
 18 know, how we're using imports now to import
 19 lower cost energy, you know, those are very
 20 significant dollars that we're able to do
 21 so, it's large things and the combination of
 22 the small together. Overtime and control
 23 has been a very significant driver this year
 24 with our cost control and it's really
 25 reaping a lot of benefits, and so it's the

Page 105

1 combination of the large items and the small
 2 items together that's, you know, that's been
 3 a focus for us this year.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. So if we expect at some point for the
 6 productivity team to have some
 7 recommendations, will those recommendations
 8 affect cost in either test year?
 9 MS. WILLIAMS:
 10 A. I expect they will because some of the ideas
 11 are new and would not have been contemplated
 12 when the budgets were created.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Right.
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. So I expect that Ms. Hutchens may talk about
 17 how that could or should be addressed as
 18 opposed to this, but yeah, I expect that
 19 there will be a knock-on effect in the test
 20 years for the things that we're going to
 21 implement. Some things are implemented
 22 today, tomorrow; some might take, you know,
 23 as Mr. LeBlanc mentioned, if there's, you
 24 know, 200 of these, we can't get at the 200
 25 of them on July 1st of 2018.

Page 106

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Sure.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. We're going to have to, you know, sort of
 5 stage them because they might require, you
 6 know, contracting differently. They might
 7 require, you know, hiring a different
 8 resource as opposed to this person, so it is
 9 going to take time to implement all of them,
 10 but there will be and I'm sure some impact
 11 on a test year basis from a budget
 12 perspective.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. And will customers see that impact?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. Again, I'd probably prefer if Mr. Fagan and
 17 Ms. Hutchens roll that exactly into that
 18 discussion.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. In reading the last order from the GRA were
 21 you aware that the Board had made some
 22 comments concerning challenging Hydro to
 23 find ways to see productivity measures
 24 implemented before the next GRA? Are you
 25 all aware of that?

Page 107

1 MS. WILLIAMS:
 2 A. Yes.
 3 MR. LEBLANC:
 4 A. Yes.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. Yes.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. And if these productivity measures aren't
 9 seen to benefit customers, are there any
 10 other productivity measures that you expect
 11 to benefit customers that are in place?
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Yes, I mean, I just touched—for myself—I
 14 just touched on a couple in the production
 15 group a few moments ago. Again, the use of
 16 the imports that will benefit customers
 17 because we're offsetting, you know, fuel.
 18 Customers will see that. Overtime control
 19 that will roll into the future, how we are
 20 managing overtime and attendance managements
 21 that will—customers will certainly benefit
 22 that through their rates, again, how that
 23 gets captured. The fuel premium was
 24 negotiated for the remaining couple of years
 25 of the contract. I believe we saved around

Page 108

1 two million dollars a year with the
 2 renegotiation of the fuel premium in the
 3 supply contract that we currently have. We
 4 are shutting units early at Holyrood using
 5 the maritime line and I guess we'll be using
 6 the Labrador link and we'll be shutting
 7 units early, starting them late. That will
 8 be fuel savings that customers will see.
 9 So, I think there's absolutely some things
 10 that customers are going to benefit from
 11 with regards to those productivity measures
 12 that the Board is expecting of us.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. That fuel premium, is that built into the
 15 test year, that savings, do you know?
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 a. It might be. I'm trying to think of the
 18 timing of when the fuel premium was
 19 renegotiated. I'd have to get Ms. Hutchings
 20 to say exactly when that was rolled into the
 21 test year.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Okay.
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. If it was rolled into the test year, the

Page 109

1 timing of it.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Have there been any reports from the
 4 productivity team at all to executive?
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. I think we've had some meetings where
 7 they've come and updated us on status. I
 8 don't –
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Any written reports?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. - have a paper report.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. There's a productivity allowance built into
 17 the 2018 and 2019 test years of
 18 approximately a million dollars, I guess,
 19 for each year. Are you all aware of that?
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. Um-hm.
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. Yes.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. We are.

Page 110

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Now, it's been described as, I guess, a
 3 self-composed target. Do you think that's
 4 enough incentive to the executive to try to
 5 keep costs down? Anyone want to tackle that
 6 one?
 7 MR. LEBLAC:
 8 A. It is a target, but that doesn't mean—we're
 9 always looking at our costs, our O & M
 10 regardless if there was a productivity
 11 allowance or not. If we can do things
 12 better and cheaper, we would do it, or more
 13 efficiently. So, we're always looking for
 14 gains. And this was just to put a dollar
 15 figure to it.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. I guess that's where I was going to do, just
 18 to put a dollar figure on it. It's not
 19 something that you attribute amongst
 20 different departments and have a target
 21 towards reaching, is it?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. No.
 24 MR. LEBLANC:
 25 A. No.

Page 111

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. No.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Did you consider doing that at all, setting
 5 a target for each department of production?
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. I don't recall that as being allocated
 8 specifically, no, or being discussed as
 9 being allocated, no.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. I'm going to ask you some question just
 12 about some specific costs in each of your
 13 areas. I do want to focus a little bit on
 14 labour costs and there's a few documents that
 15 I might jump back and forth amongst. So,
 16 maybe I can get those brought up so they're
 17 there. The first one is NP-NLH-12. And the
 18 next one that I'm going to turn to as well
 19 is, and maybe we can have handy is
 20 Undertaking 27 and Undertaking 28. So, I
 21 might jump around between those three. So,
 22 if we look at NP-NLH-12, Attachment 1, some
 23 labour related costs by functional area
 24 here. Let me ask first, in terms of
 25 functional areas, would there be someone on

Page 112

1 this panel responsible for information and
 2 operations technology?
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. Yes.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. That would be you, Mr. Gardiner?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. Yes, it would be.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay, all right. I'm going to go through
 11 each of these areas. I have some questions
 12 for you. In terms of the makeup of these
 13 labour related costs, am I right in assuming
 14 that they don't include overtime and
 15 employee future benefits? These are
 16 strictly salaries and bonus costs.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. No, I think they include overtime.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And the reason why I ask and in Information
 21 1, if we can pull that up.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. They don't actually, Mr. O'Brien.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. They don't?

Page 113

1 MS. WILLIAMS:
 2 A. They don't?
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. They do not, no. They –
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Yes, I compared them last night and I don't
 7 think they do.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. They do not.
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Okay.
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. They do not. Well, not in the engineering
 14 and IT, OT –
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Yes, if we look at Information 1 here,
 17 labour related costs for, let's say 2016,
 18 the labour related costs up in the first
 19 line there for 2016 actual is 64,481 and
 20 then you got employee benefits and overtime
 21 underneath it.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. Correct.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. For a total of 77 and if we go back to 12,

Page 114

1 we see labour related costs for 2016 as
 2 64,481, so it doesn't have the overtime.
 3 So, we're just dealing with, I presume,
 4 salaries and bonuses. Is that fair?
 5 MR. LEBLANC:
 6 A. Correct.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Anything else thrown in there, do you think?
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Not that I'm aware of.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. So, I'm going to start with you, Mr.
 13 LeBlanc, just where it's the first on the
 14 list there, transmission and distribution.
 15 For 2016 and I don't know if you can comment
 16 on this where you weren't there until 2017,
 17 but there's a reduction there of 3.3 million
 18 from 2015 to 2016.
 19 MR. LEBLANC:
 20 A. That's correct.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Is that a result of reduction in FTEs?
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. I am not 100 percent sure on that one.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 115

1 Q. And if we—actually it might help if we pull
 2 up Undertaking 27 and just go to attachment
 3 1, page 2. So, Ms. Dalley had provided—is
 4 this 27? No, no, sorry, Undertaking 27,
 5 Attachment 1, page 2, scroll down. That's
 6 not the right one. Bear with me. That's 28
 7 I think. If you're taking 27, we could have
 8 an updated table for NP—that's undertaking
 9 28, can we pull up 27 again? That doesn't
 10 look like it's the right document.
 11 Undertaking 27 should have an update from
 12 NP-NLH-11. Here we go. Okay. So, for 2016
 13 there's a reduction there, sorry, from 2015
 14 to 2016 there's an actual reduction from 352
 15 to 336.
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. Yes.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. So, there's a 16 FTE reduction. That
 20 wouldn't account for 3.3 million in costs,
 21 would it?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. I do not think so.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Do you know if there was any other reason

Page 116

1 for –
 2 MR. LEBLANC:
 3 A. No, I haven't examined the drop from 15 to
 4 16. When I started, I worked on a go-
 5 forward basis.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Am I better to bring that up with Ms.
 8 Hutchens?
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. Yes.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Okay. So you wouldn't know if there was any
 13 elimination of any positions between 2015
 14 and 2016 in transmission and distribution?
 15 MR. LEBLANC:
 16 A. Not that I'm aware of that there was any
 17 program or anything to do so.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. I was going to ask you next, Mr. Gardiner.
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. Oh yes, I do, in fact. Those reduction are
 22 results of the network services team being
 23 moved from the T&D group into the
 24 engineering services as part of the
 25 information and operational technology.

Page 117

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Alright. And what was the total FTEs that
 3 moved? Was it all 16 there.
 4 MR. GRADINER:
 5 A. Yes, it was.
 6 (10:45 a.m.)
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. And was there any other reason for the
 9 reduction in costs other than FTEs because
 10 there is a 3.3 million dollar reduction.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. I'm not really familiar with that. I know
 13 the FTEs did move, those resulted in that
 14 and the subsequent budget also came with
 15 that.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Was there any capitalization of labour costs
 18 in that year that might account for that?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 Q. There is, absolutely.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Alright. So, if we go back to NP-NLH-12, so
 23 by 2016 actual, you're at 27 million and
 24 forecast for 2017, 2018 and even into 2019
 25 all seems fairly stable, is that fair?

Page 118

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. Yes.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Yes, okay. Now, if we pull up Undertaking
 5 27 again. So, the labour costs appear
 6 stable there going across into the test
 7 years. From 2017 there was a reduction from
 8 2016 again by 15 FTEs, yet the labour costs
 9 were stable.
 10 MR. LEBLANC:
 11 A. Some of the FTEs, there was a few changes in
 12 the area, like, production planning had
 13 moved from my area into Ms. Williams' area,
 14 yet the money stayed in my area for the
 15 year, but the head count moved over. It
 16 would be one area.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. How much would that be in terms of FTEs? I
 19 mean, how many are we talking?
 20 MR. LEBLANC:
 21 A. Two individuals.
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. It's three. The third position was vacant
 24 for a period, but it's just filled.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 119

1 Q. So, some of the money would have stayed
 2 there with you, but the FTEs would have
 3 moved there. Now, that's for three of them.
 4 What about, I mean, it looks like a 15 –
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. Storekeepers, there were some changes there
 7 and Ms. Hutchens could speak more to that.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. And so would money have stayed in your camp
 10 for that and then the FTEs would have went –
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. Yes.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay. And 2017 there was a forecast up to
 15 334, is that right?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. Correct.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. But the actuals were -
 20 MR. LEBLANC:
 21 A. 321.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. And 2018 there's a forecast up to 329, is
 24 there a reason why there's a forecasted
 25 increase in the FTEs in the 2018?

Page 120

1 MR. LEBLANC:
 2 A. Again, we did expand slightly with the NLSO.
 3 There are more duties to do with integrating
 4 with the North American grid.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. And so of those FTEs, are those positions
 7 that are moved, that are created in the
 8 NLSO?
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. Five of those positions were transferred
 11 from Holyrood. And then we also
 12 incorporated one new position with the NLSO,
 13 Manager Reliability Standards and Commercial
 14 Compliance which is a new position.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. What about the other two FTEs?
 17 MR. LEBLANC:
 18 A. I'm not sure exactly.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And you check on that and let me know?
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. We can do that.
 23 MS. GLYNNE:
 24 Q. We'll note that as an undertaking.
 25 (10:49 a.m.)

Page 121

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Okay. And so the five that moved from
 3 Holyrood, they were in production before?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 Q. They were, the employees, but the FTE didn't
 6 move, so it was basically a net increase in
 7 NLSO, so those positions were thermal plant
 8 operators and so they had to be replaced.
 9 So, there's no decrease in Holyrood
 10 associated with those –
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Okay, so they were replaced because there's
 13 five moved out of the –
 14 MS. WILLIAMS:
 15 A. Correct.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Okay. So, in 2017, sorry, 2018, apart from
 18 those 8, going into the test years you
 19 expect that in those years you were going to
 20 maintain the same FTEs and –
 21 MR. LEBLANC:
 22 A. That's correct.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Okay. So, I presume for those that are
 25 added in 2017 or 2018, they went through the

Page 122

1 gating process?
 2 MR. LEBLANC:
 3 A. The ECC operators went through the E LAC
 4 (phonetic) from the production area, but the
 5 manager of Reliability Standards and
 6 Commercial Compliance went through the
 7 gating session.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. And this would have been a new thing anyway
 10 for NLSO into that year.
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. Yes.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay. Do you know if your 2017 actual
 15 labour costs are in line with—if we go back
 16 to NP-NLH-12, this actual chart doesn't have
 17 the 2017 actuals broken down by functional
 18 area. Do you know if your 2017 actual
 19 labour costs were in line with that, with
 20 your forecast?
 21 MR. LEBLANC:
 22 A. I believe they were, but I can't state for
 23 certain.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. I wonder if we can get that chart updated,

Page 123

1 NL-NLH-12, Attachment 1 updated for 2017
 2 actuals, can you do that?
 3 MS. GLYNN:
 4 Q. Noted as an undertaking.
 5 (10:51 a.m.)
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. If we can go back to, sorry, stay at this
 8 one, we had 15 less FTEs in 2017, so the
 9 reason for—there was a number of them there
 10 that you said costs stayed in your camp, but
 11 the FTEs were left.
 12 MR. LEBLANC:
 13 A. Yes.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Was that for all 15?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. Again, I'd have to check on that.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Can you check on that for me because I'm
 20 just wondering why the cost would remain the
 21 same with that many FTEs moving, can you
 22 check on that for me.
 23 MS. GLYNNE:
 24 Q. And we'll note that as an undertaking as
 25 well.

Page 124

1 (10:52 a.m.)
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. So, if you're expecting 2018 and 2019 test
 4 years at 27 million in your camp, Mr.
 5 LeBlanc, is the actuals for 2017 came out
 6 lower, would you have overstated your 2018
 7 and 2019 test years.
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. Could you repeat the question?
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. So, if your 2017 actuals are actually lower
 12 than what's forecast there.
 13 MR. LEBLANC:
 14 A. In FTEs or in dollars?
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. No, in dollars, would you think that you
 17 actually overstated the labour costs for '18
 18 and '19?
 19 MR. LEBLANC:
 20 A. No.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. And why not?
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. Because those are based on a certain number
 25 of FTEs and their full salaries are in

Page 125

1 there, there's no transfer in and out.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay. Was there any increase in overtime
 4 allotted in '18 and '19 test years in your
 5 department?
 6 MR. LEBLANC:
 7 A. There's a decrease forecast in overtime for
 8 2018 and 2019 test years.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay. And the 2108 test year, have you
 11 added any more FTEs this year since the
 12 beginning of the year?
 13 MR. LEBLANC:
 14 A. No net increase in FTEs.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Is there any plan in your department to add
 17 anymore this year?
 18 MR. LEBLANC:
 19 A. No.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. No. And now about for 2019?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. No.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Okay. Is there any movement in your

Page 126

1 department to control salaries or anything
 2 like that for the near future?
 3 MR. LEBLANC:
 4 A. Some salaries have been red circled, but
 5 that would be more of a HR function. So, I
 6 would defer that to the HR department or Ms.
 7 Dalley.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Does that affect your department at all?
 10
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. There are people in my area who have been
 13 red circled, yes.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. And would that prevent test year costs from
 16 rising?
 17 MR. LEBLANC:
 18 A. No, because we were forecasting zero percent
 19 increase anyhow, so no change on the
 20 budgets.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Okay. Ms. Williams, for production, if we
 23 stay on this page, 2015 and 2016 actuals are
 24 fairly stable. There's only a couple of
 25 hundred thousand dollars of a difference, is

Page 127

1 that fair?
 2 MS. WILLIAMS:
 3 A. Correct.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay. I wonder if we can pull up
 6 Undertaking 27. So, for 2015 to 2016 there
 7 was an addition of 11 FTEs in your area, but
 8 the salaries were fairly stable. Can you
 9 tell me why that was?
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Likely, it was due to a mix of who was being
 12 hired, I guess, and for example if somebody
 13 went out and somebody went in, there would
 14 be a salary difference and I think on the
 15 previous file that you had that was on a
 16 forecast basis, I think the differential
 17 between the two years was more 800,000 as
 18 opposed to the 1.3 million that's noted
 19 there. So, this is more to do with the
 20 kinds of positions that would have been in
 21 place.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. This would be actual FTEs, right?
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. Yes.

Page 128

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. So, the previous one was actual costs.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Right.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. So, there was an actual cost difference of
 7 200,000, but there's an actual FTE increase.
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Sorry, that's right, I was getting the years
 10 mixed up. Yes, no, that's my issue. Yes,
 11 so from—why it is the minimal cost
 12 difference versus the actual FTEs, I would
 13 have to look at the overtime as well to help
 14 explain that further because there could
 15 have been an issue where we had, how we were
 16 using overtime. I would have to do a little
 17 bit of math for you to go back and forth, I
 18 think.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Would overtime be included in how you
 21 calculate FTEs?
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. No, but it's an outcome of how the work gets
 24 completed and therefore, the number of
 25 people that you have. So, if you end up,

Page 129

1 you know, having—you can control overtime by
 2 having more FTEs, obviously. So, it can be
 3 an outcome in the FTE depending on the
 4 amount of overtime that you are executing.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. And does it matter that the costs didn't
 7 include overtime, that we looked at those
 8 labour costs before and they were just
 9 straight labour costs without overtime.
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Okay. Right, so I guess is why if I had the
 12 overtime next to that, I think that would
 13 help sort of tie it together.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Okay. Alright, so for—going forward then,
 16 maybe this is a good time to take a break.
 17 MS. GLYNNE:
 18 A. Did you want to note that as an undertaking?
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. No, that's fine, I think. I'm more looking
 21 forward anyway. Maybe this is a good time,
 22 it's 11:00.
 23 (RECESS – 10:58 a.m.)
 24 (RESUME – 11:30 A.M.)
 25 CHAIR:

Page 130

1 Q. Back to you, Mr. O'Brien.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay, I think we left off, Ms. Williams,
 4 where we were talking about some of the
 5 labour costs in production department. I
 6 wonder if we could bring up—yeah, here we
 7 go, thank you. So, for the 2017 forecast
 8 we've got there, there's an increase that
 9 was forecasted 2017 up from 2016 actuals.
 10 And we see about a 1.4 million dollar
 11 increase at that point. I wonder if we
 12 could pull up Undertaking 27 again. I just
 13 want to compare that to what FTEs were
 14 there. So, in 2017 actuals you were, or
 15 sorry, forecast you were forecasting an
 16 increase of 3 there, right. Is that right,
 17 from 2016 actuals to 2017 forecast?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. Correct.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. And you actually had, 2017 you had 210. Do
 22 you know if the 2017 costs were in line with
 23 what was forecast?
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. Forecast with budget.

Page 131

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. With budget.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. No. I alluded to earlier that the budget in
 5 production was actually over budget in 2107.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. And for labour, was that inclusive of
 8 overtime?
 9 MS. WILLIAMS:
 10 A. Yes.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And do you know about labour exclusive of
 13 overtime.
 14 MS. WILLIAMS:
 15 A. I believe on a salary basis it was about
 16 800,000. I got to reconcile this in my
 17 head.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Sure, okay.
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. So, '17 budget and forecast. Yeah, I think
 22 it was similar on the salary side in '17,
 23 but over in overtime was the material
 24 component. And as I think Mr. LeBlanc
 25 mentioned tangled up a little bit -

Page 132

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Yes.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. - is some of the moves of departments
 5 throughout the organization. So,
 6 storekeepers moved from, well Mr. LeBlanc's
 7 and my department into Ms. Hutchens'
 8 department.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay.
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. And then also from Mr. LeBlanc's group into
 13 my group was the Resource and Production
 14 Planning Group. So, from a budget to an
 15 actuals perspective, it throws things off a
 16 little bit.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Okay, so that, say, 210, that forecast for
 19 2016 in 2017 you had—were you forecasting to
 20 add in people from Mr. LeBlanc's area in
 21 2017 or did they just actually come into the
 22 figured of 210?
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. So, when the forecast—I'm trying to think
 25 about the timing for a moment. The timing

Page 133

1 of the move of those folks would have been
 2 likely before the budget was created, sorry,
 3 after the budget was created and depending
 4 on the timing of this document when that
 5 forecast was created because obviously the
 6 forecast would change potentially throughout
 7 the year. So, I would have to know the
 8 timing of when this document was created and
 9 what date of the forecast it's reflecting.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Okay. And in terms of the actuals, if the
 12 actuals had gone up for 2017, you were
 13 forecasting an increase, did you know when
 14 you forecasted the increase in 2017 that you
 15 were going to have some of Mr. LeBlanc's
 16 people in your camp that were being paid for
 17 out of his budget?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. Again, I'd have to think about the timing of
 20 that forecast, but the decision to move, I
 21 think, say, the three FTEs on a go forward
 22 basis, the Resource and Production Planning
 23 Group would have been three. That occurred
 24 in spring of 2017.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 134

1 Q. Okay.
 2 MS. WILLIAMS:
 3 A. So, if this forecast, for example, depending
 4 on when the forecast was created, I'd have
 5 to know to say if that was contemplated when
 6 this forecast was done.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Okay. And if that forecast was created
 9 maybe for the filing of this test case, it's
 10 possible it was before the spring of,
 11 initially before the spring of 2017.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Yes, right, actually that's a good point.
 14 So, because I'm just thinking if this is an
 15 undertaking which was, you know, after April
 16 -
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Exactly.
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. - but it was not shaded, so therefore, that
 21 would have been done. So, yes, this
 22 forecast would have been created before that
 23 change.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Okay, alright. So, for your 2017 actual of

Page 135

1 210, you've got an increase—do you know if—
 2 you got an increase you mentioned in terms
 3 of about, was it about 800,000 in salary.
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. Eight hundred thousand lower in salaries in
 6 '16 versus '17, yes. So, yes, an
 7 \$800,000.00 increase in '17 compared to '16.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. And do you reconcile that with the fact that
 10 there was three people in, three FTEs that
 11 were being paid for out of Mr. LeBlanc's
 12 budget?
 13 MS. WILLIAMS:
 14 A. I got to think again now, comparing all
 15 these separate documents in my head. You're
 16 asking me to do math on the stand which is
 17 not a very good thing.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Find it hard enough to do off the stand.
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. Yes, I need a table to work this out. The
 22 three FTEs, you're talking about from the
 23 actual to the forecast. So, again, I'd
 24 probably have to think about what has gone
 25 on over the last number of years. Because

Page 136

1 if you go back to 2015 there's been some
 2 changes, you know, across the production
 3 groups since then. For example, the gas
 4 turbine group has been better resourced.
 5 We've added, within production, in '16, part
 6 way through '16, so therefore, for all of
 7 2017, I think it was two general managers,
 8 we've offset by the storekeepers moving out.
 9 I'm trying to recall if that was for the
 10 full year. So, you know, the actual from
 11 say, 2016 to 2017, it's a lot of moves
 12 unfortunately.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. So, when you have those moves, do you
 15 normally transfer budgets with FTEs?
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. No, we do not.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay. So, if you don't do that and you've
 20 got, say, 2016 actuals are--2017 actuals,
 21 when you prepare the two of them, you've got
 22 three less FTEs.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Yep.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 137

1 Q. You know in 2017 that Mr. LeBlanc, his group
 2 is covering the cost of three FTEs –
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. On a budget basis.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. - but they're included in his FTE count.
 7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. Yes.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Right, so really you've got 207 FTEs, is
 11 that a fair comment for –
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Again, it's part way through the year.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Because you're not paying for those FTEs in
 16 2017.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. Well, it may not be as explicit as that
 19 because again it's part way through the
 20 year. It was the intention of three
 21 positions, but that third position was only
 22 just filled literally, I think the incumbent
 23 started this week.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Okay.

Page 138

1 MS. WILLIAMS:
 2 A. So, that is sort of, generally what, you
 3 know, when you think about what the FTE
 4 translates into and the actual people in the
 5 seat. And I think on those monthly cost
 6 reviews that we do, we are very conscious of
 7 that. So, in the month—just to make up a
 8 number—in a month, say, when or in a year,
 9 if I was \$300,000.00 over on budget, it
 10 would be because I didn't have the budget
 11 for those employees that would have normally
 12 been in Ron's group. And in theory he
 13 should be \$300,000.00 under in that budget.
 14 So, in those monthly discussions that's how
 15 we're measured. We don't move the budget,
 16 but are aware of the implications.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. And I assumed that that was the case, that
 19 you wouldn't move budgets from department to
 20 department. And it may be that those three
 21 individuals were only really there part of
 22 the year.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Correct.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 139

1 Q. So, the actual labour costs to Mr. LeBlanc
 2 is not full FTE year labour costs.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Yes.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. But I still would expect that if there are
 7 three less actual FTEs in your department in
 8 2017 and whatever coverage for those three
 9 individuals that remain in Mr. LeBlanc's
 10 department are not included in your budget
 11 and your actual costs, whatever that is,
 12 shouldn't you have lower labour costs,
 13 exclusive of overtime in 2017 than your
 14 budget?
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. That's a long question. Could you, sort of,
 17 repeat that again?
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. I'm just trying to get a flavor of, sort of
 20 why your budget would increase, or not your
 21 budget, your actuals would increase in 2017
 22 compared to your budget when you've got less
 23 FTEs and Mr. LeBlanc's camp is covering the
 24 cost of some of them.
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 140

1 A. Okay. What may be complicating, the
 2 reconciliation may be complicating it, is, I
 3 believe, this file is capital and operating.
 4 And the other file that we're trying to
 5 reconcile it with on the cost, the labour
 6 side is just an operating line. So, I think
 7 that maybe complicating the reconciliation
 8 that we're trying to do.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay. And can you check in to that and let
 11 us know if that is the case?
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Yes.
 14 MS. GLYNNE:
 15 A. We'll note that as an undertaking.
 16 (11:40 a.m.)
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Were there many positions in your department
 19 eliminated in 2017?
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. 2017 we would have had the storekeepers move
 22 out, five storekeepers move out. I don't
 23 think that would be eliminated. Ms.
 24 Hutchens would have to speak to if the whole
 25 massive group, or not massive, sorry, but

Page 141

1 the whole mass group now of storekeepers,
 2 instead of it being broken into across the
 3 company, it's now one group she would have
 4 to speak to if any of those changed. We did
 5 eliminate, I think, two other positions, a
 6 planner and a millwright. And I believe I
 7 mentioned earlier we have transitioned some
 8 positions from one function to another. For
 9 example, I mentioned we changed a position
 10 into a HR professional as required. So,
 11 that is, in theory, a bit of elimination but
 12 we've recognized an appropriate need and
 13 backfilled it with something of a different
 14 sort.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. How about additions in 2017 or new
 17 positions, let's say.
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. I don't think we've had new positions in
 20 2017. I'm trying to recall.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. And maybe I can help you out. If we can
 23 pull up Undertaking 28, page 4. So, there's
 24 a bunch of positions there that are added
 25 within Hydro in 2017. And we see some

Page 142

1 reduced or eliminated, then for the last
 2 question there, are any of those positions
 3 reduced or eliminated from your department
 4 in 2017?
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. Unfortunately they're not listed by
 7 department.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. No, I know.
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. So, it makes it—and the same titles exist
 12 across the organization.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay. So, this exercise may be one in
 15 futility. 2017 the same thing, I guess, is
 16 that anything there that would be difficult
 17 for you to determine from that?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. Yeah, I would want to be accurate.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Okay. Can you give me an idea, sort of, an
 22 undertaking just to provide what was added
 23 in your department in 2017. And I'd like to
 24 know, when you go through that gating
 25 process, what was the actual business

Page 143

1 justification for adding those positions in
 2 2017.
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Correct. And it's not filling of positions;
 5 it's adding brand new positions.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Brand new positions, yeah.
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Yes, absolutely.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Not filling, but adding brand new positions.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Sure, we can do that.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Because ultimately some of them obviously
 16 didn't get filled if you got vacancies.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. Correct.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And if we go back to NP-NLH-12.
 21 MR. GLYNNE:
 22 Q. Mr. O'Brien, I'll just note that as an
 23 undertaking. That was the end of the
 24 undertaking there.
 25 (11:43 a.m.)

Page 144

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Yes.
 3 MS. GLYNNE:
 4 Q. Okay.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. So, we looked at the test year for 2018,
 7 there's an increase again in that year of
 8 1.2 million higher than what the forecast
 9 was. Do you know whether or not your—you've
 10 indicated there's a couple of million
 11 dollars in the difference, is there, in
 12 terms of where your labour—where would you
 13 labour costs have come in terms of your 2017
 14 forecast versus 2017 actuals?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. And you know when I certainly review
 17 everything in general, I look at overtime as
 18 integral with the salaries because that's
 19 how we function.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yeah.
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. So, you know, this is presented in this
 24 manner and labour is—sorry, it's just
 25 operating obviously. So, it doesn't have

Page 145

1 any of the capital charges that we would
 2 have and it wouldn't have the overtime. But
 3 on a '17 actual to '17 budget perspective,
 4 we were over budget, I believe it was close
 5 to two million, mostly on the labour side.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Yes.
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. And it was heavily in the overtime.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. It was heavily in the overtime, okay.
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. Which is why I really focussing on overtime
 14 in 2018.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Okay. So, in terms of salary and I'm just
 17 sort of getting back in my mind, this was
 18 the, sort of, non-overtime, sort of, just
 19 straight labour related costs of, was it
 20 about 800,000.00 that you were above in
 21 salaries? Is that the figure you're giving
 22 me?
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. Correct, on the '16/'17 basis.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 146

1 Q. Okay. And so we're looking at maybe 22
 2 million there in the 27 actuals, in that
 3 range?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. I think if the '16 actual number is correct,
 6 then again –
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Oh, so '16 to '17 on forecast.
 9 MS. WILLIAMS:
 10 A. Right. Now, again, my review is salary
 11 generally. It's not just this operating
 12 line. So, I'm a bit –
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. So, your salary would actually have been
 15 below your 2017 forecast; it's just your
 16 overtime would have been above.
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. I want to say yes, but I can't say that for
 19 sure because again, what's included here is
 20 not everything that when I manage salary
 21 budget, you look at all the line items, but
 22 it's on a rolled basis, as opposed to, you
 23 know, one salary in the line because I don't
 24 find that very helpful for me because I
 25 needed to know, you know, when somebody

Page 147

1 works from 8 to 4 and then they work from 4
 2 to 5, that's part of the job they're doing
 3 and I need to know how the work is going
 4 generally. So, you know, excluding overtime
 5 from my analysis, I personally don't find
 6 helpful.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. You're managing the whole thing as you go
 9 forward.
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. Yes, absolutely.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Okay. And we're going to get an update on
 14 this one for actuals anyway, so we'll see
 15 that. And into 2018 the actual salaries
 16 are—when you prepared the 2018 test year and
 17 2019 test year, the salaries are roughly the
 18 same there. Would there have been a
 19 concerted effort to reduce overtime and
 20 include that in a salary?
 21 (11:45 a.m.)
 22 MS. WILLIAMS:
 23 A. I think, I don't recall exactly what Ms.
 24 Dalley testified to, but I believe in the
 25 evidence it talks about exactly how the

Page 148

1 salaries would have been done and increases
 2 and those sorts of things. So, I wouldn't
 3 want to venture too far into re-testifying
 4 to that. But again, not included on this
 5 file is an interest and I believe the
 6 numbers would reflect on the overtime line a
 7 reduction in the 2018 and '19 test year in
 8 overtime.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And I'll take you through that too, but I
 11 thank you for that. Can we pull up
 12 Undertaking 27 again? So, in 2018 test year
 13 your forecast, your FTEs are forecast to go
 14 from 210 actuals to 216 in the 2018 test
 15 year and the 2019 test year. Have you added
 16 any positions, not FTEs, but positions in
 17 2018?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. No, I believe the level of 216, sorry, 216
 20 for the next two test years does not reflect
 21 the negotiated 55 vacancy rate. And –
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. It wouldn't, no, I would think.
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. Right, I expect and I understand that the

Page 149

1 production group, just due to the size, Mr.
 2 LeBlanc would probably have a similar
 3 impact, I think. So, for those 55 FTEs that
 4 we now have to absorb across the
 5 organization, I think production, we end up
 6 getting three to four FTEs. So, that number
 7 will be lower in the production group.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Okay.
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. And also this here is, I think, capital and
 12 operating. So, it's FTEs generally however
 13 for all the work we execute.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Okay. So, it includes all of it. Okay.
 16 So, had there been, until settlement of the
 17 vacancy or the 55 vacancies, what had been
 18 the plan for production for adding FTEs or
 19 adding positions in 2108? What was the
 20 initial plan?
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. I believe what we intended to do was to try
 23 to hold our positions flat. Again, through
 24 achieving as much as you can on a management
 25 basis, go forward with regard to the gating

Page 150

1 sessions that we undertake. So, that
 2 reflects a whole (phonetic) flat concept,
 3 but knowing that we got to do everything we
 4 can to manage the business and manage how we
 5 execute better. So, -
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. How does that reconcile with the 210 then if
 8 you're going to add six?
 9 MS. WILLIAMS:
 10 A. That's on an actual basis.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Yeah.
 13 MS. WILLIAMS:
 14 A. And so the forecast would have been put in
 15 before the actuals were completed.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Okay. So you were going to add three from
 18 the 2016 actual to -
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. Right, in 2017 we would have been
 21 experiencing fairly significant turnover in
 22 the Holyrood department. And you know,
 23 certainly employees as that plant is
 24 approaching end of life, there's a level of
 25 uncertainty with the employees that are out

Page 151

1 there. So, we've had to spend a lot of time
 2 and attention with stabilizing that
 3 workforce just to make sure we can keep
 4 Holyrood functioning as good as can be
 5 expected and obviously keeping the workforce
 6 stable. So, in 2017 we would have been
 7 experiencing, in that turnover, that would
 8 have been what we were feeling and
 9 witnessing. And so a forecast of and even
 10 into the future test years, we wouldn't have
 11 been planning to do any kinds of changes or
 12 reductions in any of the departments. The
 13 same thing on the gas turbines, we wouldn't
 14 have been planning on doing any reductions
 15 in that area as well. And with regards to
 16 the '13 to the '16, it's likely a reflection
 17 of position that were unfilled because—as
 18 opposed to a planned introduction of new
 19 positions.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. So, going forward right now for 2018 and
 22 2019 you don't intend, in production, to add
 23 any FTEs above the 210 that we see in the
 24 actual?
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 152

1 A. We don't intend to add any new positions.
 2 What will result on an actual basis will be
 3 what we can achieve through our hiring.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay.
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. So, we don't intend to add any new
 8 positions.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Do you intend to any new FTEs?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. So, I guess FTEs are -
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Different—yeah.
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. - talking about people versus—yeah. We will
 17 fill the positions as required from an FTE
 18 perspective and do our best to manage that,
 19 but we don't intend to add any new
 20 positions.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Okay.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. It doesn't mean that we would not. If a
 25 position - I'll use an example. Last year

Page 153

1 in the Hydro Generation group, we had three
 2 supervisors of the operations across the
 3 organization and one person was retiring and
 4 so, what we did was we tried and are trying
 5 to manage with two supervisors, so
 6 reallocating that. So, you know, the
 7 intention is not to add any new positions,
 8 but where we can, we will look to combine
 9 roles or again, try to change roles, and I
 10 believe, same thing that we did at Holyrood
 11 with regard to changing a position from a
 12 technical role into a HR role. That's been
 13 the right decision. Based on that decision,
 14 we're going to use an FTE and kind of make
 15 up for it somewhere in the company and put a
 16 position now in central to help Mr. LeBlanc
 17 and I similarly on a HR side, you know, to
 18 help with some of the programs that we need
 19 out there, the attendance management
 20 programs that we need, say with the Bay
 21 D'Espoir group and Ron's group, Mr.
 22 LeBlanc's group. So, we will continue to do
 23 those sorts of things. So, it's not really
 24 adding – that could be called adding a new
 25 position. It's really trading off an

Page 154

1 existing position for something else.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay. And you don't intend to add any
 4 positions in the '19 test year, do you?
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. No.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. And I'd asked earlier just about some – with
 9 Mr. LeBlanc about any sort of measures from
 10 a salary perspective, red circling or
 11 anything like that. Does any of that affect
 12 your department as well?
 13 MS. WILLIAMS:
 14 A. It does.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. And when would those decisions have been
 17 made to do that?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. That was, I think, a joint effort between
 20 Nalcor and Hydro.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Yeah.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. And that would have been – I think there was
 25 a lot of work gone – working on that say

Page 155

1 through this year and it would have been
 2 ruled out within the last couple of months.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Okay. And do you expect that to have any
 5 effect on say 2019 test year?
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. No. I think it's – as Mr. LeBlanc
 8 mentioned, I think the – and I would prefer
 9 that the evidence says, I think it's
 10 included in there exactly what's included in
 11 the salary forecast from a percent increase
 12 basis and whatever was negotiated, I think
 13 we also didn't want to speak to that because
 14 it could impair negotiations. But I don't
 15 anticipate a significant change. Obviously,
 16 I believe anybody who's moving through their
 17 scale, so if somebody was hired into the
 18 company and is at 80 percent, those folks
 19 aren't being red-circled. So, people will
 20 still continue to move through the scale.
 21 So, to the extent that that occurs and
 22 exists, that will still work through. But
 23 that should have been included in the '19
 24 test year anyway.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 156

1 Q. Okay. So, would any increases in say the
 2 2019 labour costs be more inflationary than
 3 anything? If we go back to NP-12,
 4 Attachment 1, there's some minor increase
 5 there from 2018 to 2019 of about 300,000.
 6 Is that sort of inflationary?
 7 MS. WILLIAMS:
 8 A. I think. I'd have to see the full – make
 9 sure there's no footnotes or anything,
 10 please. Okay. It doesn't say it
 11 specifically, but again, I believe that a
 12 lot of the changes are what I've just
 13 referenced, sort of, you know, people moving
 14 through scales, if there was any negotiated
 15 agreements, those sorts of things, yeah.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Okay. All right. Move to you, Mr.
 18 Gardiner, I guess, in terms of Engineering
 19 Services and Information and Operations
 20 Technology. Engineering Services from 2016,
 21 there's a reduction there from the 2015
 22 actual of about 800,000. I think you kind
 23 of touched on that earlier, but was there
 24 movement into Nalcor in that year from FTEs
 25 or positions?

Page 157

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. From?
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. For 2016 actual from Engineering is down by
 5 about 800,000 from 2015 actual. Do you know
 6 what that was associated with?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. From the actuals?
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Yeah.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. That would be associated with – if you look
 13 at the '16 actuals of 1.15.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Yeah.
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. You will see that in '16, we had more
 18 capital recovery.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Okay.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. Because if you look at the – this salary is
 23 the bottom line salary that includes capital
 24 recovery as well.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 158

1 Q. Uh-hm.
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. We would have had more capital recovery
 4 which would have associated with about –
 5 there's an additional probably five or six
 6 hundred thousand dollars capital recovery
 7 that we did get in '16 versus '15. That's
 8 correct, yeah.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. That's really where the –
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. There's a reduction in FTE's in that year
 15 too, I think, if we go to Undertaking 27,
 16 for engineering services?
 17 MR. GARDINER:
 18 A. Yeah, that's correct.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Yeah, so we went down from 82 to 78. Was
 21 that any particular area or was that just a
 22 net reduction?
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. That was just a net difference. As well as
 25 we – you know, both in '15 and '16, we did

Page 159

1 have a higher vacancy than we would have
 2 liked, and so we'll speak to that too in '16
 3 as well.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. So the capitalization of labour cost, I
 6 assume that it happens a bit more in
 7 engineering services than in other
 8 departments, is that right?
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Yes, I would think so.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And you go into 2017, if we go back to NP
 13 12, Attachment 1, there's an increase back
 14 up then for forecast?
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. That's correct.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Right, of 13 – 1.3 million?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. That's correct.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. What was the reason for that forecast
 23 increase, do you recall?
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. We would have been baselining our budget

Page 160

1 based on what we thought was coming forward.
 2 In 2017, we would have seen some more
 3 supplementals come in and additional capital
 4 recharge as well. We did actually have more
 5 recharge than what we anticipated at that
 6 time.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. What do you mean by that?
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Well, it would have been in '17 – just get
 11 my numbers straight now and make sure of the
 12 date. So in '17, we forecast it up, but
 13 then we ended up with more capital work to
 14 do. One of the things we did do was TL 267.
 15 We changed the in service date from 2018
 16 back to 2017.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Uh-hm.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. That was done. We advised the Board, I
 21 believe, in July that that was going to be
 22 the case.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Yeah.
 25 MR. GARDINER:

Page 161

1 A. So there was more capital recharge
2 associated with that and that had an impact,
3 on other jobs as well.
4 MR. O'BRIEN:
5 Q. When you say "capital recharge", do you hire
6 more employees at that time, or do you –
7 like, how does that work? Is it more
8 capitalized – less capitalized labour? I'm
9 just trying to get a flavour of what that
10 means.
11 MR. GARDINER:
12 A. So what would happen is that we would do a
13 work plan at the beginning of the year, and
14 we would associate so much for engineering
15 standards and distribution, and sometimes
16 when things come on us, we have to
17 reallocate our resources from time to time.
18 MR. O'BRIEN:
19 Q. Okay.
20 MR. GARDINER:
21 A. And that was part of the case for what we
22 did see, an increase in capital recharge,
23 and it did reflect in our forecast that we
24 went up, and our actual, in fact, was lower
25 than the forecast.

Page 162

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
2 Q. What was your actual, do you recall?
3 MR. GARDINER:
4 A. Close to 1.4 million dollars, 1.354.
5 MR. O'BRIEN:
6 Q. Okay, so it wasn't far off what your actual
7 for 2016 was?
8 MR. GARDINER:
9 A. Well, '16 was 1.15, and we went up around
10 \$200,000.00, 1.354.
11 MR. O'BRIEN:
12 Q. All right.
13 MR. GARDINER:
14 A. That's subject to check, but that's my
15 calculation.
16 MR. O'BRIEN:
17 Q. Yeah, okay, and we'll see that. We'll get
18 the actuals when we get the report update.
19 MR. GARDINER:
20 A. Yeah.
21 MR. O'BRIEN:
22 Q. Okay.
23 MR. GARDINER:
24 A. Yeah, we can certainly do that, and that's
25 for salaries.

Page 163

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
2 Q. Yeah.
3 MR. GARDINER:
4 A. And that's exclusive of, say, recharge.
5 MR. O'BRIEN:
6 Q. If we go to Undertaking 27, there was an
7 actual increase of FTE's in that year, I
8 think, as well, about 8 there?
9 MR. GARDINER:
10 A. Yeah.
11 (12:00 p.m.)
12 MR. O'BRIEN:
13 Q. So that would, I guess, had accounted for
14 some of that cost, is that right?
15 MR. GARDINER:
16 A. That's correct.
17 MR. O'BRIEN:
18 Q. And those FTE's, those individuals, or those
19 FTE's, I should say, rather than positions,
20 would they have come from other Nalcor
21 entities?
22 MR. GARDINER:
23 A. Yes. If you go to PUB-NLH-33, that shows
24 the net impact of what FTE's were
25 transferred from Nalcor into Hydro.

Page 164

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
2 Q. Okay, maybe we can bring that up, PUB-NLH-
3 33.
4 MR. GARDINER:
5 A. Sure, that would be good, that would be
6 helpful.
7 MR. O'BRIEN:
8 Q. So we're 2017. So if we scroll down the
9 next page, I guess, we'll find those, will
10 we?
11 MR. GARDINER:
12 A. There you go, thank you. If you look at
13 engineering services, you will see that
14 there were 12 new FTE's that were added in
15 2017. As part of the reorganization and
16 having Hydro separated from the regulated to
17 the unregulated assets in 2016, in June of
18 2016 when that mandate was given to Hydro,
19 there was a committee struck and it was
20 looked at. The basis was, in particular for
21 engineering, and for all lines of business,
22 around the same lines of business for all
23 divisions, that they would look at who is
24 doing work for Hydro exclusively and who is
25 doing work for Nalcor exclusively. So

Page 165

1 engineering, we did a study and we looked at
 2 – you know, because formerly before that, we
 3 were project execution and technical
 4 services, and we had one engineering team
 5 that looked after all of Nalcor. The Vice
 6 President of Engineering was, in fact, a
 7 Nalcor VP. So at the time when I was the
 8 manager, I did work for Nalcor VP.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Right.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. When the change was made in '16 when we got
 13 new leadership at Nalcor, we were given the
 14 mandate to make Hydro a more autonomous
 15 independent regulated utility and manage
 16 those assets in and of itself, and what we
 17 did in engineering, we looked at exactly
 18 that, what FTE's do we need to service the
 19 regulated assets. We looked at what was
 20 previously done in the number of years in
 21 project execution and technical services,
 22 and we determined that there were 10 FTE's
 23 or positions that were doing work for Hydro
 24 exclusively and that if we were to become an
 25 autonomous engineering department servicing

Page 166

1 Hydro only, that those 10 FTE's were
 2 required to transfer from Nalcor into Hydro,
 3 and there are 10 positions that are listed
 4 there with the exception of reliability
 5 engineer, and there were two reliability
 6 engineers. So when we looked at – I know
 7 your question is what was from Nalcor to
 8 Hydro, but it's a good time to talk about
 9 those additional –
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Yeah, I'd like to get an idea, just sort of
 12 the business idea behind each one of these,
 13 if you can?
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. Right. So each one of the ten were
 16 transferred because they were doing work for
 17 Hydro, but they resided in Nalcor.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. So this list here under engineering
 20 services, there looks to be more than 10.
 21 Which ones would be the 10 you're talking
 22 about?
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. Okay, if you look at – sorry, get my
 25 engineering hat on now. So if you look at

Page 167

1 the top line where the break says “Manager
 2 of Information System and Operation
 3 Technology”, we can talk about that when we
 4 go to Information, Operation and Technology,
 5 okay.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Oh, I see, yeah, got you.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. Sorry about that.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. No, no, that's okay. I understand now,
 12 because you've got two hats.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. I do.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. So the engineering services starts with
 17 manager of technical services down to
 18 mechanical engineer?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. That's correct, those were the FTE's that
 21 were transferred from Nalcor.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. All right, got you.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. As well in '16, when we talked about my role

Page 168

1 in terms of what was expected and how we
 2 would service the regulated side of the
 3 business, one of the things that we did talk
 4 about - myself and the President, we talked
 5 about it, and we went through the gating
 6 session as well.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Okay.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Were reliability engineers, system
 11 performance engineers. We felt that that
 12 was a – hesitant to say “gap”, but there was
 13 some things that probably weren't being done
 14 that needed to be done. So we justified
 15 adding two reliability system performance
 16 engineers. So that was also in our budget
 17 going forward in '17, and they're in the
 18 test year, as well as '18 and '19. We did
 19 hire one reliability assistant performance
 20 engineer around mid '17, because part of the
 21 gating session was – you know, the number
 22 that I came up with was two. I had the
 23 justification there, and at the executive
 24 level we talked about how we would – you
 25 know, whether we needed two, or did we need

Page 169

1 three, or did we need four. I'm just
 2 relaying the conversations that we did have.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. I understand, yeah.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. So we looked at it. So we hired one mid
 7 2017, and so that worked out. We tracked it.
 8 We have a tracking system. We look at all
 9 of the outages that happen, all the system
 10 events that happen, whether it's ice
 11 bridging that happens on 267 and we have a
 12 short outage, and we determine that that's
 13 the case, we look at the settings, we do all
 14 of that. So we looked at that. We were
 15 tracking it, we were providing the service
 16 to the rest of Hydro, as well as they're
 17 involved with any investigations that happen
 18 and they lead most of the investigations.
 19 One of the things that we're going to is
 20 more thorough investigations using TapRoot.
 21 This team owns that. They will lead that.
 22 That's what they do. So in '17, we hired
 23 one and we found that the workload – so we
 24 would track it, and we decided when we
 25 looked at it – as an executive team, we

Page 170

1 looked at it in consultation with the
 2 President, that we would – in fact, we did
 3 need two. So this year, we did hire – two
 4 months ago, actually, we hired the second
 5 reliability engineer. So that person is on
 6 working now as well. So change in FTE's
 7 were 10 that came from Nalcor to Hydro, and
 8 two new that we added.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. What were the two new ones?
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. The reliability engineers.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay, and you've mentioned the reliability
 15 engineers. Both those positions have been
 16 filled?
 17 MR. GARDINER:
 18 A. Correct.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Are all the other positions filled?
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. Yes, they are.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Okay, and they all came from Nalcor?
 25 MR. GARDINER:

Page 171

1 A. That's correct.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. And in terms of – I get the business
 4 justification behind the reliability
 5 engineers. The rest of them, when they go
 6 through their gating process, what sort of
 7 business justification beyond separation of
 8 Nalcor and Hydro did you –
 9 MR. GARDONER:
 10 A. What we did as part of the – sorry, I didn't
 11 mean to interrupt you, sorry.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. No, no, that's okay.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. The reliability engineers went through the
 16 gating process. The 10 transfers from
 17 Nalcor to Hydro were part of the
 18 reorganization work that was done.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Okay.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. And the team that was put together. Various
 23 divisions or parts of Nalcor were involved
 24 in that, and they looked at what was the
 25 right numbers to come back. So what

Page 172

1 happened is those positions didn't actually
 2 formerly go to the gating section, they were
 3 presented to the Board of Directors and to
 4 the President and to the executive as those
 5 that were doing work that were residing in
 6 Nalcor that needed to be brought back into
 7 Hydro, or brought to Hydro. So there was an
 8 analysis done and that analysis formed the
 9 basis of why those 10 FTE's were being
 10 transferred from Nalcor to Hydro.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And do any of those positions perform work
 13 for Nalcor affiliates since the transfer?
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. They do not, they do not.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Okay.
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. At least, not that I know of, no, they do
 20 not.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. We're counting up.
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. No, that's okay. I hope so, they better be.
 25 That's what I counted.

Page 173

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Gerard thinks there's 11 here.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. Wait now.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. I didn't do my calculation. Quality
 7 assurance.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. I get 10.
 10 MR. HAYES:
 11 Q. The two protection and control engineers.
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. Yeah, but that's okay. One, two, three,
 14 four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, ten.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. That might be one. So Manager, Protection
 17 and Control Communications Engineering is
 18 one?
 19 MR. HAYES:
 20 Q. Oh, I see.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. Control engineer is one position, yes.
 23 MR. HAYES:
 24 Q. I got you.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 174

1 Q. Okay.
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. Now she does the work of two people, but we
 4 can't count that as FTE's.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Okay. So if we go back to Undertaking 27,
 7 there's a footnote down there, Footnote 4?
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. That's correct.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And that talks - I think that deals with
 12 that year about network services transferred
 13 from transmission -
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. Information and Operations Technology as
 16 well, yes, that's correct.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Yeah, okay. So is that part of the FTE
 19 increase that we see there for 2016/2017?
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. In Information Operation Technology?
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Yeah.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. That's correct, from -

Page 175

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Different areas?
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. Okay, sure. So you're asking the question
 5 from '16?
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. I'm sorry, I got the wrong footnote. That's
 8 for Information Operations and Technology,
 9 right?
 10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. Yes, that's correct.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. All right. Okay, your 2017 actuals for
 14 labour, you indicated, I think, there around
 15 1.4, is that right?
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. That's correct.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. So if we go back to NP-12, Attachment 1,
 20 again, your forecast was 2.4?
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. That's correct.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Your forecast for 2018 is at 2.7. Do you
 25 expect to be in line with that versus the

Page 176

1 1.4 for 2017 actuals? You're at a 1.3
 2 million dollar increase.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. That's correct, I do.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. You do?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. I do.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And if we bring up Undertaking 27, there
 11 looks to be a significant increase in FTE's
 12 forecast from 2017 to 2018, up to 98, 12
 13 more. So in what areas do you expect those
 14 to be?
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. As you know, the NP-12 is net.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Yeah.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. It includes capital.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Okay.
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. So in the - no, these are FTE's?
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 177

1 Q. Yeah.
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. Okay, good. Sorry about that.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. That's okay.
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. I was getting confused between the two
 8 numbers.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. So the –
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. If we go back to the '18 test year, and '17
 13 test year, and we look at what happened in
 14 '16, if you look at the gap in '16.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Right.
 17 MR. GARDINER:
 18 A. So when we built our budget in 2018, we
 19 built it on having what I would consider to
 20 be home-based FTE's. We would consider that
 21 to be of a normal vacancy rate that we
 22 looked at, and it was 40 that we based it
 23 on, and as Ms. Williams, Vice President of
 24 Production, indicated, we'll see where we go
 25 with the 55. So when we built that budget,

Page 178

1 we were considering that our home-based
 2 FTE's were, in fact, full, and if you go
 3 back to '16, in '16 we had 17 vacancies,
 4 people that we couldn't hire because of the
 5 aggressive management on gating sessions.
 6 There were things that we should have been
 7 doing that we weren't doing. These are
 8 engineers; mechanical, electrical,
 9 protection and control engineers, that we
 10 didn't have on our bench. We were having
 11 some extraordinary capital years in terms of
 12 '16 and '17 with TL 267 coming in, the CT
 13 that was there, 266 that we're completing
 14 and hopefully energizing this week, so we
 15 were down on vacancies. That wasn't
 16 sustainable. So, of course, when we did the
 17 budget, we went to the executive, we talked
 18 about the gating sessions, we talked about
 19 that these positions were required. They
 20 were there in the past. If you look at the
 21 test year, you know, in – they were always
 22 part of our test year and our budget. So we
 23 didn't fill them. We should have filled
 24 them. So when we went from '16 into '17, we
 25 made some progress. Now in '17, we brought

Page 179

1 the 10 FTE's back from Nalcor into Hydro.
 2 We hired or we justified two system
 3 performance reliability engineers. I call
 4 them "system performance" because when I
 5 first started with Hydro they were called
 6 "system performance engineers", and that's
 7 the same function that they do today. So we
 8 were filling vacancies as we were going, as
 9 we were building, but we didn't get all the
 10 way there. In '17, our vacancy rate was –
 11 even though we had 12 new FTE's that we were
 12 adding, and some of them that transferred
 13 were in the seats at the time, and then we
 14 had – so we ended up with a 9 vacancy at the
 15 end of that year, and so we did – and these
 16 positions that we were adding, we're adding
 17 throughout the year as well. You just don't
 18 start on January 1st and say, okay,
 19 everybody's got a job because you want to
 20 make sure through the HR process you get the
 21 right people that you need to put in those
 22 seats. So when we went to '17 – so we made
 23 some progress. From what we had in '16,
 24 other than the 10 FTE's that we transferred
 25 and the two new system performance

Page 180

1 reliability engineers, there were no new
 2 FTE's that we added. They were the
 3 positions that were there previously that
 4 they had left, that they weren't able to
 5 fill for various reasons going from '15 to
 6 '16. So what you're seeing here now is that
 7 we're getting back to where we should be,
 8 what I believe, and the budget that we
 9 presented in '18 has our positions filled in
 10 our home-base.
 11 (12:15 p.m.)
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. So your 2018 right now, you've got accounted
 14 for in your budget for 98 FTE's?
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. No. In our budget today, this is net.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Okay, and it's net of?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. In my home-base FTE's, and I'm sorry to keep
 21 going from net to home-base.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. That's okay.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. I like operating – because I know that the

Page 181

1 position is there and how we fill that
 2 position. You know, if there's a three week
 3 or a four week gap, well, then that's a
 4 vacancy, whatever, that's just the normal
 5 progress. Right now if you look at what
 6 we've done traditionally, we've had in
 7 engineering services over the years has been
 8 91 FTE home-base. Our home-base budget that
 9 this was done on right now is 103, and then
 10 there's a normal vacancy that we looked at
 11 were you accounted for about 4.6 vacancies,
 12 so that we ended up with about 98. It's
 13 probably 98.2, I'm not exactly sure of the
 14 number, Mr. O'Brien.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. So this is net of your home-base, so your
 17 home-base would be?
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. Approximately 103.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Right, so you've got a built in vacancy of
 22 five?
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. Yes, I think that's what it is. These are
 25 numbers that we work back – you know,

Page 182

1 Finance helps us with and HR looks at, and
 2 then we take those numbers.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. So when you budgeted for 2018 then, you had
 5 a home-base of 103, with an expected vacancy
 6 of 5, something along that line?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. Exactly. Yes, that's correct. I believe
 9 that's correct.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And did you add any positions in 2018?
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. Yes.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. You did, and what positions did you add?
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. I talked about earlier, when we talked about
 18 contractors, and embedded contractors, what
 19 we did in '17 – I mean, we looked at our
 20 capital program. It was very high. I'm not
 21 sure exact numbers, but we looked at how we
 22 were performing work. I mean, ideally you
 23 want Hydro employees trained. All the
 24 information that they gather, they have
 25 careers in the utility, much the same as I

Page 183

1 did. So we looked at what work we were
 2 putting out the door, and we did have a very
 3 high capital program in '17 as well as '16.
 4 It's becoming more normalized and we're
 5 hoping to file that in the next couple of
 6 weeks where we are. We're very conscious of
 7 that, very conscious of that. So what we
 8 did is we looked at what is the right number
 9 to have on our bench. We didn't want to
 10 continue to – you're always going to have to
 11 source out some of your work to contractors
 12 and maybe embed some of them. So we did a
 13 study, looked at what positions were key and
 14 critical, what people weren't on our bench
 15 that were doing key and critical work. So
 16 we looked at that, and we came up with a
 17 case. We went to the gating session and we
 18 had a discussion of what would be the right
 19 numbers to add on our bench as permanent FTE
 20 employees. I guess, that's the right term.
 21 I call them employees, or engineers. That
 22 number we looked at was 11. I mentioned
 23 that earlier. Now given the –
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. That's for 2018, right?

Page 184

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. Pardon?
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. That's for 2018?
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. For 2018, that's correct. However, they're
 7 not reflective in here.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Okay.
 10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. Now one of the things that we committed to
 12 the Board is that we would not increase
 13 Hydro's overall FTE's. We said we wouldn't
 14 do that as an executive. We would not do
 15 that, and as a matter of fact, we're seeing
 16 in the settlement that we went from 40 to
 17 55. So what we did, as Ms. Williams
 18 mentioned before, and Mr. LeBlanc, we looked
 19 at was it beneficial to add these FTE's,
 20 should we have them on our bench, and if we
 21 were, which we decided to do, we had to find
 22 those FTE's at other places. There were
 23 some FTE's that, you know, had to be in
 24 production, or in T & D, and even within,
 25 you know, some of the vacant positions that

Page 185

1 we would have had in engineering that may
 2 have been filled before. So throughout
 3 Hydro, we felt that it was the right
 4 decision to make and we added those 11 FTE's
 5 and they came into the engineering group in
 6 2018. We did the work to hire them or to
 7 justify them in 2017, and we're pretty well
 8 through the hiring process now, and those 11
 9 FTE's are on our bench now.

10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. So those 11 FTE's, you've indicated that
 12 Hydro has given – I guess, taken the
 13 position they're not going to add any FTE's
 14 in the 2018 and 2019. Those 11 FTE's there
 15 wouldn't be reflected in test year cost for
 16 2018 and 2019, but you'd have a savings from
 17 capital cost, is that right?

18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. Yes, I agree, yeah. I believe at the time
 20 when we did – we had to take like for like.
 21 We looked at an embedded contractor that was
 22 on our bench, say maybe he was doing
 23 mechanical work. So, we would say that if
 24 we had that – if we had an FTE doing that
 25 same work, what would the cost to Hydro be

Page 186

1 versus what would the cost that we would put
 2 out the door in terms of a capital cost, and
 3 that cost came to about 15 percent less we
 4 could have that person on our bench. And
 5 once again, you know, a lot of this, a lot
 6 of these people that we're adding, the 11,
 7 will be in support of our capital program
 8 going forward.

9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay.

11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. And the benefit, of course, for that is that
 13 you get an experienced engineer on our
 14 bench, whether it's mechanical, particularly
 15 protection and control engineer, that you
 16 need those people so that when things in the
 17 operating world go not as they should, you
 18 know – I look at, you know, when we did
 19 TL267, you know, the amount of protection
 20 and control and settings that had to be done
 21 to make that line work from Bay D'Espoir
 22 into western Avalon. What we tried to do
 23 there was get our own people to do what I
 24 consider to be critical work, the relay
 25 settings, adding the panels. We have a new

Page 187

1 GIS system that we put in western Avalon.
 2 There's only one other that we have in Cat
 3 Arm. So, we needed to have our people there
 4 to do that. I don't subscribe to having key
 5 critical work such as that being done by
 6 contractors that at the end of the day, when
 7 it's up, they walk out the door. But we
 8 also have to be prudent in our cost
 9 management. We also have to have – make
 10 sure that we're doing the right work with
 11 our people. I mean, you know, when you look
 12 at a capital program of 340 million dollars,
 13 we cannot have enough people on our bench to
 14 do all of that work.

15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. It was the – I guess the business case for
 17 that, those 11 FTEs, is related to getting
 18 rid of some embedded contractor work and
 19 that'll save Hydro a bit of money? That's
 20 kind of the business case for that?

21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. Absolutely. And looking forward to our
 23 capital program, what we feel we need in the
 24 future so that we won't be hiring embedded
 25 contractors or contractors to do some of our

Page 188

1 key and critical work.

2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Right.

4 MR. GARDINER:
 5 A. That's correct.

6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. So, in the 2018 test year there where you
 8 got 98, those embedded contractors, that's
 9 not reflected in that 98?

10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. It is not. No, that was the – I guess this
 12 was put forward to the Board and this was
 13 done, as I say, the justification that we
 14 looked at was done in late 2017.

15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Okay. And just if we could flip back to NP-
 17 NLH-12, Attachment 1. This looks as though
 18 you've got an increase in actuals of about
 19 12 from 2017 for FTEs. But from 2017 to
 20 2018 test year, there doesn't appear to be a
 21 lot of increase in costs on this document.
 22 There only seems to be about 3,000. But in
 23 fact, from based on what you testified
 24 earlier, I think it's 1.4 was what your 2017
 25 actual. So, that's -

Page 189

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. That's correct. And that was for –
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. So, that's where you get the 12 sort of?
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. That's right. We were hoping to fill those
 7 FTEs, but as we continued down cost
 8 constraint and having people in and getting
 9 through the gating session, it took time and
 10 you know, it's a – you know, eight to ten
 11 people to hire and to justify. You know,
 12 the gating sessions are very serious. They
 13 – you know, you need to be aware and justify
 14 why you need those positions.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. And your 2018 test year to 2019, you've got
 17 an increase there.
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. That's mostly -
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. But the FTEs are the same.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. That's correct and most of that is with -
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Why is that?

Page 190

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. - increases in salary, merit and different
 3 things like that and fringe and group
 4 insurance. But, for the most part, all of
 5 our other costs remain the same.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Okay. And are you affected – do you expect
 8 to be – that 2019 year when you say
 9 increases in salary, any red circling
 10 measures would affect that figure, that 2019
 11 figure?
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. No, the same as Mr. LeBlanc and Ms.
 14 Williams. The red circling are at the
 15 current salaries that we now have. So, I
 16 don't think that there would be – and most
 17 of those people would have been at the top
 18 of their scale and there was some changes in
 19 scale, so I wouldn't expect to see very much
 20 savings to that, no.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Okay.
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. Certainly on a go-forward basis after.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 191

1 Q. And for Information Technology then.
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. Okay.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Information and Operations Technology, I
 6 guess, that's in your purview as well?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. It is.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. So, on this one, there's a big reduction in
 11 2015 to 2016 actuals.
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. That's correct.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. At 3.8 million, I believe. If we flip to
 16 Undertaking 27, looks like there's a
 17 significant reduction in FTEs. That's what
 18 we talked about earlier. 57 down to 15.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. That's correct.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. So, I guess that would cover off a fair bit
 23 of that 3.8 million dollar decrease?
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Yes, it would.

Page 192

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. And that footnote 4, the network services
 3 transferred from Transmission operations to
 4 Engineering. Would that make up the bulk of
 5 that FTE transfer?
 6 MR. GARDINER:
 7 A. From?
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. From 2015 to 2016, footnote 4 there says
 10 "Network Services transfer from Transmission
 11 operations to Engineering Services". So,
 12 that would have increased the FTEs, would
 13 it, in Information operations? Oh no, it's
 14 Engineering Services, sorry. Okay.
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. If you look at – are you talking – go ahead,
 17 sorry.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Yeah, I'm on the wrong footnote again. So,
 20 57 to 15, you've got a reduction there.
 21 What's that associated with in FTEs from '15
 22 to '16?
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. Okay. Previous in 2015, what would have
 25 happened is that IS Services, Information

Page 193

1 System Services, would have resided in Hydro
 2 in 2015.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Right, yeah.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. In 2015, there was a decision made
 7 corporately by Nalcor that – in conjunction
 8 with, I guess, the admin fee and providing
 9 shared services – that IS Services would
 10 move from Hydro out into Nalcor.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And I think there was about 41 or 42 or
 13 something FTEs, in that range, right?
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. I believe so, yeah. I believe so. And I
 16 mean, they're listed in -
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. There's another RFI there, I believe, lists
 19 them out.
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. Yeah, that's right. That's correct. And
 22 they're listed in the PUB-33, the ones that
 23 – actually, PUB -
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. PUB-54, is it?

Page 194

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. PUB-30.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Oh, 33.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. PUB-30, it shows the number that went from
 7 Hydro to Nalcor.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. And from 2016 onto 2017, there was a
 10 forecast increase of 13. Do you know what
 11 that was associated with?
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. Yes. Just two seconds. I do know, I just
 14 got to make sure I tell it to you correctly.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Because it doesn't seem to have come –
 17 there's only an increase of five there.
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. Okay. So, from – you're talking about from-
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. From 2016 actual to 2017 forecast, it looks
 22 like there was a plan to almost double what
 23 was there in 2016.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Right, yes, okay. As part of the – that's

Page 195

1 right. So, the 57 represents when IS was in
 2 Hydro and then '16 actuals – and if you look
 3 at footnote No. 4, Network Services were
 4 transitioned from Transmission Operations to
 5 Engineering Services as part of the
 6 reorganization.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Yeah.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. So, that's restated. Those are the FTEs
 11 that were taken out of TRO and put into
 12 Engineering Services.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay.
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. Those transfers actually physically happened
 17 or on the books in 2017. So, the other
 18 thing that happened in '17 was as part of
 19 the reorganization – so, January 1st, 2016,
 20 IS Services was no longer in Hydro and it
 21 was transferred to Nalcor.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. Right.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. In second quarter of 2016, as I mentioned

Page 196

1 before, there was a change in leadership.
 2 Part of the mandate that the president was
 3 given, the new president, was to separate
 4 the regulated and unregulated assets. As
 5 part of that, as you've mentioned, is that
 6 the Information and Operations Technology
 7 Group changed its focus. The Network
 8 Services came under Engineering. As well,
 9 when they did the work for the
 10 reorganization, they looked at – and I said
 11 before about the people that were working on
 12 stuff for Hydro should be in Hydro. That
 13 was the basis, as I took it. In the
 14 information system world, the EMS group,
 15 Energy Control Center, that is, you know, in
 16 support of system operations, there's the
 17 ones that run the map board that's in the
 18 ECC Center. They do all the SCADA. They do
 19 the firewalls that are out in the stations.
 20 Their work pretty much 100 percent was in
 21 support of the NLSO and ECC Center. So,
 22 what was decided as part of the – making
 23 Hydro an autonomous independent regulated
 24 utility was that that was a function that
 25

Page 197

1 should reside in Hydro, not in Nalcor, not
 2 being given direction by Nalcor but by
 3 Hydro.
 4 (12:30 p.m.)
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Okay.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. So, that resulted in – and when we talk
 9 about the salaries, you'll – those FTEs will
 10 be reflective in there as well. So, there
 11 were seven positions that moved from Nalcor
 12 to Hydro and that happened in '17, January
 13 1st, 2017, because you couldn't move them
 14 midyear.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. No, okay.
 17 MR. GARDINER:
 18 A. So, the effective date for the EMS Center.
 19 So, just to go a little bit further with
 20 that, there was an additional FTE as part of
 21 the reorganization that happened is that in
 22 Engineering Services, you will see that the
 23 responsibility now – sorry, talking to the
 24 mike – the responsibility for Information
 25 and Operational Technology rests within –

Page 198

1 under my preview now. I'm the Hydro
 2 executive responsible for that. So, we took
 3 the Network Services group and brought them
 4 in under Engineering and we took the EMS
 5 group, the ECC group, and brought them under
 6 Engineering, and one of the things that was
 7 recommended as part of the reorganization
 8 was that we needed a single point
 9 accountable for that, for those groups, and
 10 we did that. As part of the reorganization,
 11 there was an IT OT manager hired and that
 12 person is responsible to manage the
 13 relationship with Nalcor because now we get
 14 an admin fee. They're responsible to make
 15 sure that the services that Network Services
 16 and EMS that are providing to Hydro is what
 17 we need, the costs are prudent and those
 18 things like that. So, that was an
 19 additional FTE that we did see in 2015 in
 20 IT/OT which makes up the 28. So, the
 21 actuals in '17 were 20. We added – or in
 22 '16, sorry. '16 they were 15.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Right.
 25 MR. GARDINER:

Page 199

1 A. And we added Brian's group or EMS group, as
 2 well as a manager in '17.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Okay. So, that didn't come into Engineering
 5 Services; that came into Information and
 6 Operational Technology?
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. That's correct.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Okay. I understood you to say earlier it was
 11 in Engineering Services.
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. Well, actually, I guess, what I mean is that
 14 – when I say Engineering Services -
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Under your heading, yeah.
 17 MR. GARDINER:
 18 A. Under my – I consider IT/OT now to be part
 19 of the Engineering Services.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Part of Engineering Services, okay.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. Responsibility to deliver. So, if there's
 24 an issue or problem, it's going to be within
 25 Engineering Services.

Page 200

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. All right.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. And I have a manager that handles that
 5 division or section.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Okay, all right. So, that makes up the
 8 extra five in 2017 then for the actuals, I
 9 take it, somewhere in that range, in terms
 10 of a net?
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. Well, yes, that's correct.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. And what about in terms of the forecast for
 15 2018 and 2019, what's – why would you be
 16 forecasting to increase in that area for
 17 FTEs?
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. Well, there's no – other than the manager's
 20 position – just one second. So, part of the
 21 reason is – I'm just making sure now I got
 22 it right. Yeah, part of the reason was that
 23 there are some new people that were added
 24 from Ron's group.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 201

1 Q. Okay.

2 MR. GARDINER:

3 A. It was all in Network Services, but also in

4 forecast for '17, we – the manager for

5 Network Services was added, as well as there

6 were two admin support staff that were

7 added.

8 MR. O'BRIEN:

9 Q. Okay. So, those positions went through the

10 gating process?

11 MR. GARDINER:

12 A. Well, actually, no, they did not.

13 MR. O'BRIEN:

14 Q. No?

15 MR. GARDINER:

16 A. Because they were existing positions

17 performing functions.

18 MR. O'BRIEN:

19 Q. Okay.

20 MR. GARDINER:

21 A. One was the manager that was in the group,

22 the management group of TRO that they were

23 their manager. So, we couldn't have the

24 manager sitting in TRO and the workers

25 sitting in Engineering. So, that was added,

Page 202

1 so that was -

2 MR. O'BRIEN:

3 Q. So, that was a net kind of?

4 MR. GARDINER:

5 A. That was a net.

6 MR. O'BRIEN:

7 Q. Yeah, okay.

8 MR. GARDINER:

9 A. We also had another individual, a support

10 staff person who was handling all the mobile

11 devices and working in Network Services that

12 they were in the admin of TRO. So, it

13 didn't make sense to have that person who

14 sat in St. John's in our office and did all

15 the mobile relations for all of Hydro, which

16 is a function for Network Services, to sit

17 there. So, we took the opportunity to put

18 that person into Network Services, and as

19 well, we have a regional office that's in

20 Deer Lake and there's a person out there

21 that does the planning and admin for that as

22 well, and that person was in TRO as well.

23 So, we took the opportunity to move that

24 person as well into the Network Services

25 division.

Page 203

1 MR. O'BRIEN:

2 Q. So, they would have come off Mr. LeBlanc's

3 FTEs?

4 MR. GARDINER:

5 A. They would have, yeah.

6 MR. O'BRIEN:

7 Q. Some of those were movements too.

8 MR. GARDINER:

9 A. Absolutely, yeah.

10 MR. O'BRIEN:

11 Q. And would that be covered – so, when they

12 got moved, just like Mr. LeBlanc had

13 mentioned earlier, would he still be holding

14 the budget for those in 2017?

15 MR. GARDINER:

16 A. Yes, he would.

17 MR. O'BRIEN:

18 Q. And why would your – if we go back to -

19 MR. GARDINER:

20 A. The budget, but not the FTEs.

21 MR. O'BRIEN:

22 Q. Not the FTEs, okay. So, if we go back to NP

23 – so, for 2017, you had those movements and

24 your budget – sorry, your forecast was for

25 two million there, up from 1.2. What was

Page 204

1 your actual in that year?

2 MR. GARDINER:

3 A. I'm not – I'll have to check that for you.

4 I'm not sure.

5 MR. O'BRIEN:

6 Q. Can you check that for me?

7 MR. GARDINER:

8 A. I can certainly do that.

9 MR. O'BRIEN:

10 Q. Do you know if it was in that range?

11 MR. GARDINER:

12 A. Yes, I would think so.

13 MR. O'BRIEN:

14 Q. So, if some of the -

15 MR. GARDINER:

16 A. My apologies for not having a -

17 MR. O'BRIEN:

18 Q. Oh, that's okay. I'll just ask for an

19 undertaking. Well, it'll show up on the

20 chart when we get the actuals.

21 MR. GARDINER:

22 A. Yeah, that's -

23 MR. O'BRIEN:

24 Q. So, you don't need to give me an

25 undertaking.

Page 205

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. I should have that. I should know that.
 3 Thank you.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Yeah, because I'm just wondering if some of
 6 those that remained within Mr. LeBlanc's
 7 budget, why it wouldn't – why it wouldn't
 8 have – why yours would have increased.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. And as, you know, the '17 forecast is
 11 certainly that, a forecast at that time.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Yeah.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. And I'm not sure where it landed. And once
 16 again, you know, those labour costs are net
 17 or they're – you know, they do include – you
 18 take out the capital recharge as well. I
 19 know it's part of in '17 as well. I'm not
 20 going to say it, but I would believe that
 21 those numbers will come down. I mean, just
 22 logically, we were doing more in the Network
 23 Services and the Information Operational
 24 Technology division with the capital work
 25 that we had and particularly in the amount

Page 206

1 of assets that we were adding to the ECC.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay. And 2018, 2019 test year, your FTEs
 4 were in at about 28, same as forecast.
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. Yeah.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. And -
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. And I do know -
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Have you added any positions in 2018 in that
 13 area?
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. In Network Services, no.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. I guess in Information and Operation
 18 Technology?
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. No, not for '18. The test year, no, we have
 21 not. And interesting to note, the salaries
 22 in '18 and '19 do include the three FTEs.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. They do, okay.
 25 MR. GARDINER:

Page 207

1 A. They do, yes.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay. No, I would expect that, I guess,
 4 because you've transferred over in 2017, so
 5 you'd move those salaries into your
 6 department.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. I believe in NP-NLH-173 we explain the
 9 difference, right, in there.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. That would explain that, yeah. All right.
 12 Okay. And I wonder if we can move on from
 13 labour costs, and I just want to briefly
 14 touch on travel costs, if we can. Can we
 15 bring up NP-NLH-69, Attachment 1? So,
 16 there's some discussion and some evidence
 17 just in terms of a focus reduction on travel
 18 costs in 2016 and some concern about whether
 19 or not that was sustainable going forward
 20 and I just want to ask you just some
 21 questions about your own areas in that
 22 regard. So, this is travel costs by
 23 functional area. So, the bigger ones there
 24 appear to be, I guess, in your area, Mr.
 25 LeBlanc.

Page 208

1 MR. LEBLANC:
 2 A. Yes.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. And 2015 and 2016, there's a significant
 5 reduction there, and I guess that would have
 6 been fair to say that's from the focused
 7 reduction from 2016 to try to reduce travel
 8 costs in all areas. Is that fair?
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. That is my understanding.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And 2017 forecast is about the same there,
 13 not far off. Do you know if the actuals in
 14 2017 were much different?
 15 MR. LEBLANC:
 16 A. I do not have that number right in front of
 17 me.
 18 (12:40 p.m.)
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And maybe I'd ask if we could get this
 21 travel cost by area, by functional area,
 22 updated as an undertaking.
 23 MR. YOUNG:
 24 Q. That'll be helpful.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 209

1 Q. Yeah.

2 MS. GLYNN:

3 Q. We'll note that on the record.

4 MR. O'BRIEN:

5 Q. And in terms of sustainability, we see some

6 increase there, Mr. LeBlanc, in your travel

7 costs up to 2018 and 2019 test year. Have

8 costs actually increased in 2017 to the

9 extent that you expect that they will

10 increase into the future?

11 MR. LEBLANC:

12 A. I am not sure. I'd have to see the 2017

13 actual to be able to answer that.

14 MR. O'BRIEN:

15 Q. And have there been any further direction to

16 either of you in terms of travel costs to

17 continue to try to keep travel costs lower?

18 MR. LEBLANC:

19 A. Again, we always try to maintain our travel

20 costs and again, if you have to go to an

21 area to do a job, you try to plan two jobs

22 at the same time so you don't have to make

23 two trips there and things like that. So,

24 that direction has been given to staff to

25 minimize and to optimize your travel when

Page 210

1 possible.

2 MR. O'BRIEN:

3 Q. And in terms of sustainability then going

4 forward, have either of you found that the

5 reduction in travel costs has put a damper

6 on your ability to do your jobs or your

7 department's ability to produce? Has that

8 been a big issue for you?

9 MR. LEBLANC:

10 A. I wasn't here during the reduction, but what

11 I've been told is some of the O&M didn't

12 always get done, but they made an effort at

13 it, but it was tough to maintain the level

14 of service with the reduction in the travel.

15 MS. WILLIAMS:

16 A. If I could just add as well?

17 MR. O'BRIEN:

18 Q. Yeah, sure.

19 MS. WILLIAMS:

20 A. With regards to, for example, the

21 sustainability aspect, and I think there's –

22 there was a direction, you know, said really

23 constrain the travel, and when we think

24 about why is that not sustainable, there's a

25 component, I think, that we went too far,

Page 211

1 for example, it would be field visits by

2 various levels of supervisors to check on

3 things. So, we didn't feel that that was

4 appropriate. So, we've been putting those

5 kinds of things back in. But some of the

6 things that are still sustainable and the

7 message is still getting out is the stuff

8 that's still probably a bit nicer to do, and

9 I think about say some of – say support

10 departments and you know, just recently I

11 was talking with one of our managers and

12 they said probably a few years ago, we would

13 have had an employee who manages say the

14 environment and safety component out in the

15 field and maybe, you know, seven or eight or

16 ten times a year, they would come into St.

17 John's for meetings, and we've kept that

18 constraint. So, there is still some things

19 that are indeed sustainable, but we did

20 allow – I'll call it sort of shifting back

21 on some of the other travel that we thought

22 that was not appropriate to remain

23 constrained.

24 MR. O'BRIEN:

25 Q. Okay. And I guess, I get the point from Mr.

Page 212

1 LeBlanc that, I mean, if there's O&M issues

2 or maintenance that's not getting done as a

3 result of cutback on travel costs, I would

4 have assumed that management would be making

5 sure that maintenance is getting done over

6 cutting on travel costs. Is that fair?

7 MS. WILLIAMS:

8 A. Correct. Yes, that's correct.

9 MR. LEBLANC:

10 A. Yes.

11 MR. O'BRIEN:

12 Q. So, I mean, in terms of constraining your

13 ability to get that done, the cutback on

14 travel costs hasn't really done that, has

15 it?

16 MR. LEBLANC:

17 A. No, and again, we try to do it – you may not

18 do the maintenance – you may plan your

19 maintenance better in order to – or schedule

20 your maintenance better to reduce travel

21 costs. And as well, again, site visits,

22 safety audits and things like that were

23 cutback and there's a bit of that is coming

24 back because you do have to check on your

25 crews at times.

Page 213

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Right. But, I mean, we're not seeing a big
 3 difference in those costs, in terms of going
 4 forward anyway. Is that fair?
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. Correct.
 7 MR. LEBLANC:
 8 A. Not a large difference.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And how about training; how difficult was
 11 the cutback in training in each of your
 12 departments?
 13 (12:45 p.m.)
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. Training, yeah, absolutely. For me, one of
 16 the things is you have, you know,
 17 professional people and I anchor back to our
 18 protection and control people, our relays,
 19 you know, the changes in technology, what
 20 we're doing. We looked at – there was some
 21 training that we deferred and this year, I'm
 22 happy to say that in 2018 that we are doing
 23 – we've always looked at doing key and
 24 critical training; not nice to have, not,
 25 you know, someone would like to do it or

Page 214

1 whatever. It has to be key and critical and
 2 training in engineering has to be approved
 3 by me.
 4 We've taken the training budget and we
 5 put it out into HR and we have our budget
 6 that we look at and the justification has to
 7 be by me in Engineering. So, I mean, I have
 8 to determine, with the associated manager
 9 and also talk to the HR people to say this
 10 is our budget and this is how we want to
 11 spend it. There could be consultation with
 12 the president at different times to see
 13 that, you know, I want to make sure that
 14 we're all aligned; that the training that we
 15 are doing is the right training.
 16 And some of the things what we've done
 17 this year, for example, with the new relays
 18 that we're putting in -- and, as I've said
 19 before, in '87 I graduated with a civil
 20 engineering degree. Some days I feel like I
 21 could probably write the exam for the
 22 electrical engineering degree. However, I
 23 can't, and I depend on my people to give me
 24 the advice.
 25 So, one of the things that we did do is

Page 215

1 when we get the opportunity to do training
 2 is, in the past we may have sent people away
 3 to do that training and we do a cost benefit
 4 every time to look at whether it's better to
 5 bring the people here, and we've done that
 6 several times this year already where we've
 7 brought them in and, you know, you may send
 8 two people and you get the benefit of
 9 setting up a classroom at Hydro Place and
 10 bringing the relays here and having the
 11 people come and you train eight people; so
 12 many people from Engineering, Protection and
 13 Control, and then bring in the Protection
 14 and Control field technicians. They come in
 15 and they train together, which I think is
 16 the best way to do it.
 17 So, when we look at training, for me,
 18 that was one that, you know, when we did no
 19 training, very little in '16, and now we're
 20 getting into '17 and '18. So, for me, that
 21 is very important. I know, you're still not
 22 talking – to your point, Mr. O'Brien, last
 23 dollars.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Yeah.

Page 216

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. You know, our budget is – I'm not exactly –
 3 what it is right now, but it's not large
 4 numbers, but it has to be spent prudently,
 5 has to be justified and has to be on key and
 6 critical – you know, making the – and making
 7 sure the right people are there. I've had
 8 conversations with my staff where – anyway,
 9 making sure that our young people are there;
 10 that they're trained; that we leave the
 11 engineering and the technical in the hands
 12 of good people, so that, you know, if
 13 they're here for five or seven years, to
 14 make sure that they're trained so they know
 15 what they're doing, so that we can get the
 16 reliable service from them. So, if
 17 something does happen that they're there,
 18 you know. And I talked about going back to
 19 contractors as well, in terms of, you know,
 20 having embedded contractors working on some
 21 of our key and critical work. That's one of
 22 the reasons why we were looking to add
 23 proper FTEs there as well; so that those
 24 people are trained. Some of the training
 25 that I like to see done is out in the field,

Page 217

1 seeing it installed, watching it operate;
 2 having engineering people work with both Mr.
 3 LeBlanc and Ms. Williams' people to see how
 4 things are done, so they work together in a
 5 team atmosphere.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. I guess one of the reasons I'm asking these
 8 questions is more along the lines of whether
 9 or not when you make a concerted effort to
 10 cut back in certain areas in 2016, one of
 11 which was training, I'm trying to get a
 12 flavour as to whether or not that's more of
 13 a concerted effort to control costs versus
 14 reduce costs. Because at the same time,
 15 there was a concerted effort from a
 16 reliability perspective to increase
 17 reliability and if you're doing that, but
 18 yet cutting back on training, the two don't
 19 seem, in my mind, to connect. And I'm
 20 wondering whether or not the training
 21 reduction was more along the lines of let's
 22 have a focused look at training and what we
 23 can cut and keep our eye on the ball on
 24 training, and why it wouldn't be sustainable
 25 into the future. I'm trying to get a

Page 218

1 flavour for that. Can anyone tell me why
 2 you think your training cuts would be
 3 unsustainable?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. If I could just comment? I mean, I think
 6 the philosophy that we're subscribing to now
 7 with regards to training is there's always
 8 been the mandatory training, which would be,
 9 for example, your first aids and those
 10 regulatory type training courses that
 11 employees would have to undertake, but I
 12 think we can also push the business
 13 training, the business critical training
 14 into that bucket as well. So, those things
 15 are not sustainable, and when you decide to
 16 defer, you know, training for operators in
 17 how to manage say Holyrood, but when you
 18 take conferences, when you – it's good to go
 19 and over a long term, you do learn and you
 20 bring that back and you share. It's not
 21 required. So, there's been a constraint on
 22 how we think about conferences and those
 23 sorts of things that people attend that are
 24 indeed useful, absolutely. If I was to go
 25 to one today, I know it would be a useful

Page 219

1 amount of my time, but it's not truly
 2 necessary. So, I think that is where we can
 3 indeed sustain some savings going forward
 4 and that approach and that philosophy is
 5 there. It doesn't mean that we will never
 6 send people to conferences anymore, but I
 7 think, you know, a philosophy existed before
 8 that there was more ability to attend. That
 9 is definitely shifted to it's, you know,
 10 very infrequent that we would do those sorts
 11 of things. We'd still have to invest in the
 12 people.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay. And is that a little bit different
 15 than the way you approached training in the
 16 past?
 17 MS. WILLIAMS:
 18 A. I mean, I can't necessarily speak to,
 19 because I've been here a little over three
 20 years.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Yes.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. But I think that that's the case because,
 25 you know, when employees—first when we

Page 220

1 implemented probably the constraint on it,
 2 you know, it was an adjustment from what
 3 people would ask.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Yes.
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. So, you could tell that there was probably a
 8 bit of a different approach. People were
 9 going to a few more conferences. Again, not
 10 that it was not useful, but people were
 11 going more frequently, and we've constrained
 12 that.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Okay. I'm going to ask you about
 15 professional services. We can bring up NP-
 16 NLH-72. I don't think this one—yes, it
 17 does. Yes. And just to get an overview
 18 here in terms of professional services,
 19 there appears to be a total—there appears to
 20 be a reduction here from 2015 to 2016 in
 21 total professional services. And I don't
 22 need each of you to go through that, but the
 23 largest one appears to be in your area, Mr.
 24 Gardiner, the Information and Operations
 25 Technology. And I'm assuming that's as a

Page 221

1 result of that movement of those FTEs into
 2 Nalcor? Is that right, the network
 3 services?
 4 MR. GARDINER:
 5 A. Correct. If we could bring up NP-NLH-195.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Sure.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. I think as part of the ITOT professional
 10 services budget, that includes all the
 11 software that it was using.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Yes, right. Yes.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. The 2016 actuals, \$620,000.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. Yes.
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. That was what we spent in—or what we spent
 20 in 2016, and if you look at 2018 and 2019
 21 forecast, if we can just –
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. I think that 2016 actual was in Nalcor?
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Yeah.

Page 222

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. I think was it?
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. Well, yes, it was.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Yes, yes.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. And it came out as part of the thing.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. Yes, okay.
 11 MR. GARDINER:
 12 A. So, we were charged to the admin fee.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Yes.
 15 MR. GARDINER:
 16 A. That's correct.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Yes.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. That's absolutely correct.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Yes.
 23 MR. GARDINER:
 24 A. Yeah, so for comparative purposes, it's good
 25 to see where we're to.

Page 223

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Right, yes.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. And where the increases are.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Yes, okay.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. So, if you go through each one of these
 9 lines, you'll see some of the biggest
 10 increases were in the energy management
 11 systems.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Yes.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. In the OSISoft, which is our board that we
 16 use.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Yes.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. If you look at load forecasting, Hatch, that
 21 was a new software, generating software,
 22 that we had, Plexus, and that's the support
 23 costs that we need in '18 and '19 to go
 24 forward.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 224

1 Q. Right.
 2 MR. GARDINER:
 3 A. There is transmission support. If you look
 4 at the third from the bottom, there's
 5 \$150,000 for the OATI, Open Access
 6 Transmission Interface. So, that's a new
 7 piece of software that we're—or a change in
 8 software. So, each one of these, they are
 9 professional services, but a lot of these
 10 for the IT/OT are centred around the
 11 existing software that we have, maintaining
 12 it and paying for the existing software.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Yes, and these are all—how is it you go
 15 about sort of making sure there—there's a
 16 cost benefit analysis for the professional
 17 services in that department?
 18 MR. GARDINER:
 19 A. For that department?
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. Well one of the things that--the responsibly
 24 of the manager of that division, IT/OT
 25 manager –

Page 225

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Yes.
 3 MR. GARDINER:
 4 A. - they look at it in consultation with his
 5 team, which this would be the—these are for
 6 the Energy Management System.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Right.
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. ECC. So, the lightning tracking for
 11 example, the Energy Management Systems,
 12 these are software programs that we need to
 13 operate. So, each year we would look at
 14 what we need to do, and the cost would be
 15 looked at. When you say a cost benefit, I
 16 don't think there's a cost benefit as per se
 17 done, but for example, we do need the Energy
 18 Management System, the board that we do
 19 everything in in the control room.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes.
 22 MR. GARDINER:
 23 A. There is a software that we need to run
 24 that, and that's I believe, Proprietary,
 25 that that's the company that we're using to

Page 226

1 do that. So, there has to be professional
 2 services paid to them to maintain and also
 3 to purchase the software itself.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay. And those increases in costs from
 6 2017 forecast to 2018 test year –
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. Yeah.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. - do you think your forecast is low or is
 11 there a significant increase?
 12 MR. GARDINER:
 13 A. I'm not sure, Mr. O'Brien.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Do you think the actuals turned out similar?
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. I do apologize. I should have those.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Yes, I don't think the actuals are there.
 20 MR. GARDINER:
 21 A. No, the actual isn't there.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. No. Maybe we can get that actual.
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. Sure.

Page 227

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. And undertaking to get that NP-NLH-72
 3 updated just for actuals.
 4 MR. GARDINER:
 5 A. Yeah.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Okay.
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. That would be good.
 10 GREENE, Q.C.:
 11 Q. That will be noted on the record as an
 12 undertaking.
 13 (12:57 a.m.)
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 A. Thank you.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. All right, and the next area I just wanted
 18 to cover off was system equipment
 19 maintenance, and I wanted to get—and if we
 20 could bring up Information 1, page 39? And
 21 I don't think we have an RFI which breaks
 22 that out into cost to area or functional
 23 area. So, system equipment maintenance
 24 dropped there in 2015 to 2016 a fair bit,
 25 down almost six million. Is that fair?

Page 228

1 Yes. And then, going forward, it seems to
 2 be fairly stable. There was an indication
 3 in the evidence, I think it's PUB-NLH-54,
 4 that there was—in '16 there was a reduction
 5 in vegetation management. Does that come
 6 under anyone's area?
 7 MR. LEBLANC:
 8 A. Vegetation management would come under me.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. That's under you?
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. Yes.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. And was there a significant reduction in
 15 2016, do you know?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. I wouldn't know the numbers, but from what I
 18 hear, there was a reduction in vegetation
 19 management.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Yes, and –
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. I don't know the quantum.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. I don't know if Mr. Gardiner would know.

Page 229

1 MR. GARDINER:
 2 A. I'm not sure.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. It would have been under his –
 5 MR. GARDINER:
 6 A. We've have to check that for you, Mr. –
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Okay. Can you check on that?
 9 MR. GARDINER:
 10 A. Yeah.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. And just get me the actual figure on it?
 13 (12:58 p.m.)
 14 GREENE, Q.C.:
 15 Q. That will be noted on the record as an
 16 undertaking, which is the cost for
 17 vegetation management actual in 2016. Is—in
 18 2017, Mr. O'Brien?
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Actually, yes, the 2017. If we could get
 21 the vegetation management cost actually if
 22 that's included all the way through.
 23 GREENE, Q.C.:
 24 Q. Okay.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 230

1 Q. That would be helpful. I wouldn't need any
 2 more questions on that one. Any of your
 3 system equipment maintenance in each of your
 4 areas, there's—is there anything that jumps
 5 out as an increase in the test year over
 6 previous years for either of you? Anything
 7 in particular that we should know about?
 8 MR. GARDINER:
 9 A. Yes, wait now. Just—can we have just one
 10 moment, please?
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Yes, sure.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. Yeah.
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. I don't mind just jumping in really quick.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Yes.
 19 MR. GARDINER:
 20 A. Yeah, go ahead.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Sure.
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. I know for me, equipment and maintenance on
 25 the production level is heavily driven by

Page 231

1 Holyrood.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay.
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. And for the next couple of test years, we're
 6 not anticipating any material change up or
 7 down.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. No.
 10 MS. WILLIAMS:
 11 A. It's very mechanical. It's the—the boiler
 12 has to get done this year, and these are the
 13 materials associated with it. It's
 14 generally fairly routine type work. So,
 15 it's fairly stagnant.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. And what's included say from your area in
 18 system equipment maintenance? Would
 19 production costs of any kind be included in
 20 there?
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. No.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. No.
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 232

1 A. And you mean, when you said production
 2 costs, you meant –
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Yes.
 5 MS. WILLIAMS:
 6 A. Or like say fuel or labour for gas turbine?
 7 Is that what you meant earlier?
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. And maybe I can help you out with that.
 10 There's—I meant to ask you about that in
 11 particular, and while we're on, maybe we can
 12 do that. It may not come under system
 13 equipment maintenance, but I'm talking more
 14 gas, diesel production costs. So, if we
 15 brought up Information 1, page 35. So,
 16 we're on that here now I think. So, page—
 17 yes, so there's some gas turbine, diesel
 18 production costs there on the bottom?
 19 MS. WILLIAMS:
 20 A. Um-hm.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. So, that falls under your area, does it, Ms.
 23 Williams?
 24 MS. WILLIAMS:
 25 A. It does, yeah.

Page 233

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. I take it that's not included in system
 3 equipment maintenance, is it?
 4 MS. WILLIAMS:
 5 A. I want to say no. I'd have to ask Ms.
 6 Hutchens or Mr. Fagan from the development
 7 of that exactly what rolls back up into it,
 8 but I would imagine it's mostly the fuel as
 9 opposed to the kinds of things in on the
 10 operating budget side. The things that are
 11 in system equipment maintenance would be,
 12 you know, if we had to have a contractor
 13 come in and execute an overhaul.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Right.
 16 MS. WILLIAMS:
 17 A. If we go through consumables, that kind of
 18 thing.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Yes.
 21 MS. WILLIAMS:
 22 A. So, I can't say for sure if that rolls up
 23 there.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Well, that figure there, say an actual of 19

Page 234

1 million, that wouldn't include fuel then?
 2 MS. WILLIAMS:
 3 A. Right, which is not in the SEM line.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Yes, yes. Okay. That line there, that last
 6 line of production costs, where would I find
 7 that, say, in the revenue requirements? Is
 8 it an operating cost?
 9 MS. WILLIAMS:
 10 A. I would prefer you ask Mr. Kevin Fagan
 11 exactly what is contained in that number.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Okay, if we could go back to the last one
 14 that we had, Information—or page 39. Now,
 15 Mr. Gardiner, did you have –
 16 MR. GARDINER:
 17 A. I did.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Yes, okay.
 20 (1:00 p.m.)
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. I did, yes, if you could, a system equipment
 23 maintenance costs in the information and
 24 operation of technology expense was in 2016
 25 and there was an RFI that I would like to

Page 235

1 speak to.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay.
 4 MR. GARDINER:
 5 A. NP-NLH-180 and the cost—the question reads,
 6 NP-NLH-180, if we could bring that up,
 7 please?
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Oh, sorry.
 10 MR. GARDINER:
 11 A. I know we both had it.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Here we go, okay.
 14 MR. GARDINER:
 15 Q. All right, it says system equipment and
 16 maintenance for information on operation of
 17 technology are forecast to increase from 427
 18 in '16 to 799 in test year 2018. "Please
 19 provide the full details of this \$372,000
 20 increase, together with the business case."
 21 So if we go to the next page, please, the
 22 increase of \$372,000 is broken down into two
 23 categories, one is new contracts that
 24 weren't in place previously amounting to
 25 \$210,000, and then there's existing contract

Page 236

1 renewals that we're doing, and increases
 2 associated with that of \$162,000. So our
 3 system equipment maintenance went from 427
 4 in information technology to 799.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. To 799, yeah.
 7 MR. GARDINER:
 8 A. And the explanations are there.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. And how about for the 2019 test year, do you
 11 expect these contract renewals to be the
 12 same.
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. We expect them, the contract renewals were
 15 done so that we could have them for two
 16 years and that they be steady and if you
 17 look in our test year budget, in the
 18 details, they're both the same.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Okay.
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. So we made sure that we would look at
 23 getting the long term to make sure, because
 24 this is some of the equipment that we have,
 25 like metrological stations that we didn't

Page 237

1 have before, so we're looking for
 2 maintenance around those and there's also
 3 some information there that's no longer
 4 under warranty that we put in that we now
 5 have to pay a fee for that.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Okay. And Mr. LeBlanc, anything along your
 8 lines?
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. Usually in the T&D area we review, we look
 11 at all our equipment and then we prioritize
 12 and we do so much per year and we usually do
 13 the worse performing or the equipment with
 14 the most, most in need of maintenance, and
 15 so we usually stick to a fairly flat budget
 16 and just prioritize the work that's going to
 17 be done.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay, so in terms of your budget, you would
 20 expect your 2018, 2019 test year figures to
 21 be somewhere similar to your 2017?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. Yes, they should be fairly similar.
 24 (1:04 p.m.)
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 238

1 Q. Okay, and can you look into that, your 2017
 2 for me, just to give us that figure?
 3 Whatever your actual was for system
 4 equipment and maintenance?
 5 MS. GLYNN:
 6 Q. We'll note that as an undertaking.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Okay. Just about done on costs. Just in
 9 terms of intercompany charges, can we bring
 10 up PUB-NLH-28? Okay, so in this one here
 11 there's a, if we scroll down, yeah, there's
 12 a chart for the executive, for Hydro
 13 executive and charges into Nalcor, so it
 14 appears that of the three of you, the only
 15 one that would have charges into Nalcor
 16 personally would be you, Ms. Williams, is
 17 that right?
 18 MS. WILLIAMS:
 19 A. Correct.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Okay. And for 2017 the charges in year to
 22 date were 118.5. Are they largely related
 23 to hydraulic, for I guess Star Lake, that
 24 sort of thing?
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 239

1 A. That's correct, Exploits.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay, and Exploits. And I don't know when
 4 this one was done, but do you know what sort
 5 of final hours for you for 2017 would have
 6 been? Would it have been much more than
 7 that?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. I find I generally spend two to three hours
 10 a week, so that's the magnitude of the
 11 amount of time, so –
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. And is that pretty consistent this year as
 14 well?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. Yes.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. Okay. And for 2018, Mr. Gardiner, would you
 19 have had any reason to charge in hours to
 20 Nalcor?
 21 MR. GARDINER:
 22 A. I did not.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. And how about you, Mr. LeBlanc?
 25 MR. LEBLANC:

Page 240

1 A. I did not.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay, and in terms of individuals under each
 4 of your responsibility, I guess, your direct
 5 reports and their direct reports, Ms.
 6 Williams, do you have many employees that
 7 charge into Nalcor?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. It would be on the Exploits and Star Lake
 10 side, so I do have a number of employees
 11 that do charge in portions of time, as
 12 opposed to whole FTEs and I believe that is,
 13 unfortunately I don't have the number on the
 14 record, I believe we have that. If we
 15 don't, I'll double check and let you know,
 16 but we do have, and they can range anywhere
 17 from like five, ten percent to like, might
 18 be somebody with a high 50, 60, 70 percent
 19 and they would be heavily dedicated, but I
 20 think that's like one or two people and they
 21 would have responsibility for other plants
 22 as well, think about Paradise River, that
 23 sort of thing.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. So would the bulk of those employees have

Page 241

1 sort of a smaller amount that would charge
 2 in, but just a couple that would be larger?
 3 MS. WILLIAMS:
 4 A. Yeah, exactly, for example we might have
 5 somebody who does a little bit of planning,
 6 you know, and if we had, say maintenance
 7 people in, generally the operational staff
 8 in the field that you would have sort of
 9 some time charged in.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And are you responsible or do you take
 12 responsibility for reviewing how much time
 13 is charged in to Nalcor, or is that
 14 something that you monitor?
 15 MS. WILLIAMS:
 16 A. I do have a look. I don't look at it, you
 17 know, a lot because I don't see a lot of
 18 variation of the fluctuation, it's a fairly
 19 stagnant work because Exploits, itself, has
 20 its own set of employees, so it's not a
 21 large portion of time that gets charged in
 22 to Exploits, we don't see large fluctuations
 23 in that. It doesn't require a lot of my
 24 oversight.
 25 MS. GLYNN:

Page 242

1 Q. Mr. O'Brien, do you require the number of
 2 employees and their –
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. No, that's fine.
 5 MS. GLYNN:
 6 Q. Thank you.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Do you expect just over time into the test
 9 years that to be similar and not see much
 10 fluctuation in terms of what you're seeing
 11 right now?
 12 MS. WILLIAMS:
 13 A. No, I see no change, similar.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Is there something that you'd expect change
 16 in to the future, like when we see
 17 interconnection, is that something that
 18 might, would your department change in any
 19 way?
 20 MS. WILLIAMS:
 21 A. With regards to interconnection to North
 22 America?
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Well, I mean, with Muskrat Falls
 25 interconnection, I'd say, in terms of where

Page 243

1 your department goes in the future, do you
 2 expect to have similar number of employees
 3 working in, under Nalcor's purview and I
 4 guess with the Exploits and that sort of
 5 thing, that's not going to change?
 6 MS. WILLIAMS:
 7 A. I don't anticipate because we do have the
 8 new assets that are coming on line are being
 9 managed in a fully and wholly under Nalcor,
 10 I don't anticipate a material change and
 11 there will be some shifting in how we manage
 12 ourselves, you know, as we optimize
 13 production, but I don't anticipate a
 14 material change, certainly don't anticipate
 15 any charging necessarily more to Nalcor, and
 16 I don't anticipate the interconnection
 17 having a material change on how we resource
 18 ourselves.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. And Mr. Gardiner, do you anticipate any
 21 change sort of going forward in your
 22 department? Do you have any employees now
 23 that charge in to Nalcor?
 24 MR. GARDINER:
 25 A. I do as part of the information operations

Page 244

1 technology as the EMS and ECC, as part of
 2 Churchill Falls, the water management
 3 software and that is owned by the EMS
 4 people, our team, and time that they spend
 5 managing the Churchill Falls water
 6 management is charged directly to them as an
 7 intercompany charge. I'm thinking it's
 8 around five percent. I asked that question
 9 as well.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And you monitor how much gets charged in and
 12 out?
 13 MR. GARDINER:
 14 A. Yeah, our manager of ITOT does that and
 15 that's, as I say, our information and
 16 operation technology is new to engineering,
 17 it's been there since '17, transferred in
 18 '17 and it is one of the things that we do
 19 have—looking at, and when we look at our
 20 overall costs and our salaries, how that
 21 impacts as well, to make sure that the
 22 priority of our team is to Hydro and the ECC
 23 and LSO in that particular department. It's
 24 relatively small, but it is, we do do it.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 245

1 Q. Okay, and you, Mr. LeBlanc, I guess you
 2 would have some that would charge in?
 3 MR. LEBLANC:
 4 A. Yes, there would be some, especially in the
 5 Soldier's Pond Terminal Station, in the
 6 short-term power supply is staffing up to be
 7 able to do that by themselves in the future.
 8 So stop gap measures, some of my staff is
 9 using up now.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. And will you be monitoring sort of the
 12 charging in or is that something that you
 13 have a manger who monitors that?
 14 MR. LEBLANC:
 15 A. Yes, our general manager of that area is
 16 looking at that.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. And do you anticipate any change in the long
 19 term, sort of how many employees will be
 20 charging in to Nalcor?
 21 MR. LEBLANC:
 22 A. Actually we expect it to decrease as they
 23 become fully staffed.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Okay. And will that be in the short term in

Page 246

1 terms of the test years, 2018, '19 or are we
 2 talking outside of 2019?
 3 MR. LEBLANC:
 4 A. It would probably be beyond the test years.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. Okay. I'm going to move just to talk a
 7 little bit about integration at this stage
 8 and probably focus some of my questions here
 9 on you, Mr. LeBlanc. I wonder if we could
 10 bring up PUB-NLH-23? So we've got it there,
 11 so in the evidence here there's a mention of
 12 Hydro creating a position of manager and
 13 interconnection—manager interconnection and
 14 integration, that's someone who reports—does
 15 that person report to you at all?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. No, they report to the president.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. That's what I understood. Do you have any
 20 regular contact with that individual?
 21 MR. LEBLANC:
 22 A. Yes, I do, I speak to the individual on a
 23 daily basis.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. Okay, and sort of what role does that

Page 247

1 individual play versus your role?
 2 MR. LEBLANC:
 3 A. He looks more after the detail, chasing
 4 people down and making sure the documents,
 5 procedures are drafted.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Right, and is that a temporary position, is
 8 that the plan?
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. I'm not sure what the length of the position
 11 is, but it is temporary in nature.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Now are you familiar yourself with the
 14 Liberty Group's first quarterly monitoring
 15 report on integration of power supply
 16 facilities and where things are sitting?
 17 Have you reviewed that report yourself?
 18 MR. LEBLANC:
 19 A. I have seen the report, yes.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. And would you have had any discussions with
 22 Liberty when they were preparing that
 23 report, or would you have been part of any
 24 discussions yourself?
 25 MR. LEBLANC:

Page 248

1 A. I was not.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. No, okay. So Liberty filed a report back in
 4 March addressing the transition to
 5 operations at that point and I don't believe
 6 there's been one for Q2 filed yet, is that
 7 correct?
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. Not that I have seen.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. No, okay, and Liberty saw at that time that
 12 the availability recall power through
 13 interconnection was key for reliability
 14 purposes, is that fair?
 15 MR. LEBLANC:
 16 A. Not--more for economic availability as
 17 opposed to reliability.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay, all right. And there was some
 20 concerns expressed at that point about the
 21 progress of transition to operations in the
 22 fourth quarter last year, is that fair?
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. Yes.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 249

1 Q. And Liberty expressed some concerns with
 2 management's confidence in not really
 3 aligning with what was being accomplished,
 4 are you aware of that?
 5 MR. LEBLANC:
 6 A. Yes, I read that.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. And that there was a recovery plan presented
 9 by management at that point to try and get
 10 things back on track.
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. Yes.
 13 MR. O'BRIEN:
 14 Q. Were you part of that?
 15 MR. LEBLANC:
 16 A. No, I was not.
 17 MR. O'BRIEN:
 18 Q. No. And can you tell me who would have
 19 prepared that?
 20 MR. LEBLANC:
 21 A. That would have been the transmission and
 22 operations' group.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Okay, and that would have been out of Nalcor
 25 who prepared that?

Page 250

1 MR. LEBLANC:
 2 A. Yes.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Were you part of any discussions of that
 5 recovery plan at all?
 6 MR. LEBLANC:
 7 A. No. I just knew, I was aware of it.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. And are you able to tell us at this point
 10 sort of what the present status is of
 11 transition to operations, what kind of
 12 update would you be able to give us?
 13 MR. LEBLANC:
 14 A. Again, they are progressing and they are a
 15 little delayed this year, especially with
 16 the commissioning of the LIL, but that has
 17 been postponed to later this fall; however,
 18 the generation of Muskrat is still on
 19 target.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Okay, so Maritime Link is energized and in
 22 service.
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. That's correct.
 25 MR. O'BRIEN:

Page 251

1 Q. That's correct, so when you say the LIL is
 2 delayed until the fall, what –
 3 MR. LEBLANC:
 4 A. For full commissioning.
 5 MR. O'BRIEN:
 6 Q. For full commissioning.
 7 MR. LEBLANC:
 8 A. It is energized right now.
 9 MR. O'BRIEN:
 10 Q. It's energized as of the end of June, I
 11 think, is that right?
 12 MR. LEBLANC:
 13 A. I think it was May 30th or May 29th.
 14 MR. O'BRIEN:
 15 Q. Oh, was it, okay, all right.
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. And energy is flowing on a daily basis for
 18 commissioning and testing and testing
 19 protection in controls, so they do energize
 20 the line for eight, nine hours per day at a
 21 low energy transfer level.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. And what's that level?
 24 MR. LEBLANC:
 25 A. It's approximately 45 megawatts.

Page 252

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Okay. In terms of delay for commissioning,
 3 I understood the initial thought was it
 4 would be ready by July 1st.
 5 MR. LEBLANC:
 6 A. That's correct.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. Are you able to give us any insight as to
 9 the reasoning behind the delay?
 10 (1:15 p.m.)
 11 MR. LEBLANC:
 12 A. Again part of it is to get the higher levels
 13 and I know there is new software that is
 14 required and that is on order, and they are
 15 expecting that late in Q3.
 16 MR. O'BRIEN:
 17 Q. When you say "higher levels", you mean to
 18 get above 45 megawatts up to –
 19 MR. LEBLANC:
 20 A. Yes, to get it up to the level we're hoping
 21 for, 225 megawatt transfer capability.
 22 MR. O'BRIEN:
 23 Q. And I understood Mr. Haynes spoke to that,
 24 that was probably the maximum you would
 25 expect in that area, 225?

Page 253

1 MR. LEBLANC:
 2 A. That's correct.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. And what's the status, in terms of
 5 commissioning, is there an expectation that
 6 both poles would be commissioned by the
 7 fall?
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. No, it will just be the first pole at this
 10 stage. You need some generation on line
 11 before you can get to the second pole.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Okay, and what's the—any idea as to what the
 14 status is with respect to expectation for
 15 the second pole?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. That will be in 2019, I'm not sure of the
 18 date.
 19 MR. O'BRIEN:
 20 Q. Okay. How will that affect sort of what's
 21 available to be transferred? Are we still
 22 looking at 225, one bolt bar?
 23 MR. LEBLANC:
 24 A. The levels will, it depends on the
 25 generation levels at Muskrat, but new

Page 254

1 generation it would be 225 would be the
 2 maximum.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Okay. So when you said earlier in terms of
 5 Muskrat Falls being on line, sorry, that
 6 that project is still on course, there's
 7 been no delay.
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. We're scheduled to get some next year.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Okay, and what time next year is it your
 12 understanding first power would come?
 13 MR. LEBLANC:
 14 A. I think it is the Q3 of 2019.
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. And would that be from the first two power
 17 units, is it?
 18 MR. LEBLANC:
 19 A. That would be the first unit.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. First unit, okay. I just recall looking at
 22 some point there was an expectation that 1
 23 and 2 might come on at the same time, but
 24 that's not your understanding?
 25 MR. LEBLANC:

Page 255

1 A. I'm not positive of the exact dates.
 2 MR. O'BRIEN:
 3 Q. Okay, but it's Q3 maybe in 2019, and are you
 4 aware of any road blocks with respect to
 5 that process?
 6 MR. LEBLANC:
 7 A. No, I am not.
 8 MR. O'BRIEN:
 9 Q. Potential, no, okay. In terms of Hydro and
 10 its role in getting ready for integration,
 11 where does Hydro stand in terms of being
 12 ready?
 13 MR. LEBLANC:
 14 A. Hydro is prepared. They have the SCADA
 15 points all in, we have the training going on
 16 for our operators to handle the import and
 17 so we are on target for the integration.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay, so if integration had of been ready
 20 July 1st in terms of commissioning, Hydro
 21 would have been ready at that point?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. That's correct.
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. And do you foresee any sort of additional

Page 256

1 costs now for Hydro in the delay into the
 2 fall of –
 3 MR. LEBLANC:
 4 A. It would be that we cannot take advantage of
 5 recapture energy.
 6 MR. O'BRIEN:
 7 Q. Okay, so it would be a knock on sort of at
 8 that, you wouldn't get that savings.
 9 MR. LEBLANC:
 10 A. So there's a lost opportunity cost with the
 11 delay.
 12 MR. O'BRIEN:
 13 Q. Lost opportunity, okay, but there's no
 14 direct sort of additional cost to Hydro as a
 15 result of the delay?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. No, there is not.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Let me just ask you, I'll start on this
 20 topic just in terms of the NLSO, I want to
 21 get some information from you on that. We
 22 talked earlier about some individuals who
 23 are presently employed with the NLSO and,
 24 well, they're Hydro employees but they came
 25 in from the ECC, is that right?

Page 257

1 MR. LEBLANC:
 2 A. Well the ECC is part of the NLSO, so the
 3 NLSO has an energy control centre.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. Okay, so you transfer that department, okay.
 6 And in total, how many employees are in
 7 there now?
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. I think we have thirty-some employees, I'd
 10 have to check the exact number, but –
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. All right, and how many of them are, is
 13 there a certain portion that are dedicated
 14 to NLSO and a certain portion that are not?
 15 MR. LEBLANC:
 16 A. They all look at all functions, the NLSO is
 17 the system operator for the province,
 18 including Hydro's facilities and so, all
 19 employees engage in that activity.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. So they operate the bulk system?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. They operate the bulk system now, so the 138
 24 and 69 kV, as well as some work on
 25 distribution as well. So, again, they have

Page 258

1 all the duties they had before, plus the
 2 integration and –
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Plus the bulk system and the integration,
 5 okay. And are there any portions of the
 6 NLSO function that is outside of the Board's
 7 regulatory authority, in your understanding?
 8 MR. LEBLANC:
 9 A. No.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Okay, so apart from sort of some costs that
 12 may be covered under orders-in-council and
 13 that sort of thing as to what can be
 14 charged, everything else, the regulation of
 15 NLSO costs is subject to Board regulation?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. Yes, that is correct.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. In terms of operating tariffs, I know there
 20 is a RFI on this, has there been an
 21 operating tariff established yet?
 22 MR. LEBLANC:
 23 A. A transmission tariff?
 24 MR. O'BRIEN:
 25 Q. A transmission tariff, yes.

Page 259

1 MR. LEBLANC:
 2 A. Yes, one has been established in Quarter 1.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. And when was that established?
 5 MR. LEBLANC:
 6 A. In Quarter 1 of this year.
 7 MR. O'BRIEN:
 8 Q. In Quarter 1, okay, good, all right. I was
 9 just wondering if we had a date on that.
 10 And I understand there was an annual
 11 planning assessment meeting in April for the
 12 NLSO?
 13 MR. LEBLANC:
 14 A. Pardon?
 15 MR. O'BRIEN:
 16 Q. Was here an annual assessment, 2018 annual
 17 assessment meeting for the NLSO in April?
 18 MR. LEBLANC:
 19 A. There was a stakeholders' meeting of the
 20 NLSO.
 21 MR. O'BRIEN:
 22 Q. Yeah, and how does that work, stakeholders'
 23 meeting, who was involved?
 24 MR. LEBLANC:
 25 A. Again, all transmission customers,

Page 260

1 transmission owners and potential
 2 transmission customers can attend.
 3 MR. O'BRIEN:
 4 Q. Okay, so would that include, say,
 5 Newfoundland Power, for example?
 6 MR. LEBLANC:
 7 A. No, because Newfoundland Power cannot be a
 8 transmission customer through the
 9 transmission tariff, so they are not
 10 eligible.
 11 MR. O'BRIEN:
 12 Q. Are they—did Hydro consider whether or not
 13 Newfoundland Power might provide some useful
 14 information in your assessments going
 15 forward as another system operator?
 16 MR. LEBLANC:
 17 A. I do not believe so.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. And have they considered doing that in the
 20 future?
 21 MR. LEBLANC:
 22 A. We could if there is an interest.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Okay, all right. And let me ask you about
 25 Nalcor Energy Marketing, that's the

Page 261

1 purchasing agency for Hydro, is that right?

2 MR. LEBLANC:

3 A. That is correct.

4 MR. O'BRIEN:

5 Q. And how will Hydro, I just want to

6 understand how Hydro is going to be able to

7 determine whether Nalcor Energy Marketing

8 purchases will meet with least cost

9 principles?

10 MR. LEBLANC:

11 A. The dealings with Nalcor Energy Marketing

12 with respect to purchases is covered under

13 Ms. Williams, so she'd be best to direct

14 those questions to.

15 MR. O'BRIEN:

16 Q. Okay, would you be able to answer that for

17 me?

18 MS. WILLIAMS:

19 A. Yes. There's probably several aspects

20 to the answer, is there's been some

21 work that's already occurred thus far

22 this year with regards to some

23 purchases I referenced earlier and I

24 think there's several steps is that

25 when Hydro has identified a need on the

Page 262

1 system that we think we could actually

2 do something differently with regards

3 to dispatch, then we would engage

4 Nalcor Energy Marketing who has that

5 history and that depth of knowledge and

6 that function for us, and we would

7 engage them and ask if they could go

8 and source something that's cheaper.

9 And so they would go out and look in

10 the market at the time and based on the

11 various constraints on the system, so

12 who has transmission capacity, who can

13 offer us energy, so we don't see all of

14 that detail as they're, you know,

15 sourcing the best deal for us, but they

16 would then come back to us and say

17 we've been able to procure this for

18 you, does that meet what you would

19 expect or is that something that you

20 would want to look at. So we then take

21 what they have procured and then say we

22 then do our own assessment to see if it

23 is indeed cheaper than us dispatching.

24 And so, for example, if you think about

25 the gas turbines this year, we have had

Page 263

1 15 opportunities year to date where we

2 engaged that exact process that we saw

3 on a look-ahead basis, okay, we could

4 indeed need to use a gas turbine

5 tomorrow, let's go engage our partners

6 at Nalcor Energy Marketing and see what

7 they can procure and they came back and

8 found something and we said, okay,

9 we'll do our own analysis and we found

10 that it is indeed cheaper and we said

11 yes, we would like to make that

12 purchase and we've avoided some gas

13 turbines, so as a first step that is

14 how we know that they're doing those

15 transactions for us. We are providing

16 for lower costs than what we would have

17 been able to provide, then there are

18 some RFIs, I know there is a

19 confidentiality associated with some of

20 these, so I'll work my way around some

21 of this questioning.

22 MR. O'BRIEN:

23 Q. Oh sure, yes.

24 MS. WILLIAMS:

25 A. Nalcor Energy Marketing has also gone out

Page 264

1 and I think the terminology they use, it's

2 all new to me, but they use the word

3 "sounding". They complete a sounding and

4 when they looked at sort of in the future

5 opportunities to enter something on a little

6 more firm basis that we could engage our

7 neighbours, they would pursue opportunities

8 with a series of suppliers, and they would

9 evaluate, again, are they technically able

10 to provide what we think we could want, for

11 example, on a firm basis, on a long term

12 sort of contracted basis, you know, having

13 something that they can recall and turn us

14 down in two hours is not useful to us, so

15 they would have to go through a series of,

16 you know, tick the box on a bunch of things,

17 like, you know, we want it in this colour,

18 this time of day and those sorts of things.

19 So they would complete a sounding of all the

20 available opportunities and then look for

21 what would be the cheapest opportunity, and

22 then work with Hydro to say does this make

23 sense financially, work that through, and

24 then if something does financially beat the

25 price at which we can provide the service,

Page 265

1 then we would engage that, which is what we
 2 have done on a couple of contracts that we
 3 have set up.
 4 MR. O'BRIEN:
 5 Q. So if there's no purchase, I guess, until
 6 you've had the opportunity for them to come
 7 back with here's what we found?
 8 MS. WILLIAMS:
 9 A. Correct.
 10 MR. O'BRIEN:
 11 Q. Here's what the cost is and you can evaluate
 12 that as to whether or not that meets your
 13 needs before it's purchased.
 14 MR. WILLIAMS:
 15 A. Right, I mean obviously we dispatch all our
 16 generation and the least cost order, so we
 17 wouldn't, it was only until we seize an
 18 opportunity, that's okay, we cannot, so with
 19 Holyrood, is we have offset Holyrood
 20 operation this past winter and again we've
 21 offset, say, some of the gas turbine use.
 22 We wouldn't do something unless we can
 23 offset, you know, from a least cost
 24 perspective a more expensive source of
 25 generation on the island.

Page 266

1 MR. O'BRIEN:
 2 Q. Okay, I'm just trying to get a flavour and I
 3 guess in terms of when Nalcor Energy
 4 Marketing goes to look for or sounding, I
 5 guess, is what you're indicating in terms of
 6 looking for what's on the market, do you
 7 give them guidelines as to what your needs
 8 are? Is there a written document that they
 9 get from you as to what our needs are and
 10 that sort of thing? How does that work?
 11 MS. WILLIAMS:
 12 A. Correct, so it's sort of done in, call them
 13 very short term and then a bit longer term,
 14 like a week or so, and then a much longer
 15 term, so we could have something developed
 16 today that is very short term that we have a
 17 need for, so if we have, you know, something
 18 major go wrong, but we're looking at our
 19 reserves, our spinning reserves and say,
 20 okay, if we can't find something cheaper, we
 21 will have to use a gas turbine to re-
 22 establish that.
 23 MR. O'BRIEN:
 24 Q. Right.
 25 MS. WILLIAMS:

Page 267

1 A. And so we could have something develop today
 2 and that has happened a couple of times this
 3 year where, in the moment, almost, we've
 4 been able to, okay, say something is going
 5 on at supertime, we need to see if we can
 6 procure something that is cheaper and they
 7 have done that for us a couple of times and
 8 we would have to tell them we need, you
 9 know, 30 megawatts available for, you know,
 10 if the power is out between 4 and 6 and
 11 again at, you know, between 6 and 9 tomorrow
 12 morning. So we tell them exactly what we
 13 need, we monitor the system and then we go
 14 back and we say this is exactly what we need
 15 for that period of time and they go and tell
 16 us if they can procure it, and then we come
 17 back and it's up to us to say yes, we want
 18 it, or no, we're not interested. We have
 19 the ultimate veto power.
 20 MR. O'BRIEN:
 21 Q. Okay.
 22 (1:30 p.m.)
 23 MS. WILLIAMS:
 24 A. So that's kind of in the moment, but then on
 25 a weekly basis we have a look ahead and we

Page 268

1 can determine, okay, if we can procure
 2 something, we can actually probably shut
 3 Holyrood unit probably a week early in the
 4 season and then we would then say can you go
 5 away and see if you can find a product for
 6 us, and they would again check and see
 7 what's in the market and come back and say
 8 we can find this product. It's up to us to
 9 decide and I think all told, I think we shut
 10 down Holyrood units this year about six
 11 weeks early, all told, and so that's, you
 12 know, quite good from our perspective. I
 13 think if you had Holyrood on at minimum
 14 instead, I think it runs about 1.3 million
 15 dollars a week, so we've been able to shut
 16 Holyrood units early this year, so we're
 17 quite happy to have that ability.
 18 MR. O'BRIEN:
 19 Q. Okay. It's 1:30 now, we have to break now.
 20 CHAIR:
 21 Q. Thank you, panel.
 22 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 23 Q. Ms. Chair, before we all leave, earlier on
 24 the evidence there was mention of the
 25 production team having meetings monthly, if

Page 269

1 there are minutes of these minutes
 2 available, can they be filed before we can
 3 continue, tomorrow or the next day? Are
 4 there such minutes?
 5 MR. YOUNG:
 6 Q. We'll look into that, Madam Chair, to
 7 determine. I don't know off the top of my
 8 head, I don't know if I can confirm that,
 9 but we will certainly get back to the
 10 Consumer Advocate.
 11 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 12 Q. Okay, that's fair enough, and the other
 13 item, there was a discrepancy between the
 14 2017 budget and U-2 in some of the evidence
 15 in other figures, can Hydro please figure it
 16 all out for us and let us know what's going
 17 on there between the 2017 budget and U-2, in
 18 the figures there and the figures elsewhere?
 19 Thank you very much.
 20 MR. YOUNG:
 21 Q. Yeah, I'm hoping there were a number of
 22 undertakings today, I have a feeling that
 23 once we see all of those, that we'll
 24 straighten that out and, of course, that's
 25 subject to Mr. Browne's being able to

Page 270

1 investigate that and look at those and
 2 determine if he's got the information he
 3 needs, but just generally we would
 4 anticipate that to come out of that
 5 disclosure, I think there was probably a
 6 dozen undertakings today on those items.
 7 Madam Chair, if I could, one other small
 8 point, Mr. O'Brien asked Mr. LeBlanc a few
 9 minutes ago about the transmission tariff
 10 and I think the question was when it
 11 occurred and he said Q-1 and he was
 12 wondering about a more specific timing.
 13 It's a matter of public record, I just
 14 looked at the web page, it's PU Quarter 3,
 15 2018, and that was on February 9th.
 16 CHAIR:
 17 Q. Does that meet your needs, Mr. Browne?
 18 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 19 Q. Yeah, we'll just like to take a look and see
 20 what's happening there. We can work it out.
 21 CHAIR:
 22 Q. Okay, thank you.
 23 MS. GLYNN:
 24 Q. Before we adjourn, Mr. Browne, the minutes
 25 that you requested, could you—I missed it in

Page 271

1 my own –
 2 BROWNE, Q.C.:
 3 Q. There was references to monthly meetings
 4 that the panel was holding in reference to
 5 various costing items, production, team
 6 meetings and these meetings you were holding
 7 every month, if there are minutes for them,
 8 we'd like to have them. Thank you.
 9 MS. GLYNN:
 10 Q. Thank you.
 11 CHAIR:
 12 Q. Are we all clear?
 13 MR. YOUNG:
 14 Q. I think so.
 15 CHAIR:
 16 Q. All right, we'll see you at 9 in the
 17 morning.
 18 Upon conclusion at 1:34 p.m.
 19
 20
 21
 22
 23
 24
 25

Page 272

CERTIFICATE

I, Judy Moss, hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro 2017 General Rate Application, heard on the 16th day of July, 2018 before the Board of Commissioners of Public Utilities, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador and was transcribed by me to the best of my ability by means of a sound apparatus.

Dated at St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador this 16th day of July, 2018

Judy Moss

<p style="text-align: center;">A</p> <p>Ability - 89:8, 89:10, 210:6, 210:7, 212:13, 219:8, 268:17 Able - 20:1, 23:20, 26:13, 52:21, 80:23, 104:20, 180:4, 209:13, 245:7, 250:9, 250:12, 252:8, 261:6, 261:16, 262:17, 263:17, 264:9, 267:4, 268:15, 269:25 Abnormal - 41:4 Abnormality - 41:7 Above - 145:20, 146:16, 151:23, 252:18 Absolute - 39:23 Absorb - 149:4 Accepted - 16:23 Access - 13:24, 14:3, 14:11, 224:5 Accomplished - 32:1, 249:3 Account - 3:12, 3:14, 4:4, 50:17, 62:9, 115:20, 117:18 Accountability - 20:16, 64:14 Accountable - 96:9, 198:9 Accounted - 62:14, 163:13, 180:13, 181:11 Accounting - 81:20 Accounts - 3:19 Accurate - 27:18, 142:19 Achievable - 89:22 Achieve - 83:5, 86:2, 152:3 Achieved - 32:8, 39:17, 81:8, 86:5 Achievement - 85:21 Achieving - 92:14, 149:24 Across - 14:6, 69:6, 103:18, 104:5, 104:7, 104:11, 118:6, 136:2, 141:2, 142:12, 149:4, 153:2 Act - 7:1, 50:4 Activity - 257:19</p>	<p>Actuals - 66:11, 66:23, 67:1, 72:23, 73:1, 73:6, 76:17, 78:13, 79:12, 80:11, 80:17, 119:19, 122:17, 123:2, 124:5, 124:11, 126:23, 130:9, 130:14, 130:17, 132:15, 133:11, 133:12, 136:20, 139:21, 144:14, 146:2, 147:14, 148:14, 150:15, 157:8, 157:13, 162:18, 175:13, 176:1, 188:18, 191:11, 195:2, 198:21, 200:8, 204:20, 208:13, 221:15, 226:15, 226:19, 227:3 Add - 46:5, 47:1, 104:6, 104:8, 125:16, 132:20, 150:8, 150:17, 151:22, 152:1, 152:7, 152:19, 153:7, 154:3, 182:11, 182:15, 183:19, 184:19, 185:13, 210:16, 216:22 Added - 54:24, 81:3, 121:25, 125:11, 136:5, 141:24, 142:22, 148:15, 164:14, 170:8, 180:2, 185:4, 198:21, 199:1, 200:23, 201:5, 201:7, 201:25, 206:12 Adding - 44:7, 143:1, 143:5, 143:11, 149:18, 149:19, 153:24, 168:15, 179:12, 179:16, 186:6, 186:25, 206:1 Addition - 12:10, 14:14, 95:14, 104:9, 127:7 Additions - 141:16 Addressed - 5:7, 6:4, 105:17 Addressing - 248:4 Adequacy - 12:15 Adjourn - 270:24 Adjustment - 220:</p>	<p>2 Adjustments - 92:21 Admin - 193:8, 198:14, 201:6, 202:12, 202:21, 222:12 Advantage - 256:4 Advertised - 53:25 Advice - 214:24 Advised - 160:20 Advocate - 269:10 Affect - 5:8, 5:11, 101:17, 105:8, 126:9, 154:11, 190:10, 253:20 Affected - 190:7 Affiliates - 56:18, 172:13 Affirm - 9:9 Affirmation - 8:23 AFFIRMED - 9:25 Agency - 261:1 Aggressive - 36:2, 97:7, 178:5 Aggressively - 36:11 Agree - 185:19 Agreed - 2:8, 2:16, 2:20, 3:1, 3:15, 3:20, 3:24, 4:8, 4:13 Agreement - 1:11, 1:17, 1:19, 1:21, 2:2, 2:6, 2:9, 2:13, 2:18, 2:19, 3:2, 3:9, 3:23, 4:9, 4:11, 5:6, 5:8, 5:14, 5:17, 5:22, 7:12, 86:11 Agreements - 4:19, 4:22, 5:23, 7:18, 156:15 Agrees - 4:14 Ahead - 52:12, 192:16, 230:20, 263:3, 267:25 Aids - 218:9 Airport - 11:10 Aligned - 214:14 Aligning - 249:3 Allocated - 3:16, 3:20, 4:16, 44:24, 84:16, 111:7, 111:9 Allocation - 84:14 Allocations - 84:7 Allotted - 125:4 Allow - 211:20 Allowance - 44:10, 45:12, 83:25, 84:1, 84:10, 85:11, 85:17, 85:25, 90:20,</p>	<p>109:16, 110:11 Allows - 87:19 Alluded - 7:19, 131:4 Alright - 117:2, 117:22, 129:15, 134:25 America - 242:22 American - 14:23, 120:4 Amongst - 110:19, 111:15 Amount - 3:5, 3:17, 45:1, 47:17, 81:8, 129:4, 186:19, 205:25, 219:1, 239:11, 241:1 Amounting - 235:24 Analysis - 53:13, 100:3, 147:5, 172:8, 224:16, 263:9 Anchor - 213:17 Annual - 28:1, 49:3, 259:10, 259:16 Anomalies - 77:10 Anomaly - 41:10 Anticipate - 41:20, 155:15, 243:7, 243:10, 243:13, 243:14, 243:16, 243:20, 245:18, 270:4 Anticipated - 160:5 Anticipating - 231:6 Anyhow - 126:19 Anymore - 125:17, 219:6 Anyone's - 228:6 Anyway - 26:24, 40:21, 44:11, 122:9, 129:21, 147:14, 155:24, 213:4, 216:8 Anywhere - 68:7, 240:16 Apologies - 204:16 Apologize - 226:17 Appear - 118:5, 188:20, 207:24 Appears - 220:19, 220:23, 238:14 Applicable - 31:9 Application - 3:22, 4:4 Apply - 2:11 Appointed - 15:17, 16:8, 16:11, 16:13,</p>	<p>16:20, 25:4 Appreciation - 7:16 Approach - 97:7, 219:4, 220:8 Approached - 219:15 Approaching - 150:24 Appropriate - 39:19, 39:21, 43:22, 65:5, 68:3, 80:13, 141:12, 211:4, 211:22 Approved - 3:16, 214:2 Approximately - 4:24, 109:18, 181:19, 251:25 April - 14:17, 16:15, 18:15, 18:24, 19:7, 19:21, 21:22, 21:23, 27:1, 27:5, 27:8, 98:3, 134:15, 259:11, 259:17 Area - 2:13, 11:1, 21:15, 80:15, 93:24, 111:23, 118:12, 118:13, 118:14, 118:16, 122:4, 122:18, 126:12, 127:7, 132:20, 151:15, 158:21, 200:16, 206:13, 207:23, 207:24, 208:21, 209:21, 220:23, 227:17, 227:22, 227:23, 228:6, 231:17, 232:22, 237:10, 245:15, 252:25 Areas - 19:6, 22:11, 33:21, 36:1, 55:2, 88:3, 101:16, 111:13, 111:25, 112:11, 175:2, 176:13, 207:21, 208:8, 217:10, 230:4 Aren't - 62:21, 94:5, 107:8, 155:19 Arise - 6:17 Arm - 12:7, 187:3 Arriving - 7:17 Aspect - 14:24, 64:16, 81:12, 210:21 Aspects - 12:18, 61:24, 261:19</p>
--	--	--	--	--

<p>Assessment - 259:11, 259:16, 259:17, 262:22 Assessments - 260:14 Assets - 16:18, 65:7, 164:17, 165:16, 165:19, 196:4, 206:1, 243:8 Assistance - 4:19, 4:22, 90:12, 92:1 Assistant - 168:19 Associate - 161:14 Associated - 60:21, 121:10, 157:6, 157:12, 158:4, 161:2, 192:21, 194:11, 214:8, 231:13, 236:2, 263:19 Assumed - 138:18, 212:4 Assurance - 173:7 Atmosphere - 217:5 Attachment - 33:3, 40:7, 74:15, 111:22, 115:2, 115:5, 123:1, 156:4, 159:13, 175:19, 188:17, 207:15 Attend - 96:23, 218:23, 219:8, 260:2 Attendance - 88:5, 107:20, 153:19 Attended - 99:25 Attending - 32:22, 99:14 Attention - 151:2 Attribute - 110:19 Audits - 212:22 August - 7:21, 24:25, 25:2, 25:7 Authority - 11:10, 258:7 Automatically - 87:21 Autonomous - 165:14, 165:25, 196:23 Availability - 61:23, 248:12, 248:16 Available - 6:14, 253:21, 264:20, 267:9, 269:2 Avalon - 186:22, 187:1 Avoided - 263:12 Aware - 6:22, 18:16, 31:25, 41:5, 53:6, 82:9, 84:2,</p>	<p>106:21, 106:25, 109:19, 114:10, 116:16, 138:16, 189:13, 249:4, 250:7, 255:4</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 0 auto; padding: 2px;">B</div> <p>Bachelor - 12:24 Backfilled - 141:13 Background - 17:21 Baie - 12:6 Balance - 3:11, 3:15, 3:17, 3:20, 39:24, 40:1, 40:4, 43:17, 43:20, 52:4, 95:12 Ball - 217:23 Bar - 253:22 Base - 57:14, 60:20, 180:10, 180:20, 180:21, 181:8, 181:16, 181:17, 182:5 Based - 4:25, 47:6, 47:13, 60:2, 60:17, 60:18, 60:24, 62:2, 64:6, 124:24, 153:13, 160:1, 177:20, 177:22, 178:1, 188:23, 262:10 Baseline - 46:22, 47:3 Baselining - 159:25 Basis - 3:21, 4:3, 34:9, 45:7, 61:17, 62:6, 62:8, 90:2, 106:11, 116:5, 127:16, 131:15, 133:22, 137:4, 145:24, 146:22, 149:25, 150:10, 152:2, 155:12, 164:20, 172:9, 190:24, 196:13, 246:23, 251:17, 263:3, 264:6, 264:11, 264:12, 267:25 Bay - 153:20, 186:21 Bear - 115:6 Beat - 84:3, 264:24 Became - 15:23, 15:25, 36:10, 38:13, 38:20 Become - 22:21, 165:24, 245:23 Becoming - 13:16,</p>	<p>183:4 Behind - 64:8, 90:18, 166:12, 171:4, 252:9 Below - 91:16, 146:15 Bench - 49:8, 49:20, 52:5, 52:18, 54:17, 93:18, 178:10, 183:9, 183:14, 183:19, 184:20, 185:9, 185:22, 186:4, 186:14, 187:13 Beneficial - 184:19 Benefit - 37:12, 52:10, 104:10, 107:9, 107:11, 107:16, 107:21, 108:10, 186:12, 215:3, 215:8, 224:16, 225:15, 225:16 Benefits - 81:11, 93:10, 104:25, 112:15, 113:20 Bi - 92:20 Bible - 9:1 Big - 191:10, 210:8, 213:2 Biggest - 93:7, 95:13, 223:9 Bit - 11:25, 17:18, 36:14, 40:11, 59:22, 91:21, 102:4, 111:13, 128:17, 131:25, 132:16, 141:11, 146:12, 159:6, 187:19, 191:22, 197:19, 211:8, 212:23, 219:14, 220:8, 227:24, 241:5, 246:7, 266:13 Blanche - 10:11 Blocks - 255:4 Board - 1:11, 3:16, 3:18, 4:14, 6:4, 6:14, 7:8, 7:15, 11:23, 17:3, 49:14, 82:6, 82:15, 82:25, 86:1, 95:3, 106:21, 108:12, 160:20, 172:3, 184:12, 188:12, 196:17, 223:15, 225:18, 258:15 Board's - 6:23, 7:3, 82:3, 258:6 Boiler - 231:11 Bolt - 253:22</p>	<p>Bonus - 112:16 Bonuses - 114:4 Book - 47:21 Books - 195:17 Both - 3:18, 25:18, 44:7, 93:19, 101:15, 158:25, 170:15, 217:2, 235:11, 236:18, 253:6 Bottom - 26:25, 157:23, 224:4, 232:18 Box - 264:16 Brakes - 90:22 Brand - 143:5, 143:7, 143:11 Break - 129:16, 167:1, 268:19 Breakdown - 74:18 Breaks - 227:21 Brian's - 199:1 Bridging - 169:11 Brings - 12:18, 15:1, 17:4 Broader - 15:18, 15:25 Broken - 122:17, 141:2, 235:22 Brook - 2:19 Brought - 51:4, 51:8, 91:9, 111:16, 172:6, 172:7, 178:25, 198:3, 198:5, 215:7, 232:15 BROWNE - 6:21, 7:14, 17:15, 17:16, 18:7, 18:12, 18:21, 19:4, 19:10, 268:22, 269:11, 270:17, 270:18, 270:24, 271:2 Browne's - 269:25 Brunswick - 14:6, 14:14 Bucket - 218:14 Budgeted - 182:4 Budgeting - 27:21, 29:11, 58:17, 59:1, 85:12 Budgets - 28:1, 28:14, 28:24, 29:3, 29:13, 29:14, 29:17, 30:3, 59:4, 65:11, 65:16, 91:1, 105:12, 126:20, 136:15, 138:19 Build - 59:4, 59:5, 61:6, 61:14, 64:5 Building - 15:13,</p>	<p>179:9 Built - 48:16, 48:21, 64:6, 108:14, 109:16, 177:18, 177:19, 177:25, 181:21 Bulk - 192:4, 240:25, 257:21, 257:23, 258:4 Bunch - 104:7, 141:24, 264:16 Business - 14:25, 22:12, 36:18, 55:3, 55:5, 56:3, 87:18, 88:8, 100:13, 142:25, 150:4, 164:21, 164:22, 166:12, 168:3, 171:3, 171:7, 187:16, 187:20, 218:12, 218:13, 235:20</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 0 auto; padding: 2px;">C</div> <p>Cables - 14:15 Calculate - 128:21 Calculation - 162:15, 173:6 Call - 5:4, 59:22, 179:3, 183:21, 211:20, 266:12 Called - 7:10, 35:6, 153:24, 179:5 Camp - 119:9, 123:10, 124:4, 133:16, 139:23 Can't - 24:10, 47:1, 53:8, 75:20, 75:22, 77:13, 93:25, 103:5, 105:24, 122:22, 146:18, 174:4, 214:23, 219:18, 233:22, 266:20 Capability - 252:21 Capacity - 4:18, 4:22, 262:12 Capital - 11:24, 20:14, 20:17, 20:19, 20:20, 20:22, 47:20, 49:12, 50:20, 50:22, 50:24, 52:11, 53:7, 55:9, 62:14, 93:19, 140:3, 145:1, 149:11, 157:18, 157:23, 158:3, 158:6, 160:3, 160:13, 161:1, 161:5, 161:22, 176:20,</p>
---	--	---	---	---

<p>178:11, 182:20, 183:3, 185:17, 186:2, 186:7, 187:12, 187:23, 205:18, 205:24 Capitalization - 11 7:17, 159:5 Capitalized - 161:8 Captured - 107:23 Careers - 182:25 Carrying - 44:12 Caryn - 35:17 Case - 27:14, 79:1, 79:2, 134:9, 138:18, 140:11, 160:22, 161:21, 169:13, 183:17, 187:16, 187:20, 219:24, 235:20 Cases - 49:24, 54:2, 84:3 Cat - 12:7, 187:2 Catalogued - 102:2 5 Catch - 41:6, 41:15 Categories - 235:2 3 Center - 196:15, 196:18, 196:21, 197:18 Central - 153:16 Centre - 14:2, 14:4, 14:22, 22:20, 257:3 Centred - 224:10 CEO - 16:16 Certain - 44:24, 122:23, 124:24, 217:10, 257:13, 257:14 Certainly - 7:14, 12:3, 20:16, 20:23, 31:25, 32:14, 53:6, 58:15, 58:23, 80:17, 81:5, 82:23, 87:12, 107:21, 144:16, 150:23, 162:24, 190:24, 204:8, 205:11, 243:14, 269:9 Chain - 50:3 CHAIR - 1:2, 1:14, 5:19, 6:18, 7:13, 7:25, 8:16, 8:21, 8:24, 9:8, 9:14, 9:21, 17:10, 17:14, 17:17, 129:25, 268:20, 268:23, 269:6, 270:7, 270:16, 270:21, 271:11, 271:15 Challenge - 32:4,</p>	<p>35:6, 46:13, 47:3, 58:4, 93:7, 95:10, 95:14, 104:14 Challenges - 95:1 Challenging - 52:9, 106:22 Chances - 118:11 Change - 19:24, 21:21, 53:19, 78:22, 83:10, 102:4, 104:14, 126:19, 133:6, 134:23, 153:9, 155:15, 165:12, 170:6, 196:1, 224:7, 231:6, 242:13, 242:15, 242:18, 243:5, 243:10, 243:14, 243:17, 243:21, 245:18 Changed - 6:8, 19:6, 141:4, 141:9, 160:15, 196:7 Changes - 18:14, 18:17, 18:22, 19:20, 21:23, 27:2, 27:9, 27:13, 119:6, 136:2, 151:11, 156:12, 190:18, 213:19 Changing - 102:5, 153:11 Charge - 239:19, 240:7, 240:11, 241:1, 243:23, 244:7, 245:2 Charged - 222:12, 241:9, 241:13, 241:21, 244:6, 244:11, 258:14 Charges - 145:1, 238:9, 238:13, 238:15, 238:21 Charging - 243:15, 245:12, 245:20 Chart - 17:24, 122:16, 122:25, 204:20, 238:12 Chasing - 247:3 Cheaper - 110:12, 262:8, 262:23, 263:10, 266:20, 267:6 Cheapest - 264:21 Check - 36:8, 85:24, 88:20, 120:20, 123:17, 123:19, 123:22, 140:10, 162:14, 204:3, 204:6, 211:2,</p>	<p>212:24, 229:6, 229:8, 240:15, 257:10, 268:6 Checking - 96:7 CHIEF - 10:2 Churchill - 244:2, 244:5 Circled - 126:4, 126:13, 155:19 Circling - 154:10, 190:9, 190:14 Civil - 10:8, 10:15, 11:14, 15:8, 214:19 Clareville - 11:1 Classroom - 215:9 Close - 145:4, 162:4 Closer - 88:12 Cloudy - 91:22 Coast - 10:12 Cognizant - 83:9 Colour - 264:17 Combination - 104 :21, 105:1 Combine - 38:9, 153:8 Come - 6:3, 17:2, 22:25, 43:13, 58:2, 64:23, 68:7, 68:21, 109:7, 132:21, 144:13, 160:3, 161:16, 163:20, 171:25, 194:16, 199:4, 203:2, 205:21, 211:16, 215:11, 215:14, 228:5, 228:8, 232:12, 233:13, 254:12, 254:23, 262:16, 265:6, 267:16, 268:7, 270:4 Comes - 74:15, 85:13, 93:8 Coming - 23:10, 49:13, 52:12, 64:1, 104:5, 160:1, 178:12, 212:23, 243:8 Commenced - 10:9 , 12:2 Comment - 75:15, 75:20, 75:22, 77:13, 80:23, 114:15, 137:11, 218:5 Comments - 6:20, 27:21, 106:22 Commercial - 120: 13, 122:6 Commissioned - 2</p>	<p>53:6 Commissioners - 1:14, 2:4 Commissioning - 250:16, 251:4, 251:6, 251:18, 252:2, 253:5, 255:20 Committed - 184:1 1 Committee - 164:1 9 Communications - 173:17 Company - 10:17, 31:25, 80:8, 85:9, 102:13, 141:3, 153:15, 155:18, 225:25 Comparative - 222 :24 Compare - 130:13 Compared - 113:6, 135:7, 139:22 Compares - 80:11 Comparing - 135:1 4 Comparison - 40:2 0, 40:25 Competition - 54:8 Complement - 55: 6 Complete - 264:3, 264:19 Completed - 10:14, 32:11, 128:24, 150:15 Completing - 32:1 3, 178:13 Compliance - 120: 14, 122:6 Complicating - 14 0:1, 140:2, 140:7 Component - 79:2 4, 131:24, 210:25, 211:14 Composed - 110:3 Compromise - 95: 7 Concept - 95:5, 150:2 Concern - 207:18 Concerning - 106: 22 Concerns - 248:20, 249:1 Concerted - 147:1 9, 217:9, 217:13, 217:15 Concludes - 17:10 Conclusion - 271:1</p>	<p>8 Conferences - 35: 22, 37:6, 218:18, 218:22, 219:6, 220:9 Confidence - 249:2 Confidentiality - 2 63:19 Confirm - 269:8 Confused - 177:7 Conjunction - 193: 7 Connect - 217:19 Conscious - 95:9, 138:6, 183:6, 183:7 Consciously - 85:4 Consider - 61:22, 111:4, 177:19, 177:20, 186:24, 199:18, 260:12 Considered - 260: 19 Considering - 43:1 2, 64:23, 178:1 Consistent - 239:1 3 Constrain - 210:23 Constrained - 211: 23, 220:11 Constraining - 212 :12 Constraint - 189:8, 211:18, 218:21, 220:1 Constraints - 262: 11 Construction - 10: 13, 11:13 Consultation - 170 :1, 214:11, 225:4 Consumables - 23 3:17 Consumer - 269:1 0 Contact - 99:5, 246:20 Contained - 234:11 Contemplate - 43: 18, 89:6 Contemplated - 10 5:11, 134:5 Context - 7:11, 43:13 Continuation - 3:3 Continue - 29:9, 35:8, 37:11, 68:15, 68:16, 153:22, 155:20, 183:10, 209:17, 269:3 Continued - 81:12, 189:7</p>
--	--	---	--	---

<p>Continues - 81:13 Continuing - 44:14 Contract - 107:25, 108:3, 235:25, 236:11, 236:14 Contracted - 264:1 2 Contracting - 51:1 8, 106:6 Contractor - 48:16, 53:4, 60:22, 185:21, 187:18, 233:12 Contractors - 48:1, 48:5, 48:11, 49:21, 50:1, 51:4, 52:17, 53:17, 53:18, 54:3, 182:18, 183:11, 187:6, 187:25, 188:8, 216:19, 216:20 Contracts - 52:10, 235:23, 265:2 Contributes - 80:9 Control - 14:1, 14:4, 14:22, 22:19, 32:2, 49:21, 80:16, 81:24, 83:1, 87:4, 87:6, 87:14, 88:6, 93:8, 94:21, 94:25, 95:4, 95:9, 95:17, 95:21, 96:13, 96:15, 96:17, 96:21, 97:7, 97:12, 104:16, 104:22, 104:24, 107:18, 126:1, 129:1, 173:11, 173:17, 173:22, 178:9, 186:15, 186:20, 196:15, 213:18, 215:13, 215:14, 217:13, 225:19, 257:3 Controllable - 94:6 Controls - 251:19 Conversations - 1 69:2, 216:8 Conversion - 3:14 Convert - 53:16 Converted - 84:24 Cooperation - 5:21 Coordinated - 99:2 3 Copies - 2:2, 98:20 Copy - 2:5, 98:25 Corner - 2:19 Corporately - 193: 7 Corporation - 87:1 6</p>	<p>Correctly - 81:19, 194:14 Costing - 271:5 Costly - 50:6 Couldn't - 32:5, 178:4, 197:13, 201:23 Council - 7:5, 258:12 Counsel - 1:12, 7:16 Count - 118:15, 137:6, 174:4 Counted - 172:25 Counting - 172:22 Couple - 13:6, 61:1, 104:4, 107:14, 107:24, 126:24, 144:10, 155:2, 183:5, 231:5, 241:2, 265:2, 267:2, 267:4 Coupled - 95:5 Course - 2:21, 5:6, 44:23, 47:18, 53:2, 56:2, 56:14, 87:10, 89:19, 178:16, 186:12, 254:6, 269:24 Courses - 218:10 Cover - 191:22, 227:18 Coverage - 139:8 Covered - 1:19, 203:11, 258:12, 261:12 Covering - 137:2, 139:23 Covers - 2:9, 5:6 Created - 53:20, 64:12, 70:12, 70:24, 105:12, 120:7, 133:2, 133:3, 133:5, 133:8, 134:4, 134:8, 134:22 Creating - 246:12 Creation - 11:25, 75:24 Credentials - 10:5, 12:22 Credit - 3:3, 3:4, 3:5, 3:10 Crews - 212:25 Critical - 35:23, 183:14, 183:15, 186:24, 187:5, 188:1, 213:24, 214:1, 216:6, 216:21, 218:13 Criticisms - 53:3</p>	<p>Cross - 1:23, 17:16 CT - 178:12 Current - 10:6, 190:15 Currently - 12:17, 14:19, 43:21, 108:3 Curtable - 3:4 Customer - 61:25, 260:8 Customers - 106:1 4, 107:9, 107:11, 107:16, 107:18, 107:21, 108:8, 108:10, 259:25, 260:2 Cut - 103:11, 217:10, 217:23 Cutback - 212:3, 212:13, 212:23, 213:11 Cuts - 68:13, 68:14, 218:2 Cutting - 212:6, 217:18 Cycling - 51:14</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;"> <p>D</p> </div> <p>Daily - 246:23, 251:17 Dalhousie - 13:1 Dalley - 27:22, 36:14, 65:10, 81:7, 85:24, 90:1, 97:15, 115:3, 126:7, 147:24 Dam - 10:15 Damper - 210:5 Date - 12:18, 15:1, 17:4, 70:8, 70:16, 71:19, 75:25, 90:25, 133:9, 160:12, 160:15, 197:18, 238:22, 253:18, 259:9, 263:1 Dates - 255:1 Day - 95:12, 187:6, 251:20, 264:18, 269:3 Days - 214:20 Deal - 262:15 Dealing - 114:3 Dealings - 261:11 Deals - 4:11, 4:18, 174:11 Dealt - 4:16 December - 82:4 Decide - 46:5, 89:8, 218:15, 268:9 Decided - 169:24, 184:21, 196:22</p>	<p>Decision - 32:10, 95:12, 133:20, 153:13, 185:4, 193:6 Decisions - 39:18, 39:19, 95:7, 95:8, 154:16 Decrease - 121:9, 125:7, 191:23, 245:22 Dedicated - 240:19 , 257:13 Deer - 202:20 Defer - 126:6, 218:16 Deferral - 3:11, 3:14, 4:4 Deferred - 3:8, 7:9, 213:21 Deficiency - 4:12, 4:15 Definitely - 64:15, 71:5, 219:9 Degree - 10:8, 15:8, 214:20, 214:22 Delay - 252:2, 252:9, 254:7, 256:1, 256:11, 256:15 Delayed - 250:15, 251:2 Deliver - 38:15, 199:23 Demands - 61:25 Department - 13:6, 13:13, 13:15, 18:18, 26:4, 26:14, 45:24, 47:4, 93:8, 93:15, 101:6, 111:5, 125:5, 125:16, 126:1, 126:6, 126:9, 130:5, 132:7, 132:8, 138:19, 138:20, 139:7, 139:10, 140:18, 142:3, 142:7, 142:23, 150:22, 154:12, 165:25, 207:6, 224:17, 224:19, 242:18, 243:1, 243:22, 244:23, 257:5 Departmental - 43: 25, 44:21 Departments - 21: 22, 28:1, 42:21, 43:1, 43:5, 46:13, 83:13, 84:11, 96:3, 110:20, 132:4,</p>	<p>151:12, 159:8, 211:10, 213:12 Department's - 21 0:7 Depth - 262:5 Deregulation - 14: 1 Described - 110:2 Describes - 32:3 Design - 2:25, 15:9 D'espoir - 12:6, 153:21, 186:21 Determine - 142:17 , 169:12, 214:8, 261:7, 268:1, 269:7, 270:2 Determined - 3:18, 165:22 Develop - 267:1 Developed - 266:1 5 Development - 13: 8, 14:10, 37:10, 233:6 Devices - 202:11 Didn't - 36:3, 41:20, 53:1, 77:10, 102:17, 121:5, 129:6, 138:10, 143:16, 155:13, 171:10, 172:1, 173:6, 178:10, 178:23, 179:9, 183:9, 199:4, 202:13, 210:11, 211:3, 236:25 Diesel - 11:7, 14:9, 232:14, 232:17 Difference - 126:25 , 127:14, 128:6, 128:12, 144:11, 158:24, 207:9, 213:3, 213:8 Different - 28:22, 39:14, 48:22, 63:2, 93:5, 95:23, 97:8, 99:13, 101:19, 102:14, 106:7, 110:20, 141:13, 152:14, 175:2, 190:2, 208:14, 214:12, 219:14, 220:8 Differential - 127:1 6 Differently - 102:6, 106:6, 262:2 Difficult - 93:23, 142:16, 213:10 Direction - 32:16, 32:20, 197:2,</p>
--	---	--	---	--

<p>209:15, 209:24, 210:22 Directly - 18:8, 22:2, 96:12, 244:6 Directors - 172:3 Disallowance - 82:7 Disclosure - 270:5 Disconnect - 76:11 Discrepancy - 269:13 Discusses - 96:1 Discussions - 75:13, 81:17, 138:14, 247:21, 247:24, 250:4 Dispatch - 94:6, 262:3, 265:15 Dispatching - 262:23 Distribution - 8:12, 10:17, 13:8, 13:9, 13:10, 13:16, 13:17, 15:15, 15:20, 21:10, 22:15, 23:6, 23:14, 23:22, 114:14, 116:14, 161:15, 257:25 Division - 22:12, 84:17, 200:5, 202:25, 205:24, 224:24 Divisions - 23:21, 164:23, 171:23 Document - 21:14, 24:21, 33:6, 33:9, 33:10, 33:19, 66:25, 70:8, 70:17, 71:20, 74:1, 115:10, 133:4, 133:8, 188:21, 266:8 Documents - 111:14, 135:15, 247:4 Doesn't - 13:1, 72:5, 76:20, 76:22, 87:20, 110:8, 114:2, 115:9, 122:16, 144:25, 152:24, 156:10, 188:20, 194:16, 219:5, 241:23 Dollar - 70:5, 74:17, 110:14, 110:18, 117:10, 130:10, 176:2, 191:23 Dollars - 36:9, 53:8, 82:8, 104:16, 104:20, 108:1, 109:18, 124:14,</p>	<p>124:16, 126:25, 144:11, 158:6, 162:4, 187:12, 215:23, 268:15 Door - 53:5, 183:2, 186:2, 187:7 Double - 194:22, 240:15 Dovetail - 101:22 Dozen - 270:6 Drafted - 247:5 Drafting - 16:5 Driven - 59:13, 230:25 Driver - 104:23 Driving - 92:14 Drop - 116:3 Dropped - 227:24 Due - 80:2, 127:11, 149:1 Duties - 19:5, 22:8, 120:3, 258:1</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;"> <p>E</p> </div> <p>Each - 8:3, 13:23, 19:18, 23:21, 27:20, 27:25, 33:20, 35:4, 35:7, 37:20, 38:1, 38:7, 38:11, 43:24, 46:12, 49:3, 63:14, 77:20, 83:13, 84:10, 84:16, 84:17, 90:2, 93:4, 99:6, 99:14, 100:10, 109:19, 111:5, 111:12, 112:11, 166:12, 166:15, 213:11, 220:22, 223:8, 224:8, 225:13, 230:3, 240:3 Earlier - 37:25, 74:15, 75:12, 78:12, 81:7, 98:1, 131:4, 141:7, 154:8, 156:23, 182:17, 183:23, 188:24, 191:18, 199:10, 203:13, 232:7, 254:4, 256:22, 261:23, 268:23 Early - 70:24, 71:16, 108:4, 108:7, 268:3, 268:11, 268:16 Ebbs - 49:22 ECC - 122:3, 196:18, 196:21, 198:5, 206:1, 225:10, 244:1,</p>	<p>244:22, 256:25, 257:2 Economic - 12:16, 248:16 Effect - 57:10, 105:19, 155:5 Effected - 83:6 Effective - 52:20, 197:18 Efficiency - 5:24, 7:20, 37:17 Efficiently - 110:13 Effort - 147:19, 154:19, 210:12, 217:9, 217:13, 217:15 EFP - 81:20 Eight - 135:5, 173:14, 189:10, 211:15, 215:11, 251:20 EIT - 13:4 Electric - 13:12, 13:19, 13:20, 13:22, 14:2, 14:3 Electrical - 12:24, 178:8, 214:22 Eligible - 260:10 Eliminate - 38:9, 141:5 Eliminated - 140:19, 140:23, 142:1, 142:3 Elimination - 116:13, 141:11 Elsewhere - 34:3, 85:6, 85:8, 269:18 Email - 102:18, 102:20 Embed - 183:12 Embedded - 47:25, 48:5, 48:11, 48:15, 49:21, 50:1, 51:4, 51:17, 52:17, 53:4, 53:17, 54:2, 182:18, 185:21, 187:18, 187:24, 188:8, 216:20 Employed - 256:23 Employee - 112:15, 113:20, 211:13 Employees - 47:20, 49:7, 49:16, 50:7, 52:22, 53:9, 53:19, 54:18, 94:16, 95:2, 95:7, 95:11, 99:14, 100:11, 103:25, 121:5, 138:11, 150:23, 150:25, 161:6, 182:23, 183:20, 183:21,</p>	<p>218:11, 219:25, 240:6, 240:10, 240:25, 241:20, 242:2, 243:2, 243:22, 245:19, 256:24, 257:6, 257:9, 257:19 EMS - 196:14, 197:18, 198:4, 198:16, 199:1, 244:1, 244:3 Energize - 251:19 Energized - 250:21, 251:8, 251:10 Energizing - 178:14 Energy - 3:13, 14:1, 14:4, 14:5, 14:22, 22:19, 62:6, 62:8, 104:19, 196:15, 223:10, 225:6, 225:11, 225:17, 251:17, 251:21, 256:5, 257:3, 260:25, 261:7, 261:11, 262:4, 262:13, 263:6, 263:25, 266:3 Engage - 48:11, 49:25, 257:19, 262:3, 262:7, 263:5, 264:6, 265:1 Engaged - 263:2 Engineer - 11:14, 13:8, 13:13, 15:10, 15:12, 166:5, 167:18, 168:20, 170:5, 173:22, 186:13, 186:15 Engineers - 166:6, 168:10, 168:11, 168:16, 170:12, 170:15, 171:5, 171:15, 173:11, 178:8, 178:9, 179:3, 179:6, 180:1, 183:21 Ensure - 29:13, 36:21 Enter - 264:5 Entities - 163:21 Environment - 211:14 Equipment - 227:18, 227:23, 230:3, 230:24, 231:18, 232:13, 233:3, 233:11, 234:22, 235:15, 236:3, 236:24, 237:11,</p>	<p>237:13, 238:4 Essentially - 42:25 Establish - 266:22 Established - 258:21, 259:2, 259:4 Evaluate - 264:9, 265:11 Evaluated - 103:1, 103:7 Evenings - 94:4 Events - 169:10 Everybody - 1:3, 95:3, 103:19, 104:12, 104:13 Everybody's - 179:19 Everyone - 11:11, 44:23, 85:11, 99:25, 101:23 Everything - 94:19, 144:17, 146:20, 150:3, 225:19, 258:14 Evidence - 6:7, 7:10, 9:2, 9:9, 9:16, 17:23, 27:18, 31:15, 31:16, 147:25, 155:9, 207:16, 228:3, 246:11, 268:24, 269:14 Evolve - 42:23 Evolved - 42:20 Evolves - 87:18, 88:9 Exam - 214:21 EXAMINATION - 10:2, 17:12, 17:16 Examined - 1:23, 116:3 Example - 10:18, 37:6, 61:22, 87:22, 88:4, 127:12, 134:3, 136:3, 141:9, 152:25, 210:20, 211:1, 214:17, 218:9, 225:11, 225:17, 241:4, 260:5, 262:24, 264:11 Exception - 166:4 Excess - 4:12, 4:16 Excluding - 147:4 Exclusive - 131:12, 139:13, 163:4 Exclusively - 164:24, 164:25, 165:24 Execute - 20:22, 45:13, 47:23, 149:13, 150:5, 233:13</p>
---	--	---	---	--

<p>Executing - 129:4 Execution - 15:23, 165:3, 165:21 Executive - 16:12, 16:22, 17:1, 29:12, 38:11, 54:10, 63:7, 63:9, 75:14, 80:24, 96:19, 96:20, 96:23, 98:11, 101:10, 101:13, 109:4, 110:4, 168:23, 169:25, 172:4, 178:17, 184:14, 198:2, 238:12, 238:13 Exercise - 142:14 Exhibit - 17:22 Existed - 219:7 Existence - 7:5 Exists - 94:20, 155:22 Expand - 14:13, 120:2 Expanded - 14:7, 15:25, 22:20 Expect - 61:18, 61:23, 61:24, 72:19, 101:1, 105:5, 105:10, 105:16, 105:18, 107:10, 121:19, 139:6, 148:25, 155:4, 175:25, 176:13, 190:7, 190:19, 207:3, 209:9, 236:11, 236:14, 237:20, 242:8, 242:15, 243:2, 245:22, 252:25, 262:19 Expectation - 253:5, 253:14, 254:22 Expectations - 94:14 Expected - 3:23, 3:25, 4:7, 6:9, 68:9, 77:10, 151:5, 168:1, 182:5 Expecting - 108:12, 124:3, 252:15 Expenditure - 39:12 Expense - 234:24 Expensive - 50:15, 265:24 Experience - 12:21, 54:22 Experienced - 186:13 Experiencing - 150:21, 151:7</p>	<p>Expert - 5:5 Experts - 7:17 Explain - 6:15, 128:14, 207:8, 207:11 Explained - 102:15 Explains - 48:25 Explanation - 48:10 Explanations - 236:8 Explicit - 137:18 Exploits - 239:1, 239:3, 240:9, 241:19, 241:22, 243:4 Expressed - 248:20, 249:1 Extended - 2:21 Extent - 87:12, 155:21, 209:9 Extra - 41:20, 200:8 Extraordinary - 178:11 Eye - 217:23</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: 100px; margin: 10px auto;"> <p>F</p> </div> <p>Facilities - 10:24, 11:18, 12:8, 12:13, 14:8, 247:16, 257:18 Factors - 62:9 Fagan - 6:15, 106:16, 233:6, 234:10 Fair - 11:25, 38:21, 38:25, 40:13, 54:8, 76:18, 77:21, 91:18, 95:22, 114:4, 117:25, 127:1, 137:11, 191:22, 208:6, 208:8, 212:6, 213:4, 227:24, 227:25, 248:14, 248:22, 269:12 Fairly - 40:19, 40:25, 59:18, 81:21, 117:25, 126:24, 127:8, 150:21, 228:2, 231:14, 231:15, 237:15, 237:23, 241:18 Fall - 18:6, 18:8, 32:6, 48:23, 250:17, 251:2, 253:7, 256:2 Falls - 232:22, 242:24, 244:2,</p>	<p>244:5, 254:5 Far - 11:1, 36:14, 36:16, 39:11, 58:12, 94:22, 148:3, 162:6, 208:13, 210:25, 261:21 Faster - 102:8 February - 270:15 Fee - 193:8, 198:14, 222:12, 237:5 Feeding - 99:20 Feel - 80:12, 85:5, 187:23, 211:3, 214:20 Feeling - 151:8, 269:22 Feels - 80:19 Felt - 32:5, 85:7, 168:11, 185:3 Field - 104:1, 211:1, 211:15, 215:14, 216:25, 241:8 Figure - 68:25, 69:8, 71:10, 74:18, 85:18, 86:6, 110:15, 110:18, 145:21, 190:10, 190:11, 229:12, 233:25, 238:2, 269:15 Figured - 132:22 Figures - 237:20, 269:15, 269:18 File - 6:5, 75:20, 127:15, 140:3, 140:4, 148:5, 183:5 Filed - 4:2, 4:25, 27:14, 27:18, 31:16, 33:6, 36:7, 49:14, 79:3, 248:3, 248:6, 269:2 Filing - 4:20, 134:9 Fill - 25:18, 44:19, 45:15, 85:5, 85:15, 87:8, 87:11, 152:17, 178:23, 180:5, 181:1, 189:6 Filled - 19:23, 38:10, 54:1, 55:18, 56:10, 118:24, 137:22, 143:16, 170:16, 170:20, 178:23, 180:9, 185:2 Filling - 85:13, 143:4, 143:11, 179:8 Final - 4:14, 14:12, 72:4, 72:6, 72:16, 239:5</p>	<p>Finalize - 63:10 Finance - 98:12, 182:1 Financially - 264:23, 264:24 Find - 34:2, 106:23, 135:19, 146:24, 147:5, 164:9, 184:21, 234:6, 239:9, 266:20, 268:5, 268:8 Finding - 40:1, 40:3, 95:10 Fine - 8:20, 129:20, 242:4 Firewalls - 196:19 Firm - 101:8, 264:6, 264:11 First - 2:7, 2:13, 8:18, 11:13, 13:5, 13:7, 45:14, 86:10, 111:17, 111:24, 113:18, 114:13, 179:5, 218:9, 219:25, 247:14, 253:9, 254:12, 254:16, 254:19, 254:21, 263:13 Five - 64:25, 120:10, 121:2, 121:13, 140:22, 158:5, 173:14, 181:22, 194:17, 200:8, 216:13, 240:17, 244:8 Fix - 94:19 Flat - 64:6, 65:12, 149:23, 150:2, 237:15 Flavor - 139:19 Flavour - 161:9, 217:12, 218:1, 266:2 Flip - 188:16, 191:15 Flowing - 6:7, 251:17 Flows - 13:9, 49:22 Fluctuation - 241:8, 242:10 Fluctuations - 241:22 Focus - 23:5, 23:9, 31:17, 31:21, 36:19, 65:11, 86:16, 88:4, 88:7, 96:21, 105:3, 111:13, 196:7, 207:17, 246:8 Focused - 67:10, 75:17, 208:6,</p>	<p>217:22 Focusing - 58:17 Focussed - 96:12 Focusses - 92:3 Focussing - 145:13 Folks - 17:17, 39:4, 89:8, 103:19, 133:1, 155:18 Follow - 6:11, 17:18, 28:14, 29:5, 94:3 Followed - 26:7 Footnote - 174:7, 175:7, 192:2, 192:9, 192:19, 195:3 Footnotes - 156:9 Forecasted - 61:17, 119:24, 130:9, 133:14 Forecasting - 126:18, 130:15, 132:19, 133:13, 200:16, 223:20 Forefront - 84:4 Foresee - 255:25 Form - 87:4, 87:6, 88:6, 152:17 Format - 33:14 Formed - 15:22, 172:8 Formerly - 165:2, 172:2 Forth - 56:5, 56:18, 111:15, 128:17 Fortis - 13:19 Fortunate - 15:16, 16:7, 17:2 Forward - 34:13, 36:16, 37:13, 37:22, 39:22, 45:8, 53:15, 79:17, 82:6, 82:21, 86:15, 89:17, 89:25, 116:5, 129:15, 129:21, 133:21, 147:9, 149:25, 151:21, 160:1, 168:17, 186:8, 187:22, 188:12, 190:24, 207:19, 210:4, 213:4, 219:3, 223:24, 228:1, 243:21, 260:15 Found - 53:14, 55:1, 169:23, 210:4, 263:8, 263:9, 265:7 Four - 21:16, 103:20, 149:6,</p>
--	---	---	--	--

<p>169:1, 173:14, 181:3 Fourth - 248:22 Frame - 13:18 Frequently - 80:2, 220:11 Friday - 94:3 Friends - 17:13 Fringe - 190:3 Front - 95:14, 208:16 Frontlines - 104:1 FTE - 38:1, 38:7, 54:25, 80:7, 84:6, 89:7, 115:19, 121:5, 128:7, 129:3, 137:6, 138:3, 139:2, 152:17, 153:14, 174:18, 181:8, 183:19, 185:24, 192:5, 197:20, 198:19 FTE's - 158:14, 163:7, 163:18, 163:19, 163:24, 164:14, 165:18, 165:22, 166:1, 167:20, 170:6, 172:9, 174:4, 176:11, 176:24, 177:20, 178:2, 179:1, 179:11, 179:24, 180:2, 180:14, 180:20, 184:13, 184:19, 184:22, 184:23, 185:4, 185:9, 185:11, 185:13, 185:14 Fuel - 59:3, 59:8, 61:11, 62:11, 62:20, 107:17, 107:23, 108:2, 108:8, 108:14, 108:18, 232:6, 233:8, 234:1 Full - 8:4, 124:25, 136:10, 139:2, 156:8, 178:2, 235:19, 251:4, 251:6 Fully - 22:18, 49:16, 243:9, 245:23 Function - 126:5, 141:8, 144:19, 179:7, 196:24, 202:16, 258:6, 262:6 Functional - 19:6, 22:18, 111:23, 111:25, 122:17,</p>	<p>207:23, 208:21, 227:22 Functioning - 151:4 Functions - 201:17, 257:16 Further - 40:11, 70:7, 128:14, 197:19, 209:15 Futility - 142:15 Future - 5:10, 64:22, 97:8, 107:19, 112:15, 126:2, 151:10, 187:24, 209:10, 217:25, 242:16, 243:1, 245:7, 260:20, 264:4</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;"> <p>G</p> </div> <p>Gains - 88:3, 110:14 Gangbusters - 94:18 Gap - 49:23, 57:18, 168:12, 177:14, 181:3, 245:8 Gardiner's - 20:20, 20:21 GARDONER - 171:9 Gas - 11:7, 12:13, 136:3, 151:13, 232:6, 232:14, 232:17, 262:25, 263:4, 263:12, 265:21, 266:21 Gathered - 99:17, 100:21 Gating - 37:25, 38:8, 42:17, 44:6, 44:12, 81:5, 81:9, 82:20, 83:8, 83:12, 84:6, 84:17, 122:1, 122:7, 142:24, 149:25, 168:5, 168:21, 171:6, 171:16, 172:2, 178:5, 178:18, 183:17, 189:9, 189:12, 201:10 General - 5:1, 12:5, 23:15, 63:7, 136:7, 144:17, 245:15 Generally - 60:24, 96:19, 138:2, 146:11, 147:4, 149:12, 231:14, 239:9, 241:7, 270:3 Generating - 223:21</p>	<p>Generation - 3:3, 3:5, 11:4, 14:9, 20:2, 32:14, 55:4, 61:12, 61:16, 101:18, 153:1, 250:18, 253:10, 253:25, 254:1, 265:16, 265:25 Gerard - 173:2 Gets - 80:16, 102:19, 107:23, 128:23, 241:21, 244:11 GIS - 187:1 Give - 1:25, 22:7, 24:12, 71:9, 142:21, 204:24, 214:23, 238:2, 250:12, 252:8, 266:7 Given - 9:3, 9:10, 9:16, 28:22, 28:25, 32:20, 37:16, 45:12, 64:4, 65:13, 82:7, 90:12, 100:2, 100:23, 101:8, 101:12, 164:18, 165:13, 183:23, 185:12, 196:3, 197:2, 209:24 Glynn - 1:6, 1:8, 1:15, 1:24, 24:17, 75:6, 99:2, 123:3, 209:2, 238:5, 241:25, 242:5, 270:23, 271:9 GLYNNE - 120:23, 123:23, 129:17, 140:14, 143:21, 144:3 GM - 19:12, 19:13 Gone - 90:20, 90:21, 133:12, 135:24, 154:25, 263:25 Good - 1:3, 1:14, 5:23, 17:17, 40:19, 40:25, 79:19, 129:16, 129:21, 134:13, 135:17, 151:4, 164:5, 166:8, 177:3, 216:12, 218:18, 222:24, 227:9, 259:8, 268:12 Got - 21:16, 26:25, 39:14, 46:3, 86:22, 91:14, 92:2, 92:4, 92:5, 94:21, 94:24, 113:20, 130:8, 131:16, 135:1,</p>	<p>135:2, 135:14, 136:20, 136:21, 137:10, 139:22, 143:16, 150:3, 165:12, 167:7, 167:12, 167:23, 173:24, 175:7, 179:19, 180:13, 181:21, 188:8, 188:18, 189:16, 192:20, 194:14, 200:21, 203:12, 246:10, 270:2 Governor - 7:4 GRA - 82:3, 106:20, 106:24 GRADINER - 117:4 Graduated - 10:8, 15:7, 214:19 Graduation - 13:2 Gras - 5:23 Grateful - 5:20 Greene - 1:11, 1:13, 5:19, 227:10, 229:14, 229:23 Grid - 14:23, 120:4 Group - 15:10, 15:17, 15:23, 18:20, 20:18, 20:22, 20:24, 32:15, 64:11, 80:10, 84:24, 85:3, 92:12, 99:22, 101:15, 103:20, 107:15, 116:23, 132:12, 132:13, 132:14, 133:23, 136:4, 137:1, 138:12, 140:25, 141:1, 141:3, 149:1, 149:7, 153:1, 153:21, 153:22, 185:5, 190:3, 196:7, 196:14, 198:3, 198:5, 199:1, 200:24, 201:21, 201:22, 249:22 Groups - 35:7, 44:22, 100:12, 136:3, 198:9 Group's - 247:14 Guess - 1:6, 8:17, 10:23, 26:24, 29:18, 59:3, 64:3, 65:11, 65:12, 75:14, 77:20, 84:22, 97:14, 101:22, 108:5, 109:18, 110:2, 110:17, 127:12, 129:11,</p>	<p>142:15, 152:12, 156:18, 163:13, 164:9, 183:20, 185:12, 187:16, 188:11, 191:6, 191:22, 193:8, 199:13, 206:17, 207:3, 207:24, 208:5, 211:25, 217:7, 238:23, 240:4, 243:4, 245:1, 265:5, 266:3, 266:5 Guidelines - 27:23, 27:24, 28:12, 28:13, 29:5, 266:7 Guys - 92:16</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;"> <p>H</p> </div> <p>Hand - 9:1 Handle - 255:16 Handles - 200:4 Handling - 202:10 Hands - 216:11 Handy - 111:19 Happening - 270:20 Happy - 1:20, 1:22, 213:22, 268:17 Hard - 83:10, 89:22, 135:19 Hasn't - 212:14 Hat - 166:25 Hatch - 223:20 Hats - 167:12 Haven't - 19:6, 21:25, 101:8, 116:3 HAYES - 173:10, 173:19, 173:23 Haynes - 16:20, 16:23, 25:18, 25:23, 97:14, 102:7, 252:23 Head - 118:15, 131:17, 135:15, 269:8 Heading - 48:22, 199:16 Hear - 228:18 Heard - 31:15, 83:2 Hearing - 1:12, 2:24, 6:1, 27:6, 32:24, 38:18, 101:11 Heavily - 23:15, 145:9, 145:11, 230:25, 240:19 Heavy - 32:8 Held - 2:24, 36:20, 73:17, 73:22, 89:6 Help - 9:5, 9:18,</p>
---	--	---	--	--

<p>52:6, 92:18, 115:1, 128:13, 129:13, 141:22, 153:16, 153:18, 232:9 Helped - 87:22, 88:2 Helpful - 83:12, 90:11, 92:16, 146:24, 147:6, 164:6, 208:24, 230:1 Helping - 95:6, 95:10, 95:11, 95:16 Helps - 88:7, 182:1 Here's - 265:7, 265:11 He's - 270:2 Hesitant - 168:12 High - 1:25, 5:13, 39:13, 41:14, 52:7, 182:20, 183:3, 240:18 Higher - 50:17, 144:8, 159:1, 252:12, 252:17 Highest - 43:3 Highlight - 72:11 Highlights - 69:5 Hire - 36:3, 52:21, 56:9, 89:9, 161:5, 168:19, 170:3, 178:4, 185:6, 189:11 Hired - 127:12, 155:17, 169:6, 169:22, 170:4, 179:2, 198:11 Hiring - 36:2, 44:13, 49:25, 55:16, 84:19, 106:7, 152:3, 185:8, 187:24 History - 10:5, 262:5 Hit - 88:24, 94:4 Hits - 81:10 Hold - 16:25, 35:23, 65:11, 65:25, 66:6, 67:10, 149:23 Holding - 203:13, 271:4, 271:6 Holyrood - 3:13, 12:13, 87:23, 88:2, 108:4, 120:11, 121:3, 121:9, 150:22, 151:4, 153:10, 218:17, 231:1, 265:19, 268:3, 268:10, 268:13, 268:16 Home - 57:14,</p>	<p>177:20, 178:1, 180:10, 180:20, 180:21, 181:8, 181:16, 181:17, 182:5 Hope - 172:24 Hopefully - 6:5, 178:14 Hoping - 183:5, 189:6, 252:20, 269:21 Hours - 239:5, 239:9, 239:19, 251:20, 264:14 HR - 38:1, 54:1, 126:5, 126:6, 141:10, 153:12, 153:17, 179:20, 182:1, 214:5, 214:9 Human - 43:23, 88:1 Hundred - 126:25, 135:5, 158:6 Hutchens - 78:21, 79:7, 81:16, 98:13, 105:16, 106:17, 116:8, 119:7, 140:24, 233:6 Hutchens' - 81:23, 132:7 Hutchings - 108:19 Hydraulic - 12:5, 12:11, 19:13, 32:15, 64:14, 238:23 Hydro's - 3:21, 16:9, 81:23, 184:13, 257:18 Hynes - 12:7</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; width: 100px; height: 15px; margin: 10px auto; text-align: center;">I</div> <p>Ice - 169:10 I'd - 8:3, 55:22, 58:15, 58:19, 58:23, 67:22, 71:19, 74:18, 88:16, 106:16, 108:19, 123:17, 133:19, 134:4, 135:23, 142:23, 154:8, 156:8, 166:11, 208:20, 209:12, 233:5, 242:25, 257:9 Ideally - 182:22 Ideas - 99:17, 100:8, 102:16, 102:19, 102:22, 104:2, 105:10 Identified - 261:25 Ids - 56:10 I'll - 1:5, 8:18,</p>	<p>59:22, 79:7, 80:2, 143:22, 148:10, 152:25, 204:3, 204:18, 211:20, 240:15, 256:19, 263:20 Imagine - 93:6, 101:14, 233:8 Immediately - 45:1 4 Impact - 81:21, 82:5, 106:10, 106:14, 149:3, 161:2, 163:24 Impacted - 82:20 Impacts - 6:7, 244:21 Impair - 155:14 Implement - 105:2 1, 106:9 Implemented - 105 :21, 106:24, 220:1 Implications - 5:16 , 138:16 Import - 104:18, 255:16 Important - 6:13, 35:14, 36:5, 54:10, 85:14, 93:15, 215:21 Imports - 104:18, 107:16 Impression - 83:9 Improvement - 100 :15 Incentive - 110:4 Inclusive - 131:7 Inconvenient - 94: 4 Incorporated - 120 :12 Increase - 67:12, 67:22, 68:2, 119:25, 121:6, 125:3, 125:14, 126:19, 128:7, 130:8, 130:11, 130:16, 133:13, 133:14, 135:1, 135:2, 135:7, 139:20, 139:21, 144:7, 155:11, 156:4, 159:13, 159:23, 161:22, 163:7, 174:19, 176:2, 176:11, 184:12, 188:18, 188:21, 189:17, 194:10, 194:17, 200:16, 209:6, 209:10, 217:16, 226:11,</p>	<p>230:5, 235:17, 235:20, 235:22 Increased - 192:12 , 205:8, 209:8 Increases - 148:1, 156:1, 190:2, 190:9, 223:4, 223:10, 226:5, 236:1 Incumbent - 137:2 2 Indeed - 211:19, 218:24, 219:3, 262:23, 263:4, 263:10 Indicated - 82:7, 144:10, 175:14, 177:24, 185:11 Indicating - 6:7, 266:5 Indication - 97:5, 228:2 Individually - 92:1 3 Inflation - 65:12 Inflationary - 67:12 , 156:2, 156:6 Influx - 103:3 Infrequent - 219:10 Initial - 149:20, 252:3 Initially - 7:7, 13:3, 134:11 Initiatives - 104:8 Innovation - 99:20, 102:20 Input - 97:20, 99:5, 100:1, 100:2, 100:20, 101:1 Insight - 252:8 Inspection - 60:20 Inspections - 22:1 7, 60:3 Installed - 217:1 Instruction - 31:20 Instructions - 18:2 2, 26:7, 28:23, 29:1, 29:2, 37:15, 39:3, 64:4, 65:13 Instrumental - 14:1 1 Insulator - 10:19 Insurance - 190:4 Integral - 144:18 Integrated - 49:2 Integrating - 14:23, 120:3 Integration - 246:7, 246:14, 247:15, 255:10, 255:17, 255:19, 258:2,</p>	<p>258:4 Intend - 151:22, 152:1, 152:7, 152:10, 152:19, 154:3 Intended - 34:1, 149:22 Intends - 6:5 Intent - 6:11, 97:11, 99:16 Intention - 38:18, 64:20, 137:20, 153:7 Interactions - 14:5 Intercompany - 23 8:9, 244:7 Interconnected - 1 :18, 2:9 Interconnection - 14:13, 242:17, 242:21, 242:25, 243:16, 246:13, 248:13 Interconnections - 22:23 Interest - 7:19, 148:5, 260:22 Interesting - 11:15, 206:21 Interface - 14:6, 224:6 International - 11:1 0 Interrupt - 171:11 Introduction - 17:1 0, 17:19, 151:18 Invest - 219:11 Investigate - 270:1 Investigations - 16 9:17, 169:18, 169:20 Investment - 39:24 , 40:3, 80:13 Involvement - 12:1 , 20:23, 23:4, 27:22 Island - 1:17, 2:9, 12:16, 23:11, 104:11, 265:25 Isn't - 98:1, 226:21 Isolated - 3:11 Issue - 3:17, 7:7, 128:10, 128:15, 199:24, 210:8 Issues - 1:18, 1:24, 2:1, 2:10, 2:16, 2:22, 5:2, 5:5, 5:7, 5:10, 6:9, 6:23, 96:10, 212:1 IT/OT - 198:20, 199:18, 224:10, 224:24</p>
--	---	--	---	--

Item - 3:7, 43:11, 46:14, 269:13
Items - 81:17, 105:1, 105:2, 146:21, 270:6, 271:5
It'll - 204:19
ITOT - 221:9, 244:14
I've - 23:8, 156:12, 210:11, 214:18, 216:7, 219:19

J

January - 45:13, 179:18, 195:19, 197:12
Jennifer - 8:8, 10:1
JH - 69:1
Job - 38:1, 40:19, 40:25, 147:2, 179:19, 209:21
Jobs - 161:3, 209:21, 210:6
John's - 10:25, 11:10, 202:14, 211:17
Joined - 15:9, 24:6
Joining - 14:15
Joint - 154:19
Judgment - 59:23
July - 79:3, 105:25, 160:21, 252:4, 255:20
Jump - 111:15, 111:21
Jumping - 230:16
Jumps - 230:4
June - 15:9, 16:19, 164:17, 251:10
Juris - 23:2
Jurisdiction - 6:24, 7:3
Jurisdictions - 23:2
Justification - 143:1, 168:23, 171:4, 171:7, 188:13, 214:6
Justified - 84:20, 168:14, 179:2, 216:5
Justify - 185:7, 189:11, 189:13

K

Keenly - 84:2
Kevin - 234:10
Key - 183:13, 183:15, 187:4,

188:1, 213:23, 214:1, 216:5, 216:21, 248:13
Kinds - 127:20, 151:11, 211:5, 233:9
Knock - 105:19, 256:7
Knowing - 44:19, 150:3
Knowledge - 53:5, 57:14, 262:5
Kv - 257:24

L

Labour - 42:16, 42:18, 42:19, 43:19, 44:17, 45:23, 48:2, 48:14, 48:16, 59:2, 59:6, 59:23, 60:21, 61:3, 81:11, 111:14, 111:23, 112:13, 113:17, 113:18, 114:1, 117:17, 118:5, 118:8, 122:15, 122:19, 124:17, 129:8, 129:9, 130:5, 131:7, 131:12, 139:1, 139:2, 139:12, 140:5, 144:12, 144:13, 144:24, 145:5, 145:19, 156:2, 159:5, 161:8, 175:14, 205:16, 207:13, 232:6
Labrador - 1:18, 2:12, 14:20, 15:11, 23:11, 108:6
LAC - 122:3
Lake - 12:7, 202:20, 238:23, 240:9
Landed - 205:15
Lands - 16:5
Large - 59:9, 104:17, 104:21, 105:1, 213:8, 216:3, 241:21, 241:22
Largely - 238:22
Larger - 18:1, 241:2
Largest - 220:23
Late - 108:7, 188:14, 252:15
Later - 31:24, 35:16, 58:8, 250:17
Laterally - 11:3

Lead - 169:18, 169:21
Leadership - 96:1, 165:13, 196:1
Leading - 10:5
Learn - 218:19
Learned - 17:13
Leave - 56:14, 57:2, 75:10, 216:10, 268:23
Leaves - 57:19, 87:11
Leaving - 14:12
LEBLAC - 110:7
Leblanc's - 132:6, 132:12, 132:20, 133:15, 135:11, 139:9, 139:23, 153:22, 203:2, 205:6
Left - 87:20, 123:11, 130:3, 180:4
Length - 247:10
Lets - 90:24
Let's - 42:4, 45:24, 61:12, 94:18, 94:19, 113:17, 141:17, 217:21, 263:5
Letting - 86:18
Level - 5:13, 43:3, 43:23, 43:25, 68:22, 148:19, 150:24, 168:24, 210:13, 230:25, 251:21, 251:23, 252:20
Levels - 19:24, 36:20, 93:23, 211:2, 252:12, 252:17, 253:24, 253:25
Liaison - 11:22
Liberty - 247:14, 247:22, 248:3, 248:11, 249:1
Lieutenant - 7:4
Lightning - 225:10
Lights - 95:6
Liked - 159:2
LIL - 250:16, 251:1
Limited - 2:20
Line - 34:17, 34:23, 42:3, 43:11, 46:13, 81:11, 84:16, 108:5, 113:19, 122:15, 122:19, 130:22, 140:6, 146:12, 146:21, 146:23, 148:6, 157:23, 167:1, 175:25,

182:6, 186:21, 234:3, 234:5, 234:6, 243:8, 251:20, 253:10, 254:5
Lines - 15:13, 19:20, 164:21, 164:22, 217:8, 217:21, 223:9, 237:8
Link - 23:11, 108:6, 250:21
List - 114:14, 166:19
Listed - 4:9, 142:6, 166:3, 193:16, 193:22
Lists - 193:18
Literally - 137:22
Load - 13:9, 49:16, 59:14, 62:1, 223:20
Logged - 102:23
Logically - 205:22
Long - 37:17, 38:19, 39:6, 54:17, 139:16, 218:19, 236:23, 245:18, 264:11
Longer - 195:20, 237:3, 266:13, 266:14
Looked - 11:5, 15:19, 38:6, 38:7, 38:13, 44:3, 52:11, 52:19, 54:15, 103:1, 103:6, 129:7, 144:6, 164:20, 165:1, 165:5, 165:17, 165:19, 166:6, 169:6, 169:14, 169:25, 170:1, 171:24, 177:22, 181:10, 182:19, 182:21, 183:1, 183:8, 183:13, 183:16, 183:22, 184:18, 185:21, 188:14, 196:10, 213:20, 213:23, 225:15, 264:4, 270:14
Looking - 10:24, 37:16, 43:9, 45:15, 51:25, 52:8, 67:12, 70:8, 99:16, 102:2, 102:5, 104:13, 110:9, 110:13, 129:20, 146:1, 187:22, 216:22, 237:1, 244:19,

245:16, 253:22, 254:21, 266:6, 266:18
Lost - 102:23, 256:10, 256:13
Lot - 7:6, 32:9, 41:5, 49:24, 84:3, 104:25, 136:11, 151:1, 154:25, 156:12, 186:5, 188:21, 224:9, 241:17, 241:23
Lots - 94:2
Low - 43:16, 226:10, 251:21
Lower - 104:19, 124:6, 124:11, 135:5, 139:12, 149:7, 161:24, 209:17, 263:16
LSO - 244:23

M

Macisaac - 91:9
Madam - 5:19, 7:25, 8:21, 17:9, 17:17, 269:6, 270:7
Magnitude - 239:10
Main - 23:9
Maintain - 81:1, 91:16, 92:6, 121:20, 209:19, 210:13, 226:2
Maintaining - 90:13, 93:17, 224:11
Maintenance - 22:16, 32:9, 41:15, 41:20, 60:6, 60:9, 212:2, 212:5, 212:18, 212:19, 212:20, 227:19, 227:23, 230:3, 230:24, 231:18, 232:13, 233:3, 233:11, 234:23, 235:16, 236:3, 237:2, 237:14, 238:4, 241:6
Major - 11:13, 21:23, 27:2, 27:13, 266:18
Make - 1:5, 6:20, 22:17, 38:14, 53:2, 68:17, 78:11, 80:15, 84:18, 85:8, 87:7, 87:14, 88:2, 92:21, 95:7, 95:8, 100:10, 101:25, 138:7, 151:3, 153:14, 156:8, 160:11,

<p>165:14, 179:20, 185:4, 186:21, 187:9, 192:4, 194:14, 198:14, 202:13, 209:22, 214:13, 216:14, 217:9, 236:23, 244:21, 263:11, 264:22 Makeup - 112:12 Making - 32:10, 39:18, 80:14, 95:12, 103:4, 196:22, 200:21, 212:4, 216:6, 216:9, 224:15, 247:4 Manage - 36:11, 39:21, 45:8, 90:25, 94:8, 146:20, 150:4, 152:18, 153:5, 165:15, 198:12, 218:17, 243:11 Managed - 40:11, 91:15, 243:9 Management - 11: 17, 36:2, 45:17, 65:6, 80:24, 81:9, 83:2, 88:5, 149:24, 153:19, 178:5, 187:9, 201:22, 212:4, 223:10, 225:6, 225:11, 225:18, 228:5, 228:8, 228:19, 229:17, 229:21, 244:2, 244:6, 249:9 Managements - 10 7:20 Management's - 2 49:2 Manager - 11:20, 12:5, 15:17, 16:1, 36:6, 36:7, 120:13, 122:5, 165:8, 167:1, 167:17, 173:16, 198:11, 199:2, 200:4, 201:4, 201:21, 201:23, 201:24, 214:8, 224:24, 224:25, 244:14, 245:15, 246:12, 246:13 Managers - 23:16, 136:7, 211:11 Manager's - 200:1 9 Manages - 211:13 Managing - 13:21,</p>	<p>20:8, 31:2, 31:22, 44:16, 77:21, 90:13, 107:20, 147:8, 244:5 Mandate - 16:10, 16:16, 98:2, 98:6, 102:1, 164:18, 165:14, 196:2 Mandated - 38:15 Mandatory - 35:21, 218:8 Manger - 245:13 Many - 55:20, 86:22, 86:23, 89:13, 93:25, 94:1, 103:3, 118:19, 123:21, 140:18, 215:12, 240:6, 245:19, 257:6, 257:12 Map - 196:17 March - 4:2, 16:7, 16:12, 90:21, 248:4 Maritime - 13:12, 13:18, 13:22, 14:2, 23:10, 108:5, 250:21 Market - 262:10, 266:6, 268:7 Marketing - 260:25 , 261:7, 261:11, 262:4, 263:6, 263:25, 266:4 Mass - 141:1 Massive - 140:25 Material - 19:24, 81:14, 131:23, 231:6, 243:10, 243:14, 243:17 Materialize - 34:2, 77:11 Materials - 231:13 Math - 128:17, 135:16 Matters - 5:11, 7:6 Maximum - 252:24, 254:2 Means - 161:10 Meant - 37:1, 41:9, 64:6, 232:2, 232:7, 232:10 Measured - 138:15 Measures - 18:23, 37:17, 37:18, 39:5, 40:9, 80:24, 83:24, 106:23, 107:8, 107:10, 108:11, 154:9, 190:10, 245:8 Mechanical - 59:18 , 167:18, 178:8,</p>	<p>185:23, 186:14, 231:11 Mechanism - 7:2 Media - 11:12 Meet - 84:2, 91:1, 100:11, 261:8, 262:18, 270:17 Meeting - 45:14, 99:15, 101:10, 101:12, 259:11, 259:17, 259:19, 259:23 Meetings - 29:1, 32:22, 32:25, 35:7, 36:20, 36:24, 63:8, 95:22, 96:2, 96:10, 96:20, 96:23, 97:12, 99:12, 99:23, 102:18, 109:6, 211:17, 268:25, 271:3, 271:6 Meets - 265:12 Megawatt - 252:21 Megawatts - 251:2 5, 252:18, 267:9 Members - 8:4, 99:25 Merit - 190:2 Message - 32:24, 95:17, 211:7 Messages - 82:24, 94:15, 94:23 Met - 36:22, 99:24, 102:10, 102:13, 103:15, 103:18 Method - 3:19 Methodology - 2:1 5, 2:16, 2:23, 4:7, 6:10 Metrological - 236: 25 Midyear - 197:14 Mike - 197:24 Million - 36:9, 40:12, 40:13, 53:8, 70:5, 79:24, 80:1, 80:11, 80:12, 82:8, 108:1, 109:18, 114:17, 115:20, 117:10, 117:23, 124:4, 127:18, 130:10, 144:8, 144:10, 145:5, 146:2, 159:18, 162:4, 176:2, 187:12, 191:15, 191:23, 203:25, 227:25, 234:1, 268:14 Millwright - 141:6</p>	<p>Mine - 80:9 Minimal - 128:11 Minimize - 209:25 Minimum - 35:25, 268:13 Minor - 80:7, 156:4 Missed - 270:25 Mix - 127:11 Mixed - 128:10 Mobile - 202:10, 202:15 Moments - 107:15 Monday - 94:3 Money - 43:15, 118:14, 119:1, 119:9, 187:19 Monitor - 241:14, 244:11, 267:13 Monitoring - 245:1 1, 247:14 Monitors - 245:13 Month - 7:20, 35:4, 38:11, 97:3, 138:7, 138:8, 271:7 Monthly - 32:22, 32:24, 34:9, 45:7, 90:2, 91:15, 92:19, 96:10, 138:5, 138:14, 268:25, 271:3 Months - 13:6, 92:20, 155:2, 170:4 Morning - 1:3, 1:14, 7:25, 17:17, 267:12, 271:17 Motion - 7:8 Mouth - 81:23 Move - 51:16, 56:25, 57:6, 82:21, 117:13, 121:6, 133:1, 133:20, 138:15, 138:19, 140:21, 140:22, 155:20, 156:17, 193:10, 197:13, 202:23, 207:5, 207:12, 246:6 Moved - 10:16, 10:22, 11:3, 12:9, 13:11, 14:1, 14:17, 116:23, 117:3, 118:13, 118:15, 119:3, 120:7, 121:2, 121:13, 132:6, 197:11, 203:12 Movement - 56:4, 56:17, 57:11, 125:25, 156:24, 221:1 Movements - 80:8, 203:7, 203:23</p>	<p>Moves - 132:4, 136:11, 136:14 Moving - 89:17, 123:21, 136:8, 155:16, 156:13 Much - 6:24, 9:22, 12:20, 15:3, 15:6, 17:9, 39:12, 39:22, 43:15, 59:13, 60:25, 66:6, 86:2, 118:18, 149:24, 161:14, 182:25, 190:19, 196:20, 208:14, 237:12, 239:6, 241:12, 242:9, 244:11, 266:14, 269:19 MUN - 10:9, 15:7 Muskrat - 242:24, 250:18, 253:25, 254:5</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;"> <p>N</p> </div> <p>Nalcor's - 243:3 Natural - 56:4 Near - 68:7, 126:2 Necessary - 5:3, 79:17, 219:2 Needed - 36:11, 88:4, 146:25, 168:14, 168:25, 172:6, 187:3, 198:8 Negotiated - 86:10, 89:16, 107:24, 148:21, 155:12, 156:14 Negotiations - 155 :14 Neighbouring - 22: 24 Neighbours - 264: 7 Net - 57:10, 57:13, 57:14, 121:6, 125:14, 158:22, 158:24, 163:24, 176:16, 180:16, 180:18, 180:21, 181:16, 200:10, 202:3, 202:5, 205:16 Network - 116:22, 174:12, 192:2, 192:10, 195:3, 196:7, 198:3, 198:15, 201:3, 201:5, 202:11, 202:16, 202:18, 202:24, 205:22, 206:15, 221:2 New - 13:20, 13:25,</p>
---	---	--	---	--

<p>14:6, 14:13, 16:9, 16:16, 16:19, 100:8, 105:11, 120:12, 120:14, 122:9, 141:16, 141:19, 143:5, 143:7, 143:11, 151:18, 152:1, 152:7, 152:10, 152:19, 153:7, 153:24, 164:14, 165:13, 170:8, 170:10, 179:11, 179:25, 180:1, 186:25, 196:3, 200:23, 214:17, 223:21, 224:6, 235:23, 243:8, 244:16, 252:13, 253:25, 264:2</p> <p>Newfoundland - 2: 25, 3:4, 3:10, 10:10, 10:13, 11:6, 14:18, 14:20, 15:11, 260:5, 260:7, 260:13</p> <p>Nice - 213:24</p> <p>Nicer - 211:8</p> <p>Night - 113:6</p> <p>Nine - 21:14, 173:14, 251:20</p> <p>NL - 49:1, 123:1</p> <p>NLH - 32:2, 49:1, 111:17, 111:22, 115:12, 117:22, 122:16, 123:1, 143:20, 163:23, 164:2, 188:17, 207:8, 207:15, 220:16, 221:5, 227:2, 228:3, 235:5, 235:6, 238:10, 246:10</p> <p>NLSO - 8:12, 14:19, 14:21, 17:3, 21:10, 22:18, 23:6, 23:10, 23:22, 120:2, 120:8, 120:12, 121:7, 122:10, 196:21, 256:20, 256:23, 257:2, 257:3, 257:14, 257:16, 258:6, 258:15, 259:12, 259:17, 259:20</p> <p>Nobody - 30:2</p> <p>Non - 16:18, 35:23, 59:2, 59:6, 59:23, 61:3, 145:18</p> <p>Nor - 5:10</p>	<p>Normal - 26:8, 54:1, 57:7, 88:13, 177:21, 181:4, 181:10</p> <p>Normalized - 183:4</p> <p>Normally - 48:25, 50:14, 51:3, 88:12, 136:15, 138:11</p> <p>North - 14:23, 120:4, 242:21</p> <p>Note - 24:18, 54:10, 75:7, 120:24, 123:24, 129:18, 140:15, 143:22, 206:21, 209:3, 238:6</p> <p>Noted - 99:3, 123:4, 127:18, 227:11, 229:15</p> <p>Nova - 13:1, 13:3, 22:24</p> <p>November - 16:11</p> <p>NP - 111:17, 111:22, 115:8, 115:12, 117:22, 122:16, 143:20, 156:3, 159:12, 175:19, 176:16, 188:16, 203:22, 207:8, 207:15, 220:15, 221:5, 227:2, 235:5, 235:6</p> <p>Numbers - 65:25, 66:7, 148:6, 160:11, 171:25, 177:8, 181:25, 182:2, 182:21, 183:19, 205:21, 216:4, 228:17</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: 40px; margin: 10px auto;">O</div> <p>O&M - 22:14, 90:1, 91:14, 91:15, 92:1, 92:5, 95:20, 95:23, 210:11, 212:1</p> <p>O54 - 74:16</p> <p>Oaths - 8:22</p> <p>OATI - 224:5</p> <p>Obtained - 13:12, 13:19, 50:2</p> <p>Occasions - 85:10</p> <p>Occur - 61:1, 96:2</p> <p>Occurred - 81:15, 85:9, 133:23, 261:21, 270:11</p> <p>Occurs - 155:21</p> <p>Offer - 262:13</p> <p>Office - 10:21, 202:14, 202:19</p> <p>Offset - 136:8, 265:19, 265:21,</p>	<p>265:23</p> <p>Offsetting - 107:17</p> <p>Often - 60:17, 96:25</p> <p>Onerous - 58:1</p> <p>Ones - 60:18, 87:9, 96:8, 104:6, 166:21, 170:10, 193:22, 196:17, 207:23</p> <p>Open - 13:24, 14:3, 14:10, 54:8, 224:5</p> <p>Opening - 1:4</p> <p>Operate - 61:18, 217:1, 225:13, 257:21, 257:23</p> <p>Operating - 20:13, 20:17, 21:1, 33:21, 47:18, 60:13, 62:1, 62:14, 62:16, 62:18, 63:25, 69:6, 70:2, 81:1, 93:19, 140:3, 140:6, 144:25, 146:11, 149:12, 180:25, 186:17, 233:10, 234:8, 258:19, 258:21</p> <p>Operation - 45:4, 167:2, 167:4, 174:21, 206:17, 234:24, 235:16, 244:16, 265:20</p> <p>Operational - 116: 25, 197:25, 199:6, 205:23, 241:7</p> <p>Operations - 55:4, 112:2, 153:2, 156:19, 174:15, 175:8, 191:5, 192:3, 192:11, 192:13, 195:4, 196:6, 196:16, 220:24, 243:25, 248:5, 248:21, 250:11</p> <p>Operations' - 249: 22</p> <p>Operator - 14:20, 22:21, 257:17, 260:15</p> <p>Operators - 121:8, 122:3, 218:16, 255:16</p> <p>Opinion - 37:13</p> <p>Opportunities - 26 3:1, 264:5, 264:7, 264:20</p> <p>Opposed - 105:18, 106:8, 127:18, 146:22, 151:18,</p>	<p>233:9, 240:12, 248:17</p> <p>Optimize - 209:25, 243:12</p> <p>Order - 6:3, 38:14, 80:25, 82:3, 82:15, 106:20, 212:19, 252:14, 265:16</p> <p>Orders - 7:4, 7:5, 258:12</p> <p>Organization - 19: 21, 20:9, 85:6, 92:18, 94:13, 132:5, 142:12, 149:5, 153:3</p> <p>Organizational - 1 7:23, 18:14, 18:17</p> <p>Original - 4:5, 4:20</p> <p>Osisoft - 223:15</p> <p>OT - 113:14, 198:11</p> <p>Ourselves - 243:12 , 243:18</p> <p>Outage - 12:3, 169:12</p> <p>Outages - 12:2, 89:4, 94:1, 94:17, 169:9</p> <p>Outcome - 40:8, 128:23, 129:3</p> <p>Overhaul - 233:13</p> <p>Overhauls - 60:3</p> <p>Oversight - 241:24</p> <p>Overstated - 87:2, 124:6, 124:17</p> <p>Overtime - 80:2, 80:14, 88:5, 104:22, 107:18, 107:20, 112:14, 112:18, 113:20, 114:2, 125:3, 125:7, 128:13, 128:16, 128:20, 129:1, 129:4, 129:7, 129:9, 129:12, 131:8, 131:13, 131:23, 139:13, 144:17, 145:2, 145:9, 145:11, 145:13, 145:18, 146:16, 147:4, 147:19, 148:6, 148:8</p> <p>Overview - 1:25, 22:8, 26:19, 220:17</p> <p>Own - 186:23, 207:21, 241:20, 262:22, 263:9, 271:1</p> <p>Owned - 13:19, 244:3</p> <p>Owners - 260:1</p>	<p>Owns - 169:21</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: 40px; margin: 10px auto;">P</div> <p>P19 - 62:7</p> <p>P50 - 62:2, 62:8</p> <p>Paid - 133:16, 135:11, 226:2</p> <p>Pain - 85:6</p> <p>Panel - 1:23, 7:15, 7:23, 8:2, 8:4, 9:22, 101:11, 112:1, 268:21, 271:4</p> <p>Panelists - 17:9</p> <p>Panels - 186:25</p> <p>Paradise - 240:22</p> <p>Partially - 92:5</p> <p>Particularly - 1:22, 5:25, 37:7, 186:14, 205:25</p> <p>Parties - 1:15, 1:16, 1:21, 2:3, 2:4, 2:17, 5:4, 5:9, 5:21, 6:14, 7:16, 36:21, 41:4</p> <p>Partners - 263:5</p> <p>Parts - 171:23</p> <p>Past - 101:14, 178:20, 215:2, 219:16, 265:20</p> <p>Pay - 237:5</p> <p>Paying - 137:15, 224:12</p> <p>PEI - 13:11</p> <p>Pending - 7:20</p> <p>Pendulum - 36:15</p> <p>Percent - 13:22, 50:15, 51:24, 64:25, 65:1, 90:21, 114:24, 126:18, 155:11, 155:18, 186:3, 196:20, 240:17, 240:18, 244:8</p> <p>Perform - 172:12</p> <p>Performance - 168 :11, 168:15, 168:19, 179:3, 179:4, 179:6, 179:25</p> <p>Performing - 182:2 2, 201:17, 237:13</p> <p>Perhaps - 8:6, 10:3</p> <p>Period - 11:2, 25:15, 61:2, 78:16, 118:24, 267:15</p> <p>Permanent - 53:9, 183:19</p> <p>Person - 47:2, 53:1, 53:5, 57:18, 58:2, 87:20, 87:21, 87:24, 87:25, 99:22, 106:8,</p>
--	--	---	--	--

<p>153:3, 170:5, 186:4, 198:12, 202:10, 202:13, 202:18, 202:20, 202:22, 202:24, 246:15 Personally - 23:4, 147:5, 238:16 Perspective - 40:3, 95:16, 106:12, 132:15, 145:3, 152:18, 154:10, 217:16, 265:24, 268:12 Phase - 11:13 Philosophy - 218:6 , 219:4, 219:7 Physically - 195:16 Piece - 224:7 Pilot - 2:19 Place - 18:23, 31:3, 80:25, 89:11, 97:16, 107:11, 127:21, 215:9, 235:24 Placement - 88:1 Places - 87:15, 184:22 Plan - 47:6, 49:2, 49:3, 53:15, 62:1, 86:15, 125:16, 149:18, 149:20, 161:13, 194:22, 209:21, 212:18, 247:8, 249:8, 250:5 Planned - 47:13, 151:18 Planner - 141:6 Planning - 12:15, 13:9, 62:7, 118:12, 132:14, 133:22, 151:11, 151:14, 202:21, 241:5, 259:11 Plant - 10:12, 121:7, 150:23 Plants - 11:5, 12:5, 12:11, 13:20, 240:21 Play - 247:1 Pleased - 1:9, 5:20 Plexus - 223:22 Points - 255:15 Pole - 253:9, 253:11, 253:15 Poles - 10:18, 253:6 Pond - 245:5 Portion - 22:12, 44:24, 241:21, 257:13, 257:14 Portions - 240:11,</p>	<p>258:5 Position - 10:6, 11:4, 11:9, 11:20, 13:7, 13:12, 14:3, 16:23, 18:3, 24:23, 33:18, 38:12, 56:10, 85:15, 118:23, 120:12, 120:14, 137:21, 141:9, 151:17, 152:25, 153:11, 153:16, 153:25, 154:1, 173:22, 181:1, 181:2, 185:13, 200:20, 246:12, 247:7, 247:10 Positive - 255:1 Postponed - 250:1 7 Potential - 255:9, 260:1 Potentially - 133:6 Power - 2:25, 3:4, 3:10, 10:10, 11:6, 13:3, 14:14, 59:3, 94:7, 245:6, 247:15, 248:12, 254:12, 254:16, 260:5, 260:7, 260:13, 267:10, 267:19 Predict - 93:25 Prefer - 8:22, 106:16, 155:8, 234:10 Preliminary - 7:8 Premium - 107:23, 108:2, 108:14, 108:18 Preparation - 45:2 2 Prepare - 14:2, 28:14, 29:2, 29:3, 45:23, 136:21 Prepared - 8:1, 24:5, 24:8, 26:2, 26:10, 30:11, 30:21, 33:13, 75:12, 75:16, 147:16, 249:19, 249:25, 255:14 Preparing - 21:3, 24:3, 28:24, 29:17, 30:3, 45:10, 48:2, 48:14, 63:8, 63:25, 64:3, 75:14, 247:22 Present - 7:22, 29:17, 250:10 Presented - 33:16, 144:23, 172:3,</p>	<p>180:9, 249:8 President - 8:11, 14:19, 16:8, 16:10, 16:13, 16:19, 16:24, 17:3, 17:5, 18:9, 22:3, 24:22, 25:5, 91:10, 98:12, 165:6, 168:4, 170:2, 172:4, 177:23, 196:2, 196:3, 214:12, 246:17 Prevent - 126:15 Preview - 198:1 Previous - 91:21, 127:15, 128:2, 192:24, 230:6 Previously - 165:2 0, 180:3, 235:24 Price - 264:25 Principles - 261:9 Prior - 89:4 Prioritize - 237:11, 237:16 Prioritized - 103:2, 103:7 Priority - 244:22 Privy - 104:4 Problem - 199:24 Procedures - 247: 5 Proceed - 8:1 Procure - 262:17, 263:7, 267:6, 267:16, 268:1 Procured - 262:21 Produce - 69:3, 72:15, 210:7 Produced - 69:4, 78:25 Product - 268:5, 268:8 Production - 8:9, 12:10, 12:14, 14:8, 18:3, 20:2, 20:24, 32:15, 61:5, 61:8, 61:13, 62:10, 62:13, 79:19, 79:23, 80:13, 92:10, 107:14, 111:5, 118:12, 121:3, 122:4, 126:22, 130:5, 131:5, 132:13, 133:22, 136:2, 136:5, 149:1, 149:5, 149:7, 149:18, 151:22, 177:24, 184:24, 230:25, 231:19, 232:1, 232:14,</p>	<p>232:18, 234:6, 243:13, 268:25, 271:5 Productivity - 97:1 5, 99:6, 99:11, 99:15, 99:19, 101:3, 101:5, 102:11, 102:21, 104:9, 104:10, 105:6, 106:23, 107:8, 107:10, 108:11, 109:4, 109:16, 110:10 Professional - 48:3 , 48:22, 88:1, 141:10, 213:17, 220:15, 220:18, 220:21, 221:9, 224:9, 224:16, 226:1 Profile - 10:4, 12:21 Program - 13:4, 49:12, 50:24, 52:11, 102:15, 116:17, 182:20, 183:3, 186:7, 187:12, 187:23 Programs - 53:7, 153:18, 153:20, 225:12 Progress - 178:25, 179:23, 181:5, 248:21 Progressing - 250: 14 Progression - 57:8 Project - 14:12, 15:23, 16:1, 16:4, 165:3, 165:21, 254:6 Projects - 10:16, 10:19, 10:20 Promoted - 12:4 Proper - 37:8, 216:23 Properly - 6:3 Proposal - 4:6 Proposing - 6:5 Proprietary - 225:2 4 Protection - 173:11 , 173:16, 178:9, 186:15, 186:19, 213:18, 215:12, 215:13, 251:19 Proves - 58:4 Provide - 72:4, 98:25, 99:7, 142:22, 235:19, 260:13, 263:17,</p>	<p>264:10, 264:25 Provided - 2:5, 16:4, 115:3 Provides - 5:1 Providing - 15:14, 169:15, 193:8, 198:16, 263:15 Province - 22:22, 57:1, 57:7, 103:18, 257:17 Provinces - 22:24 Prudence - 12:1 Prudent - 187:8, 198:17 Prudently - 216:4 PU - 270:14 PUB - 32:2, 33:2, 33:5, 48:6, 49:1, 74:16, 163:23, 164:2, 193:22, 193:23, 193:25, 194:2, 194:6, 228:3, 238:10, 246:10 Public - 7:1, 7:2, 50:3, 270:13 Pull - 112:21, 115:1, 115:9, 118:4, 127:5, 130:12, 141:23, 148:11 Pulp - 2:20 Purchase - 226:3, 263:12, 265:5 Purchased - 265:1 3 Purchases - 12:16, 59:3, 261:8, 261:12, 261:23 Purchasing - 261:1 Pursue - 264:7 Purview - 191:6, 243:3 Push - 218:12 Putting - 42:6, 42:12, 79:1, 183:2, 211:4, 214:18</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;"> Q </div> <p>Q2 - 248:6 Q3 - 252:15, 254:14, 255:3 Quality - 173:6 Quantum - 228:23 Quarter - 195:25, 248:22, 259:2, 259:6, 259:8, 270:14 Quarterly - 247:14 Quebec - 22:25 Questioning - 43:2 2, 263:21</p>
--	---	---	---	--

<p>Quick - 230:16 Quicker - 102:8</p> <p style="text-align: center;">R</p> <p>Raised - 7:7 Range - 41:1, 53:7, 73:7, 78:3, 88:14, 146:3, 193:13, 200:9, 204:10, 240:16 Rate - 3:1, 3:14, 6:7, 27:6, 27:14, 60:21, 79:1, 79:2, 148:21, 177:21, 179:10 Rates - 2:11, 107:22 Rather - 163:19 Re - 148:3, 266:21 Reached - 1:10, 1:16, 1:21, 2:14, 3:9 Reaching - 5:21, 110:21 Reads - 235:5 Ready - 7:22, 14:4, 252:4, 255:10, 255:12, 255:19, 255:21 Realized - 39:17 Reallocate - 161:17 Reallocating - 153:6 Reaping - 104:25 Reason - 65:9, 68:24, 112:20, 115:25, 117:8, 119:24, 123:9, 159:22, 200:21, 200:22, 239:19 Reasonable - 68:22 Reasoning - 252:9 Reasons - 180:5, 216:22, 217:7 Recapture - 256:5 Receive - 31:20, 83:3, 101:1 Received - 12:24, 32:17, 82:24 Receiving - 94:23 Recently - 1:16, 11:12, 211:10 Recharge - 160:4, 160:5, 161:1, 161:5, 161:22, 163:4, 205:18 Recognized - 141:12 Recollections - 78:</p>	<p>2 Recommendations - 100:17, 105:7 Recommended - 198:7 Reconcile - 131:16, 135:9, 140:5, 150:7 Reconciliation - 140:2, 140:7 Recovery - 157:18, 157:24, 158:3, 158:6, 249:8, 250:5 Recruitment - 57:24 Red - 126:4, 126:13, 154:10, 155:19, 190:9, 190:14 Reduce - 40:12, 46:6, 46:8, 51:17, 147:19, 208:7, 212:20, 217:14 Reduced - 34:25, 142:1, 142:3 Reducing - 35:24, 36:1, 75:17, 76:12 Reduction - 4:23, 33:20, 36:22, 37:18, 40:9, 40:20, 55:8, 92:3, 114:17, 114:22, 115:13, 115:14, 115:19, 116:21, 117:9, 117:10, 118:7, 148:7, 156:21, 158:14, 158:22, 191:10, 191:17, 192:20, 207:17, 208:5, 208:7, 210:5, 210:10, 210:14, 217:21, 220:20, 228:4, 228:14, 228:18 Reductions - 31:17, 31:18, 31:21, 33:4, 33:8, 33:25, 34:1, 36:25, 37:2, 37:20, 38:19, 151:12, 151:14 Referenced - 156:13, 261:23 References - 271:3 Reflect - 148:6, 148:20, 161:23 Reflected - 185:15, 188:9 Reflecting - 133:9 Reflection - 151:16 Reflective - 184:7,</p>	<p>197:10 Reflects - 4:19, 150:2 Regards - 20:17, 32:1, 80:9, 82:25, 83:7, 108:11, 151:15, 210:20, 218:7, 242:21, 261:22, 262:2 Regional - 10:21, 202:19 Regular - 36:19, 92:5, 95:21, 246:20 Regulated - 16:17, 16:18, 69:5, 164:16, 165:15, 165:19, 168:2, 196:4, 196:23 Regulation - 258:14, 258:15 Regulatory - 5:24, 7:20, 11:21, 218:10, 258:7 Relations - 202:15 Relationship - 198:13 Relatively - 244:24 Relay - 186:24 Relaying - 169:2 Relays - 213:18, 214:17, 215:10 Released - 51:10 Reliability - 39:24, 95:8, 95:16, 95:18, 120:13, 122:5, 166:4, 166:5, 168:10, 168:15, 168:19, 170:5, 170:12, 170:14, 171:4, 171:15, 179:3, 180:1, 217:16, 217:17, 248:13, 248:17 Reliable - 65:6, 216:16 Reliance - 51:17 Relied - 23:15 Relinquish - 17:12 Rely - 23:14 Remain - 123:20, 139:9, 190:5, 211:22 Remained - 205:6 Remaining - 107:24 Remarks - 1:4 Remove - 45:3 Renegotiated - 108:19 Renegotiation - 108:2</p>	<p>Renewals - 236:1, 236:11, 236:14 Renewed - 4:21 Reorganization - 164:15, 171:18, 195:6, 195:19, 196:10, 197:21, 198:7, 198:10 Repair - 22:17 Replaced - 7:21, 121:8, 121:12 Replacement - 87:25 Report - 1:20, 18:8, 22:2, 92:6, 96:8, 97:22, 101:9, 101:15, 109:12, 162:18, 246:15, 246:17, 247:15, 247:17, 247:19, 247:23, 248:3 Reported - 103:21 Reports - 19:11, 19:19, 21:16, 90:1, 91:3, 91:14, 91:15, 92:1, 92:23, 95:20, 95:23, 109:3, 109:10, 240:5, 246:14 Requested - 45:3, 270:25 Require - 47:4, 106:5, 106:7, 241:23, 242:1 Required - 38:14, 40:2, 43:12, 64:21, 88:8, 141:10, 152:17, 166:2, 178:19, 218:21, 252:14 Requirement - 4:15, 4:24 Requirements - 49:15, 234:7 Reserves - 266:19 Reside - 197:1 Resided - 166:17, 193:1 Residing - 172:5 Resign - 57:6 Resignation - 38:7 Resource - 12:14, 49:15, 49:23, 88:1, 93:16, 106:8, 132:13, 133:22, 243:17 Resourced - 136:4 Resources - 52:6, 161:17 Resourcing - 43:23</p>	<p>Respect - 2:7, 2:11, 2:14, 3:7, 3:9, 3:21, 3:23, 4:7, 5:5, 5:9, 21:8, 80:14, 83:3, 253:14, 255:4, 261:12 Response - 36:12, 93:24 Responsibilities - 15:18 Responsibility - 10:25, 12:12, 17:24, 197:23, 197:24, 199:23, 240:4, 240:21, 241:12 Responsible - 12:14, 14:21, 15:13, 16:2, 20:7, 22:22, 25:15, 31:2, 77:20, 112:1, 198:2, 198:12, 198:14, 241:11 Responsibly - 224:23 Restated - 195:10 Restricted - 7:3 Rests - 197:25 Result - 4:23, 36:19, 55:9, 57:10, 114:22, 152:2, 212:3, 221:1, 256:15 Resulted - 117:13, 197:8 Results - 83:6, 116:22 RESUME - 129:24 Retirement - 38:6 Retiring - 153:3 Revenue - 4:12, 4:15, 4:24, 234:7 Reviewed - 2:22, 82:15, 247:17 Reviewing - 64:16, 241:12 Reviews - 138:6 RFI - 193:18, 227:21, 234:25, 258:20 Rfis - 263:18 Rid - 187:18 Rights - 5:9 Rising - 126:16 River - 240:22 Road - 103:18, 104:11, 255:4 Role - 8:8, 10:23, 11:21, 12:4, 12:10, 13:23, 14:18, 15:25, 16:25, 17:4, 22:8, 22:20, 30:9,</p>
---	--	---	---	---

<p>30:19, 31:19, 31:24, 153:12, 167:25, 246:25, 247:1, 255:10 Roles - 13:15, 17:20, 25:19, 29:19, 31:1, 84:19, 153:9 Roll - 92:11, 104:3, 106:17, 107:19 Rolled - 43:3, 108:20, 108:25, 146:22 Rolls - 233:7, 233:22 Ron - 8:11, 9:25 Ron's - 138:12, 153:21, 200:24 Room - 53:14, 85:8, 103:22, 225:19 Rose - 10:11 Routine - 231:14 Ruled - 155:2 Ruling - 7:9 Run - 36:18, 196:17, 225:23 Runs - 268:14 Rural - 2:11</p>	<p>190:20, 219:3, 256:8 Saw - 11:11, 33:9, 66:25, 74:15, 248:11, 263:2 SCADA - 196:18, 255:14 Scale - 104:17, 155:17, 155:20, 190:18, 190:19 Scales - 156:14 Scenario - 3:24, 3:25, 4:5, 4:8, 6:10 Schedule - 17:25, 212:19 Scheduled - 254:9 Scheduling - 14:5 School - 10:11 Scope - 15:19 Scotia - 13:1, 13:3, 22:24 Scraps - 102:24 Scroll - 35:9, 35:11, 40:6, 40:10, 115:5, 164:8, 238:11 Scrutinized - 38:13 Search - 17:1 Season - 32:9, 268:4 Seat - 138:5 Seats - 179:13, 179:22 Second - 1:16, 5:22, 75:11, 80:3, 170:4, 195:25, 200:20, 253:11, 253:15 Seconds - 194:13 Sections - 3:22, 4:10 Seeing - 89:13, 180:6, 184:15, 213:2, 217:1, 242:10 Seeking - 43:20 Seen - 26:9, 28:11, 33:10, 33:12, 33:19, 48:25, 97:5, 98:16, 107:9, 160:2, 247:19, 248:9 Seize - 265:17 Self - 110:3 SEM - 234:3 Sending - 94:16 Senior - 36:20, 96:1 Sent - 215:2 Separate - 16:17, 135:15, 196:3</p>	<p>Separated - 164:16 Separation - 171:7 Series - 8:1, 264:8, 264:15 Serious - 94:21, 189:12 Seriously - 58:1, 94:24 Service - 2:15, 2:22, 2:23, 4:2, 4:6, 5:2, 6:8, 38:15, 160:15, 165:18, 168:2, 169:15, 210:14, 216:16, 250:22, 264:25 Servicing - 165:25 Session - 38:8, 81:5, 81:10, 83:8, 83:12, 84:6, 84:17, 122:7, 168:6, 168:21, 183:17, 189:9 Sessions - 89:21, 99:25, 150:1, 178:5, 178:18, 189:12 Set - 2:17, 3:22, 44:18, 77:19, 85:11, 86:1, 88:11, 90:14, 99:12, 102:18, 102:21, 241:20, 265:3 Sets - 4:14 Setting - 27:25, 111:4, 215:9 Settings - 169:13, 186:20, 186:25 Settled - 3:7, 5:3, 5:12 Settlement - 1:10, 2:18, 5:6, 5:17, 5:22, 7:11, 7:18, 86:10, 149:16, 184:16 Settlements - 89:2 0 Seven - 173:14, 197:11, 211:15, 216:13 Several - 14:7, 215:6, 261:19, 261:24 Shaded - 134:20 Shall - 9:3, 9:10, 9:16 Share - 218:20 Shared - 193:9 She'd - 81:24, 261:13 Sheet - 27:17 She's - 98:13</p>	<p>Shifted - 219:9 Shifting - 211:20, 243:11 Shorten - 6:1 Shortly - 12:9 Shouldn't - 139:12 Show - 69:20, 103:18, 104:11, 204:19 Showed - 33:19 Shows - 33:7, 74:16, 163:23, 194:6 Shut - 268:2, 268:9, 268:15 Shutting - 108:4, 108:6 Side - 10:17, 14:24, 61:3, 131:22, 140:6, 145:5, 153:17, 168:2, 233:10, 240:10 Signed - 2:3, 2:5, 7:11, 98:18 Significant - 20:23, 68:2, 81:6, 81:21, 104:15, 104:20, 104:23, 150:21, 155:15, 176:11, 191:17, 208:4, 226:11, 228:14 Significantly - 43:1 8 Similar - 15:18, 22:19, 131:22, 149:2, 226:15, 237:21, 237:23, 242:9, 242:13, 243:2 Similarly - 12:21, 15:4, 153:17 Single - 44:20, 47:1, 198:8 Sit - 38:11, 202:16 Site - 68:17, 212:21 Sitting - 201:24, 201:25, 247:16 Six - 150:8, 158:5, 173:14, 227:25, 268:10 Size - 149:1 Skillset - 58:4 Slightly - 120:2 Small - 10:11, 100:12, 104:22, 105:1, 244:24, 270:7 Smaller - 241:1 Software - 221:11, 223:21, 224:7, 224:8, 224:11,</p>	<p>224:12, 225:12, 225:23, 226:3, 244:3, 252:13 Soldier's - 245:5 Solicit - 102:16 Solicited - 102:17 Sorts - 12:17, 31:20, 148:2, 153:23, 156:15, 218:23, 219:10, 264:18 Sounding - 264:3, 264:19, 266:4 Source - 183:11, 262:8, 265:24 Sourcing - 262:15 South - 10:12 Specialized - 60:22 Specific - 111:12, 270:12 Spend - 13:5, 151:1, 214:11, 239:9, 244:4 Spending - 90:18 Spent - 43:14, 43:16, 216:4, 221:19 Spinning - 266:19 Spoken - 85:25 Sponsor - 98:11 Sponsored - 24:1 Spring - 133:24, 134:10, 134:11 Squeeze - 39:15 Squeezing - 44:21 St - 10:25, 11:9, 202:14, 211:16 Stabilizing - 151:2 Stable - 117:25, 118:6, 118:9, 126:24, 127:8, 151:6, 228:2 Staff - 11:17, 13:13, 53:8, 57:25, 99:12, 99:17, 103:8, 201:6, 202:10, 209:24, 216:8, 241:7, 245:8 Staffed - 245:23 Staffing - 93:23, 245:6 Staffs - 99:13 Stage - 1:5, 44:4, 100:21, 106:5, 246:7, 253:10 Stagnant - 231:15, 241:19 Stakeholders' - 25 9:19, 259:22 Stand - 6:15, 37:5, 61:12, 61:16,</p>
<p style="text-align: center;">S</p> <p>Sacrifice - 95:18 Safety - 10:16, 211:14, 212:22 Salaries - 82:8, 93:10, 93:12, 93:14, 112:16, 114:4, 124:25, 126:1, 126:4, 127:8, 135:5, 144:18, 145:21, 147:15, 147:17, 148:1, 162:25, 190:15, 197:9, 206:21, 207:5, 244:20 Salary - 81:11, 127:14, 131:15, 131:22, 135:3, 145:16, 146:10, 146:14, 146:20, 146:23, 147:20, 154:10, 155:11, 157:22, 157:23, 190:2, 190:9 Sat - 202:14 Save - 187:19 Saved - 107:25 Savings - 18:23, 34:3, 108:8, 108:15, 185:16,</p>				

<p>63:10, 135:16, 135:19, 255:11 Standards - 15:20, 120:13, 122:5, 161:15 Star - 238:23, 240:9 Start - 8:25, 10:3, 44:6, 45:9, 45:10, 114:12, 179:18, 256:19 Started - 13:2, 13:4, 42:20, 44:5, 44:18, 55:16, 64:3, 116:4, 137:23, 179:5 Starting - 8:6, 10:11, 43:21, 44:2, 108:7 Starts - 167:16 State - 8:4, 122:22 Statement - 39:1 Station - 22:16, 245:5 Stations - 14:25, 22:13, 196:19, 236:25 Status - 109:7, 250:10, 253:4, 253:14 Stay - 123:7, 126:23 Stayed - 55:6, 118:14, 119:1, 119:9, 123:10 Steady - 236:16 Step - 36:11, 39:20, 263:13 Steps - 261:24 Stick - 46:4, 237:15 Stop - 245:8 Storekeepers - 119:6, 132:6, 136:8, 140:21, 140:22, 141:1 Storm - 93:24 Storms - 93:24, 93:25, 94:2 Straight - 129:9, 145:19, 160:11 Straighten - 269:24 Street - 10:20 Strictly - 112:16 Strides - 80:15 Strike - 52:4, 95:11 Stripping - 43:19 Struck - 164:19 Structure - 29:10 Studies - 13:10 Study - 52:18,</p>	<p>55:12, 165:1, 183:13 Submarine - 14:15 Submittal - 11:24 Submitting - 103:10 Subscribe - 187:4 Subscribing - 218:6 Subsequent - 117:14 Success - 97:22 Successful - 44:15 Suggestions - 102:22 Summary - 5:13 Summertime - 5:25 Superintendent - 10:22, 11:4 Supervised - 11:16 Supervisor - 13:16, 13:17 Supervisors - 153:2, 153:5, 211:2 Supertime - 267:5 Supplemental - 1:10, 1:17, 7:18 Supplementals - 160:3 Suppliers - 264:8 Supply - 3:8, 3:13, 3:24, 3:25, 4:8, 6:9, 12:15, 50:3, 108:3, 245:6, 247:15 Support - 15:14, 186:7, 196:16, 196:21, 201:6, 202:9, 211:9, 223:22, 224:3 Suppose - 61:11 Surprised - 77:1 Surprises - 72:1 Surveys - 16:5 Suspect - 101:9 Sustain - 219:3 Sustainability - 209:5, 210:3, 210:21 Sustainable - 37:11, 37:22, 38:21, 39:10, 68:15, 102:3, 102:4, 178:16, 207:19, 210:24, 211:6, 211:19, 217:24, 218:15 Sustained - 32:5, 52:22, 68:13 Swear - 8:17, 8:22, 9:2, 9:15</p>	<p>Sweet - 5:25 SWORN - 9:24, 10:1 Swung - 36:15 System - 2:10, 3:11, 14:20, 22:15, 22:21, 61:18, 94:20, 167:2, 168:10, 168:15, 169:8, 169:9, 179:2, 179:4, 179:6, 179:25, 187:1, 193:1, 196:14, 196:16, 225:6, 225:18, 227:18, 227:23, 230:3, 231:18, 232:12, 233:2, 233:11, 234:22, 235:15, 236:3, 238:3, 257:17, 257:21, 257:23, 258:4, 260:15, 262:1, 262:11, 267:13 Systems - 14:16, 223:11, 225:11</p> <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: fit-content; margin: 10px auto;">T</div> <p>T&D - 22:11, 55:4, 116:23, 237:10 Table - 115:8, 135:21 Tackle - 110:5 Tagging - 14:5 Taking - 94:24, 115:7 Tangled - 131:25 Taproot - 169:20 Target - 34:7, 36:22, 84:10, 84:12, 84:15, 85:19, 85:23, 88:11, 110:3, 110:8, 110:20, 111:5, 250:19, 255:17 Targeted - 31:17, 31:18, 33:7, 33:20, 33:25, 34:1, 34:24, 37:1 Tariff - 14:11, 14:23, 258:21, 258:23, 258:25, 260:9, 270:9 Tariffs - 258:19 Tasked - 13:21 Team - 16:12, 16:22, 17:1, 20:20, 29:12, 51:9, 54:11, 54:24, 58:3, 83:2, 97:15, 97:17,</p>	<p>97:19, 97:25, 98:2, 98:7, 99:6, 99:11, 99:15, 99:21, 99:24, 100:2, 100:12, 100:18, 100:23, 101:3, 101:5, 102:10, 102:11, 102:21, 103:14, 103:20, 104:9, 104:10, 105:6, 109:4, 116:22, 165:4, 169:21, 169:25, 171:22, 217:5, 225:5, 244:4, 244:22, 268:25, 271:5 Teams - 20:18, 98:12 Technical - 8:2, 11:16, 11:22, 12:25, 15:24, 16:3, 87:24, 153:12, 165:3, 165:21, 167:17, 216:11 Technically - 264:9 Technicians - 215:14 Technology - 112:2, 116:25, 156:20, 167:3, 167:4, 174:15, 174:21, 175:8, 191:1, 191:5, 196:6, 197:25, 199:6, 205:24, 206:18, 213:19, 220:25, 234:24, 235:17, 236:4, 244:1, 244:16 Tells - 90:16 Template - 102:22 TEMPLETON - 7:24, 8:19, 9:23, 10:2, 12:19, 15:2, 15:6, 17:8 Templeton's - 17:19 Temporary - 247:7, 247:11 Ten - 13:14, 64:25, 166:15, 173:14, 189:10, 211:16, 240:17 Tendering - 50:4 Tens - 104:5, 104:7 Term - 37:1, 37:17, 38:1, 38:19, 39:5, 39:7, 54:17, 183:20, 218:19, 236:23, 245:6,</p>	<p>245:19, 245:25, 264:11, 266:13, 266:15, 266:16 Terminal - 14:25, 22:13, 22:16, 245:5 Terminology - 264:1 Terry - 8:14, 9:24, 84:22 Testimony - 36:15, 98:1 Testing - 251:18 That'll - 187:19, 208:24 Theory - 138:12, 141:11 Therefore - 128:24, 134:20, 136:6 Thermal - 12:12, 14:9, 19:12, 64:16, 121:7 These - 4:21, 7:6, 17:11, 36:13, 36:25, 57:23, 69:4, 91:14, 91:15, 100:6, 105:24, 107:8, 112:11, 112:12, 112:15, 135:15, 166:12, 176:24, 178:7, 178:19, 179:15, 181:24, 184:19, 186:6, 217:7, 223:8, 224:8, 224:9, 224:14, 225:5, 225:12, 231:12, 236:11, 263:20, 269:1, 271:6 They'd - 51:9 They're - 5:24, 19:12, 60:17, 60:25, 62:16, 84:20, 96:9, 102:24, 103:6, 103:7, 103:24, 111:16, 137:6, 142:6, 147:2, 168:17, 169:16, 184:6, 185:13, 193:16, 193:22, 198:14, 205:17, 216:10, 216:13, 216:14, 216:15, 216:17, 236:18, 256:24, 262:14, 263:14 They've - 101:14, 103:17, 109:7 Third - 118:23, 137:21, 224:4 Thirty - 257:9</p>
--	--	--	---	--

<p>Thorough - 169:20 Thousand - 126:25 , 135:5, 158:6 Thousands - 104:6 , 104:7 Three - 4:21, 19:11, 111:21, 118:23, 119:3, 133:21, 133:23, 135:10, 135:22, 136:22, 137:2, 137:20, 138:20, 139:7, 139:8, 149:6, 150:17, 153:1, 169:1, 173:13, 181:2, 206:22, 219:19, 238:14, 239:9 Thrown - 95:15, 114:8 Throws - 132:15 Thus - 261:21 Tick - 264:16 Tie - 129:13 Timeline - 100:25, 101:8 Timelines - 76:6 Times - 52:7, 94:2, 211:16, 212:25, 214:12, 215:6, 267:2, 267:7 Timing - 60:2, 60:3, 108:18, 109:1, 132:25, 133:4, 133:8, 133:19, 270:12 Titles - 142:11 TL - 160:14, 178:12 TL267 - 186:19 Today - 16:21, 16:25, 17:4, 20:3, 35:8, 103:10, 105:22, 179:7, 180:16, 218:25, 266:16, 267:1, 269:22, 270:6 Tolerable - 67:23, 68:9 Tomorrow - 105:22 , 263:5, 267:11, 269:3 Took - 11:9, 11:19, 14:18, 15:24, 41:19, 189:9, 196:13, 198:2, 198:4, 202:17, 202:23 Tool - 90:16 Top - 167:1, 190:17, 269:7 Topic - 256:20</p>	<p>Total - 113:25, 117:2, 220:19, 220:21, 257:6 Touch - 207:14 Touched - 107:13, 107:14, 156:23 Tough - 94:7, 210:13 Toward - 77:3 Towards - 39:16, 77:7, 83:4, 110:21 Track - 90:17, 169:24, 249:10 Tracked - 169:7 Tracking - 169:8, 169:15, 225:10 Trade - 11:16 Trading - 153:25 Traditionally - 181:6 Train - 53:2, 53:4, 68:16, 215:11, 215:15 Trained - 15:12, 182:23, 216:10, 216:14, 216:24 Training - 35:21, 37:9, 90:19, 213:10, 213:11, 213:15, 213:21, 213:24, 214:2, 214:4, 214:14, 214:15, 215:1, 215:3, 215:17, 215:19, 216:24, 217:11, 217:18, 217:20, 217:22, 217:24, 218:2, 218:7, 218:8, 218:10, 218:13, 218:16, 219:15, 255:15 Transactions - 23:1, 263:15 Transfer - 125:1, 136:15, 166:2, 172:13, 192:5, 192:10, 251:21, 252:21, 257:5 Transferred - 120:10, 163:25, 166:16, 167:21, 172:10, 174:12, 179:12, 179:24, 192:3, 195:21, 207:4, 244:17, 253:21 Transfers - 171:16, 195:16 Transition - 25:16, 248:4, 248:21, 250:11</p>	<p>Transitioned - 141:7, 195:4 Translates - 138:4 Transmission - 8:1 1, 13:17, 14:11, 14:22, 15:9, 15:10, 15:12, 15:13, 15:15, 16:9, 16:14, 21:9, 22:15, 23:5, 23:13, 23:21, 25:16, 101:18, 114:14, 116:14, 174:13, 192:3, 192:10, 195:4, 224:3, 224:6, 249:21, 258:23, 258:25, 259:25, 260:1, 260:2, 260:8, 260:9, 262:12, 270:9 Transpiring - 6:25 Travel - 35:24, 37:5, 207:14, 207:17, 207:22, 208:7, 208:21, 209:6, 209:16, 209:17, 209:19, 209:25, 210:5, 210:14, 210:23, 211:21, 212:3, 212:6, 212:14, 212:20 Trending - 80:18, 80:20 Trim - 44:3 Trimming - 44:10 Trips - 209:23 TRO - 195:11, 201:22, 201:24, 202:12, 202:22 Truly - 219:1 Truth - 9:3, 9:4, 9:10, 9:11, 9:17, 9:18 Turbine - 136:4, 232:6, 232:17, 263:4, 265:21, 266:21 Turbines - 11:7, 12:13, 151:13, 262:25, 263:13 Turn - 8:18, 111:18, 264:13 Turned - 76:16, 79:12, 226:15 Turnover - 150:21, 151:7 Two - 13:5, 14:14, 14:15, 23:1, 92:20, 100:7, 108:1, 118:21, 120:16,</p>	<p>127:17, 136:7, 136:21, 141:5, 145:5, 148:20, 153:5, 166:5, 167:12, 168:15, 168:22, 168:25, 170:3, 170:8, 170:10, 173:11, 173:13, 174:3, 177:7, 179:2, 179:25, 194:13, 201:6, 203:25, 209:21, 209:23, 215:8, 217:18, 235:22, 236:15, 239:9, 240:20, 254:16, 264:14 Types - 20:8 <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: 100px; margin: 10px auto;">U</div> Ultimate - 267:19 Uncertainty - 150:25 Underground - 10:20 Underneath - 103:8, 113:21 Understood - 73:2 2, 97:25, 199:10, 246:19, 252:3, 252:23 Undertake - 75:3, 150:1, 218:11 Undertaking - 11:1 2, 12:17, 24:12, 26:1, 26:9, 69:1, 69:3, 72:3, 72:15, 74:12, 75:7, 98:24, 111:20, 115:2, 115:4, 115:8, 115:11, 118:4, 120:24, 123:4, 123:24, 127:6, 129:18, 130:12, 134:15, 140:15, 141:23, 142:22, 143:23, 143:24, 148:12, 158:15, 163:6, 174:6, 176:10, 191:16, 204:19, 204:25, 208:22, 227:2, 227:12, 229:16, 238:6 Undertakings - 26 9:22, 270:6 Underway - 32:7 Underwent - 32:4 Unfilled - 151:17 Unfortunately - 13 6:12, 142:6, 240:13</p>	<p>Unit - 254:19, 254:21, 268:3 Units - 108:4, 108:7, 254:17, 268:10, 268:16 University - 12:25 Unless - 265:22 Unregulated - 164:17, 196:4 Unsustainable - 21 8:3 Update - 115:11, 147:13, 162:18, 250:12 Updated - 109:7, 115:8, 122:25, 123:1, 208:22, 227:3 Upstate - 13:20 Used - 6:10 Using - 104:18, 108:4, 108:5, 128:16, 169:20, 221:11, 225:25, 245:9 Utilities - 7:1, 7:2, 57:1 Utility - 37:13, 165:15, 182:25, 196:24 <div style="border: 1px solid black; text-align: center; width: 100px; margin: 10px auto;">V</div> Vacancies - 143:16 , 149:17, 178:3, 178:15, 179:8, 181:11 Vacancy - 44:9, 44:24, 45:12, 81:8, 83:25, 84:1, 84:9, 84:23, 85:25, 87:10, 87:23, 148:21, 149:17, 159:1, 177:21, 179:10, 179:14, 181:4, 181:10, 181:21, 182:5 Vacant - 38:13, 118:23, 184:25 Valuated - 87:24 Variance - 3:13, 33:7, 34:6, 70:5, 80:1 Variation - 241:18 Variations - 33:12, 33:15 Vegetation - 228:5, 228:8, 228:18, 229:17, 229:21 Venture - 148:3 Verbal - 28:23, 29:2</p>
---	--	--	--	---

<p>Verbiage - 35:17 Versa - 101:18 Versus - 16:18, 34:24, 57:14, 74:17, 81:1, 87:25, 128:12, 135:6, 144:14, 152:16, 158:7, 175:25, 186:1, 217:13, 247:1 Veto - 267:19 Vice - 8:11, 14:19, 16:8, 16:13, 16:24, 17:3, 17:5, 24:22, 25:4, 98:12, 101:18, 165:5, 177:23 Vigorously - 90:18 Visits - 68:17, 211:1, 212:21 Volume - 17:22 VP - 8:8, 8:14, 12:10, 18:2, 21:9, 165:7, 165:8</p>	<p>147:14, 159:2, 162:17, 164:9, 177:24, 209:3, 238:6, 263:9, 269:6, 269:23, 270:19, 271:16 Weren't - 114:16, 168:13, 178:7, 180:4, 183:14, 235:24 West - 10:12 Western - 186:22, 187:1 We've - 7:6, 7:11, 22:20, 26:24, 28:11, 31:15, 39:13, 48:25, 50:9, 64:23, 68:14, 77:7, 86:10, 89:21, 94:21, 97:5, 109:6, 130:8, 136:5, 136:8, 141:12, 141:19, 151:1, 181:6, 211:4, 211:17, 213:23, 214:4, 214:16, 215:5, 215:6, 220:11, 229:6, 246:10, 262:17, 263:12, 265:20, 267:3, 268:15 What's - 6:24, 34:24, 40:2, 85:17, 93:6, 103:23, 124:12, 146:19, 155:10, 192:21, 200:15, 231:17, 251:23, 253:4, 253:13, 253:20, 266:6, 268:7, 269:16, 270:20 Whereby - 7:2 Whole - 9:4, 9:11, 9:17, 104:7, 140:24, 141:1, 147:8, 150:2, 240:12 Wholesale - 3:1 Wholly - 243:9 Who's - 155:16 WILIAMS - 109:20 WILLAIMS - 130:18 WILLIAMAS - 90:8 Williams' - 118:13, 217:3 Winter - 265:20 Wires - 10:18, 14:24, 22:12 Wish - 6:20 Wishes - 5:15 Witness - 7:22</p>	<p>Witnesses - 8:2, 8:17, 17:11 Witnessing - 151:9 Won't - 1:23, 71:11, 81:18, 102:23, 187:24 Word - 102:4, 264:2 Words - 81:22 Worked - 13:14, 42:22, 43:24, 77:7, 116:4, 169:7 Workers - 201:24 Workforce - 151:3, 151:5 Working - 10:21, 13:5, 13:21, 77:3, 83:4, 83:10, 89:22, 154:25, 170:6, 196:11, 202:11, 216:20, 243:3 Workload - 169:23 Works - 42:25, 147:1 World - 13:25, 186:17, 196:14 Worse - 237:13 Wouldn't - 19:2, 41:14, 41:22, 54:4, 115:20, 116:12, 138:19, 145:2, 148:2, 148:23, 151:10, 151:13, 184:13, 185:15, 190:19, 205:7, 217:24, 228:17, 230:1, 234:1, 256:8, 265:17, 265:22 Write - 214:21 Written - 28:12, 29:1, 98:1, 98:6, 102:24, 109:10, 266:8</p>	<p>181:7, 211:12, 216:13, 219:20, 230:6, 231:5, 236:16, 242:9, 246:1, 246:4 York - 13:20 You'd - 82:21, 88:12, 88:14, 92:12, 185:16, 207:5, 242:15 You'll - 35:15, 57:13, 83:5, 197:9, 223:9 Young - 5:15, 5:18, 7:19, 74:7, 74:11, 74:19, 74:23, 75:2, 208:23, 216:9, 269:5, 269:20, 271:13 You're - 18:2, 21:9, 24:21, 24:23, 28:25, 43:9, 44:10, 45:2, 48:14, 59:1, 62:6, 62:10, 63:7, 69:8, 77:9, 77:20, 89:25, 90:17, 90:18, 90:19, 90:22, 90:24, 92:10, 94:1, 115:7, 117:23, 124:3, 135:15, 135:22, 137:15, 145:21, 147:8, 150:8, 166:21, 175:4, 176:1, 180:6, 183:10, 194:19, 215:21, 217:17, 242:10, 266:5 Yours - 205:8 You've - 18:3, 21:16, 46:3, 77:19, 87:2, 88:11, 91:15, 91:25, 97:9, 135:1, 136:19, 136:21, 137:10, 139:22, 144:9, 167:12, 170:14, 180:13, 181:21, 185:11, 188:18, 189:16, 192:20, 196:5, 207:4, 265:6</p>	<p>158:7, 158:25, 180:5, 192:21 '16 - 24:25, 36:4, 36:6, 36:12, 37:24, 64:13, 66:11, 66:15, 66:17, 70:25, 71:5, 71:16, 73:18, 135:6, 135:7, 136:5, 136:6, 146:5, 146:8, 151:16, 157:13, 157:17, 158:7, 158:25, 159:2, 162:9, 165:12, 167:25, 175:5, 177:14, 178:3, 178:12, 178:24, 179:23, 180:6, 183:3, 192:22, 195:2, 198:22, 215:19, 228:4, 235:18 '16/17 - 145:24 '17 - 37:22, 40:1, 52:7, 64:12, 64:22, 71:16, 73:22, 80:11, 81:13, 81:15, 131:21, 131:22, 135:6, 135:7, 145:3, 146:8, 160:10, 160:12, 168:17, 168:20, 169:22, 177:12, 178:12, 178:24, 178:25, 179:10, 179:22, 182:19, 183:3, 195:18, 197:12, 198:21, 199:2, 201:4, 205:10, 205:19, 215:20, 244:17, 244:18 '18 - 36:17, 37:22, 40:1, 65:16, 80:9, 86:13, 124:17, 125:4, 168:18, 177:12, 180:9, 206:20, 206:22, 215:20, 223:23 '19 - 36:17, 37:23, 40:2, 65:16, 124:18, 125:4, 148:7, 154:4, 155:23, 168:18, 206:22, 223:23, 246:1 '87 - 214:19</p>
<p style="text-align: center;">W</p>				
<p>Wait - 43:2, 69:10, 173:4, 230:9 Walk - 187:7 Warranty - 237:4 Wasn't - 81:23, 100:4, 162:6, 178:15, 210:10 Watching - 217:1 Water - 10:20, 244:2, 244:5 Ways - 44:3, 45:15, 106:23 Web - 270:14 We'd - 43:15, 76:6, 84:5, 88:20, 219:11, 271:8 Week - 6:6, 6:12, 137:23, 178:14, 181:2, 181:3, 239:10, 266:14, 268:3, 268:15 Weekends - 94:5 Weekly - 92:20, 267:25 Weeks - 183:6, 268:11 Welcome - 1:3, 58:15, 58:19, 58:23 We'll - 8:17, 8:25, 21:15, 24:18, 26:9, 35:15, 75:3, 75:7, 101:11, 101:12, 101:13, 108:5, 108:6, 120:24, 123:24, 140:15,</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;">Y</p>				
<p>Years - 11:16, 11:19, 13:5, 13:14, 14:7, 21:2, 64:22, 65:21, 88:13, 88:25, 89:13, 94:17, 100:7, 100:8, 105:20, 107:24, 109:17, 118:7, 121:18, 121:19, 124:4, 124:7, 125:4, 125:8, 127:17, 128:9, 135:25, 148:20, 151:10, 165:20, 178:11,</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;">Z</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;">Zero - 126:18</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;">.</p>				
<p>'13 - 43:13, 151:16 '14 - 43:14 '15 - 36:6, 36:7, 36:8, 43:14, 94:18,</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;">\$</p>				
<p>\$150,000 - 224:5 \$162,000 - 236:2</p>				

<p>\$200,000.00 - 162:10 \$210,000 - 235:25 \$300,000.00 - 138:9, 138:13 \$372,000 - 235:19, 235:22 \$600,000.00 - 4:23 \$620,000 - 221:15 \$800,000.00 - 135:7</p> <p style="text-align: center;">1</p> <p>1.15 - 157:13, 162:9 1.2 - 144:8, 203:25 1.3 - 127:18, 159:18, 176:1, 268:14 1.354 - 162:4, 162:10 1.4 - 130:10, 162:4, 175:15, 176:1, 188:24 1:00 - 234:20 1:04 - 237:24 1:15 - 252:10 1:30 - 267:22, 268:19 1:34 - 271:18 10 - 50:14, 165:22, 166:1, 166:3, 166:20, 166:21, 170:7, 171:16, 172:9, 173:9, 179:1, 179:24 10:00 - 55:23 10:09 - 72:7 10:15 - 82:1 10:26 - 99:1 10:45 - 117:6 10:49 - 120:25 10:51 - 123:5 10:52 - 124:1 10:58 - 129:23 100 - 51:24, 114:24, 196:20 103 - 181:9, 181:19, 182:5 11 - 53:16, 53:17, 53:19, 55:20, 56:9, 84:23, 115:12, 127:7, 173:2, 183:22, 185:4, 185:8, 185:11, 185:14, 186:6, 187:17 11:00 - 129:22 11:30 - 129:24 11:40 - 140:16 11:43 - 143:25</p>	<p>11:45 - 147:21 118 - 78:10 118.5 - 238:22 12 - 111:17, 111:22, 113:25, 117:22, 122:16, 123:1, 143:20, 156:3, 159:13, 164:14, 175:19, 176:12, 176:16, 179:11, 188:17, 188:19, 189:4 12:00 - 163:11 12:15 - 180:11 12:30 - 197:4 12:40 - 208:18 12:45 - 213:13 12:57 - 227:13 12:58 - 229:13 123 - 40:12, 92:2 124 - 40:13, 67:1 13 - 70:5, 159:18, 194:10 130 - 79:12, 79:15, 81:1, 92:4 132 - 91:24 134 - 73:6, 78:13 136 - 48:6, 49:1 138 - 73:15, 79:13, 257:23 138-139 - 78:3 139 - 67:5, 67:10, 67:13, 70:3, 73:15, 78:5, 79:14 14 - 3:22, 4:10 142 - 79:15 15 - 50:14, 116:3, 118:8, 119:4, 123:8, 123:15, 186:3, 191:18, 192:20, 198:22, 263:1 153 - 41:1, 41:10, 69:7, 70:4, 75:16, 77:13 154 - 36:9 16 - 115:19, 116:4, 117:3 17 - 178:3 173 - 207:8 180 - 235:5, 235:6 19 - 3:22, 4:10, 26:18, 233:25 195 - 221:5 1987 - 12:25, 15:7 1990 - 13:11 1998 - 10:9 1st - 45:14, 105:25, 179:18, 195:19, 197:13, 252:4, 255:20</p>	<p style="text-align: center;">2</p> <p>2.4 - 175:20 2.7 - 175:24 20 - 198:21 200 - 53:7, 105:24 200,000 - 128:7 2000 - 13:14, 13:24 2009 - 15:16 2011 - 11:9 2013 - 12:2, 15:22 2014 - 12:3 2015 - 12:3, 16:11, 39:10, 41:1, 68:8, 76:17, 91:10, 91:24, 114:18, 115:13, 116:13, 126:23, 127:6, 136:1, 156:21, 157:5, 191:11, 192:9, 192:24, 193:2, 193:6, 198:19, 208:4, 220:20, 227:24 2016/2017 - 174:19 2016's - 64:7 2018-2019 - 21:2 2019 - 2:24, 24:2, 26:3, 42:4, 109:17, 117:24, 124:3, 124:7, 125:8, 125:21, 147:17, 148:15, 151:22, 155:5, 156:2, 156:5, 185:14, 185:16, 189:16, 190:8, 190:10, 200:15, 206:3, 209:7, 221:20, 236:10, 237:20, 246:2, 253:17, 254:14, 255:3 207 - 137:10 210 - 130:21, 132:18, 132:22, 135:1, 148:14, 150:7, 151:23 2107 - 131:5 2108 - 125:10, 149:19 216 - 148:14, 148:19 22 - 4:18, 146:1 225 - 252:21, 252:25, 253:22, 254:1 22nd - 4:2 23 - 246:10 266 - 178:13 267 - 160:14, 169:11, 178:12 27 - 111:20, 115:2,</p>	<p>115:4, 115:7, 115:9, 115:11, 117:23, 118:5, 124:4, 127:6, 130:12, 146:2, 148:12, 158:15, 163:6, 174:6, 176:10, 191:16 28 - 111:20, 115:6, 115:9, 141:23, 198:20, 206:4, 238:10 29th - 251:13</p> <p style="text-align: center;">3</p> <p>3,000 - 188:22 3.3 - 114:17, 115:20, 117:10 3.8 - 191:15, 191:23 30 - 100:7, 194:2, 194:6, 267:9 300 - 53:8 300,000 - 156:5 30th - 251:13 321 - 119:21 329 - 119:23 33 - 163:23, 164:3, 193:22, 194:4 334 - 119:15 336 - 115:15 340 - 187:12 35 - 100:7, 232:15 352 - 115:14 39 - 78:10, 227:20, 234:14</p> <p style="text-align: center;">4</p> <p>4.1 - 6:25 4.6 - 181:11 40 - 86:1, 88:11, 88:14, 89:14, 177:22, 184:16 41 - 79:24, 193:12 42 - 193:12 427 - 235:17, 236:3 43 - 79:25, 80:10, 80:11 45 - 251:25, 252:18</p> <p style="text-align: center;">5</p> <p>50 - 13:22, 86:13, 240:18 500 - 103:5 54 - 32:2, 33:2, 33:5, 35:11, 193:25, 228:3 55 - 86:11, 86:13, 87:12, 89:16, 89:17, 89:20, 89:22, 148:21,</p>	<p>149:3, 149:17, 177:25, 184:17 57 - 191:18, 192:20, 195:1</p> <p style="text-align: center;">6</p> <p>60 - 86:5, 86:8, 88:12, 240:18 61 - 85:21 64,481 - 113:19, 114:2 69 - 207:15, 257:24</p> <p style="text-align: center;">7</p> <p>70 - 88:24, 240:18 72 - 220:16, 227:2 77 - 113:25 78 - 158:20 799 - 235:18, 236:4, 236:6</p> <p style="text-align: center;">8</p> <p>80 - 90:20, 155:18 800,000 - 127:17, 131:16, 135:3, 156:22, 157:5 800,000.00 - 145:20 82 - 158:20</p> <p style="text-align: center;">9</p> <p>9:15 - 1:1 9:30 - 17:7 9:37 - 24:16 9:45 - 33:22 91 - 181:8 98 - 176:12, 180:14, 181:12, 188:8, 188:9 98.2 - 181:13 9th - 270:15</p>
---	---	---	--	--